

The Bulletin of the European Communities gives details every month (eleven numbers per year) of the activities of the Commission and of the other Community institutions. It is edited by the Secretariat of the Commission of the European Communities (rue de la Loi 200, 1049 Brussels) in the official languages of the Community and also in Spanish.

Reproduction of the text is authorized on the condition that the source is indicated.

In order to facilitate consultation of the Bulletin in the different language editions, the texts are numbered according to the following system: the first figure indicates the part, the second the chapter and the last two indicate the different points in the chapters. Quotations should be presented, therefore, in the following manner: Bull. EC 1-1975, point 2108.

The Supplements are published separately as annexes to the Bulletin. They include the official texts of the Commission (communications of the Council, reports, proposals) of the documents published under the double responsibility of the Council and of the Commission. The Supplements are not published in Spanish.

BULLETIN OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

European Coal and Steel Community European Economic Community European Atomic Energy Community

Commission of the European Communities General Secretariat Brussels

contents

1st PART EVENTS AND STUDIES

Seventh Special Session of the General Assembly	. 6
2. Annual meeting of the International Monetary Fund	. 23
2ND PART ACTIVITIES IN SEPTEMBER 1975	
1. Functioning of the common market	. 32
— Customs union	. 32
— Internal common market	. 32
— Competition policy	. 33
— Fiscal policy and financial institutions	. 34
2. Economic and monetary union	. 3!
- Economic, monetary and financial policy	. 35
- Regional policy	. 36
— Social policy	. 37
— Agricultural policy	. 40
— Industrial and technological policy	. 44
Science, research and development, education, scientif and technical information	ic . 47
— Energy policy	. 50
— Transport policy	. 52

3. External relations	F
— Multilateral negotiations	j
— Commercial policy	
— Development and cooperation	j
— Commodities and world agreements	
— International organizations	
— Mediterranean countries	
— African, Caribbean and Pacific countries 61	
— Non-member countries 62	,
— Diplomatic relations of the Communities 65	ı
4. Institutions and organs of the Communities 65	j
— European Parliament	,
— Council	
— Commission	
— Court of Justice	į
— Economic and Social Committee	
— ECSC Consultative Committee	i
— European Investment Bank 87	
— Financing Community activities	;
5. Institutional questions — European policy 95	ŀ
3RD PART DOCUMENTATION	
Action programme for taxation	ı
Publications of the European Communities	

.

3

Supplements 1975

Special Supplements:

Directory of the Commission of the European Communities (April 1975)

Directory of the Commission of the European Communities (September 1975)

- 1/75 The Community's supplies of raw materials
- 2/75 Stocktaking of the common agricultural policy
- 3/75 Community measures for the approximation of laws (1972-1974)
- 4/75 Statute for European companies (amended proposal for a regulation)
- 5/75 Report on European Union
- 6/75 Development and raw materials -- Problems of the moment
- 7/75 Towards European citizenship
- * 8/75 Employee participation and company structure in the European Community
- * 9/75 Reports on European Union (European Parliament, Court of Justice, Economic and Social Committee)
- *10/75 Harmonization of systems of company taxation

^{*} In preparation.



1. United Nations: Development and economic cooperation

United Nations

Seventh Special Session of the General Assembly

1101. The Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly, held in New York from 1 to 16 September, was a major event for the Community in two respects.

First, the session centred on the problem of development and international economic cooperation, to the solution of which the Community, 'open to the world', endeavoured to make its own contribution.' Second, taking advantage of the status of observer conferred on it on 11 October 1974,² the Community was able to take part as such in the work of the General Assembly. Its viewpoint was officially presented in writing in a 'statement of position' laid before the Assembly,³ and by Mr Mariano Rumor, President-in-Office of the Council of the Communities, in an address to the full assembly.

Proceedings and results of the session

1102. The Community, whose delegation consisted of representatives of Italy's Presidency of the Council and representatives of the Commission, took an active part in the proceedings of the Assembly, in both the plenary session and the informal discussions, which led to the final Resolution adopted by agreement, i.e. without a vote.

The Community's overall position and its approach to the problems of the third world testify to the Community's open-mindedness and willingness to conceive a consistent package of action on the various facets of the problems of raw materials, industrialization, agriculture and transfer of resources for the benefit of the developing countries.

During the discussions, mostly in informal groups, on the draft of the final Resolution, the

Community by its moderate outlook and the weight of its cohesion, was able to steer the debates in a positive direction.

Based on the Council deliberations of 22 and 23 July and sustained throughout by intensive coordination, in which all Member States' delegations consistently strove to reach common stances on all matters under discussion, its unity was apparent to all.

All the discussions reflected a spirit of conciliation and a desire for compromise on the part of all present, which contrasted sharply with the atmosphere of confrontation which had permeated certain earlier debates, in particular the Sixth Special Session of the General Assembly in April 1974.4

The prospect of renewing the 'producer-consumer dialogue' (and other efforts over several months to improve communication and mutual understanding between the industrialized and third world countries) was clearly a decisive factor in relieving tension, and the spirit of conciliation shown by most of the delegations attested to their determination to exploit the avenues for renewing the dialogue.

The final Resolution, adopted by consensus (via some interpretive statements, including the one on behalf of the Community by the Italian representative, which took up the specific reservations of certain Member States which did not intervene individually) therefore reveals, over and above a resolve to develop general concepts concerning relations between industrialized and

¹ Bull. EC 5-1975, points 1401 to 1406, 6-1975, points 1301 to 1309 and Supplement 6/75 — Bull.

³ Point 1103.

⁴ Bull. EC 4-1974, point 2316 and 5-1975, points 1301 to 1303.

⁵ Point 1104.

developing countries, a concern to give a pragmatic slant to the work of the various institutions in the United Nations family and to give them fresh impetus.

Documentary annex

The Community's statement of position

- 1103. The position paper of the Community distributed at the meeting reads as follows:
- 1. Within the Community, the whole complex of problems concerning relations between industrialized countries and developing countries has in recents months been receiving closer attention than in the past and, in particular, the last meeting of the Heads of Government of the Member States of the Community discussed these questions with a view to giving the political impulse necessary for taking up the dialogue.
- 2. The Governments of the Member States and the Community authorities attach great political importance to this Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly, as evidenced by the statement concerning the United Nations solemnly adopted by the European Council.
- 3. The goal to be pursued is the attainment of real progress towards a better balanced and more equitable structure of international economic relations, including a strengthening of the position of the developing countries.
- 4. Proposals must cover a balanced package of subjects to meet the most important needs of the developing countries and afford genuine opportunities for progress in the near future. With this end in view, measures are proposed notably in the sphere of raw materials and development cooperation.

- 5. The implementation of the various proposals must take into particular consideration the problems of the poorest developing countries, for which specific measures or special arrangements would be planned.
- 6. The economic and commercial consequences of the measures envisaged should be evenly shared by all the industrialized countries.
- 7. Any financial costs resulting from certain projected measures should be share among all the parties with adequate resources. In addition, certain international financial institutions could share in these costs, particularly by adapting and improving some of their present machinery.

I. International trade

A. Raw materials

Overall approach

- 8. In view of the importance of trade in raw materials for a great number of developing countries for the implementation of their development plans, the Community and its Member States are well aware of the cardinal importance of the examination of this problem for the further discussions.
- 9. The Community has concentrated on studying these problems in depth during the last few months and has concluded that new guidelines should be outlined by the Special Session in the field of raw materials, taking account of the work already undertaken on this subject within UNCTAD. This work should be accelerated in order to reach agreement, if possible in UNCTAD IV, on an overall approach in the field of raw materials which constitute a major pro-

7

portion of the export earnings of developing countries, in order to:

- encourage their economic development through the stability of their export earnings from raw materials and through increasing their foreign currency earnings, in particular by the diversification of their production and by the processing of raw materials;
- achieve prices which are fair for consumers and remunerative for producers and to encourage a long term equilibrium between expanding production and increasing consumption;
- provide special treatment for the poorest producers;
- create more outlets for producing countries and more stable supplies for consumer countries. The application of these principles will be assisted by a steady and balanced growth in international trade;
- achieve adequate investment levels in the commodities-producing sectors.
- 10. This approach would comprise a series of complementary measures which constitute an entity in the following fields:
- measures to limit excessive price fluctuations;
- stabilization of export earnings;
- production and supply;
- information and consultation;
- trade cooperation;
- industrial cooperation.

Proposed action

11. Measures to limit price fluctuations—With regard to the price of raw materials, it is in the interest of everyone, and in particular the producer developing countries, to avoid excessive fluctuations and to find levels which are fair for

consumers and remunerative for producers, encouraging a long-term balance between expanding production and increasing consumption. The Community is thus prepared to examine which products create difficulties for the developing countries and to examine instruments and means of solving these difficulties. The instruments (e.g. commodity agreements) may cover a very wide range and may, where necessary, be combined. A choice cannot be made without considering specific cases. The implementation of such solutions should also promote stability of supplies.

- 12. International action on the stabilization of export earnings—The Community recognizes with regard to export earnings the seriousness of the problems created by the instability of the earnings of developing countries which export raw materials. In order to tackle these problems—and bearing in mind the specific action agreed under the Lomé Convention—the Community and its Member States undertake to promote and participate in international action with the aim of:
- improving the compensatory financing, mechanisms of the International Monetary Fund for developing countries which produce raw materials;
- implementing specific measures for the benefit of the poorest developing countries, to be applicable in the event of a fall in export earnings from their products, the detailed implementing rules being adjusted to the general financial situation of the countries in question.
- 13. Production and supply—Conditions should be sought at international level to facilitate the production and supply of raw materials in a spirit of cooperation.
- 14. Information and consultation—Action should be taken to improve information and consultation on the supply and demand situation

8

United Nations

United Nations

- 15. Trade cooperation—In the context of the general proposals referred to in part B of this section, a special effort should be made to improve access to the markets of industrialized countries for raw materials and products of first-stage processing from developing countries.
- 16. Industrial cooperation—In the context of the general proposals referred to in Section III of this paper, a special effort should be made to promote exploitation and on-the-spot processing of raw materials under economically viable conditions.
- B. Other aspects of trade cooperation
- 17. The Community will make a constructive contribution to the international discussions in order substantially to improve the conditions of access to markets for primary and processed products of interest to the developing countries.
- 18. As regards the multilateral trade negotiations, the provisions adopted in the Tokyo Declaration on developing countries continue to guide the Community and are gradually being implemented within the context of the GATT. In this respect provision is made for:
- priority treatment (tariff and non-tariff) for tropical products;
- a joint quest for appropriate tariff solutions on the basis of the general formula to be worked out in the negotiations for adapting the size of tariff reductions, or graduating them, to suit the specific needs of the developing countries;
- special arrangements for implementing any solutions adopted in respect of non-tariff barriers.
- 19. In parallel with this, the Community' has demonstrated its willingness to improve its system of generalized preferences continuously and

- progressively, and feels that a further period of application beyond 1980 will be necessary.
- 20. The improvement of the generalized preferences system and the results of the multilateral negotiations should lead to decreased protection of added value for products of first-stage processing.
- 21. Improved access to markets for the exports of the developing countries should be complemented by stronger action in the field of trade promotion.
- 22. Equitable solutions should be sought to the problems of export restrictions.
- II. Transfer of real resources for financing the development of developing countries and international monetary reforms
- A. Transfer of real resources for financing the development of developing countries
- 23. The importance of the question of transfers of resources in the context of a balanced overall approach is acknowledged, particularly in view of the advantages which they have for the poorest developing countries which do not produce raw materials.
- 24. The Community has recently considerably increased her aid—leaving aside the bilateral aid granted by each of the Member States—despite

9

¹ It will be recalled that, following Resolution 21 (II) of UNCTAD, the Community was the first to implement a system of generalized preferences and has since improved it annually.

the fact that economic and budgetary conditions have been far from easy.1

- 25. In respect of the target of 0.7% of GNP for official development assistance mentioned in the International Strategy for the Second Development Decade, the Community and its Member States confirm the undertakings which they have already given in this matter and adopt as their common aim an effective increase in official development assistance taking into account their respective economic abilities to contribute.
- 26. To the extent that the oil exporting developing countries continue to dispose of financial surpluses, such surpluses could be further mobilized for the purposes of development assistance, particularly by working out structures to encourage triangular cooperation.
- 27. The Community and its Member States stress the importance of transferring financial resources on favourable terms, especially to the poorest developing countries. They are also aware of the importance of the question of the debt burden of developing countries; they are ready to examine the problems which arise in each case and to seek suitable means to resolve them. The agreed report of the Expert Group in the framework of UNCTAD has, in the opinion of the Community and its Member States, confirmed the validity of this approach.
- 28. The Community and its Member States confirm:
- their positive attitude to the setting up of a financing mechanism somewhere between IBRD and IDA credits;
- their willingness to contribute, on a reasonable basis of assessment of ability to do so, together with the other countries possessing adequate financial resources, to the special IMF account set up to reduce the interest burden payable under the oil facility by the hardest hit countries.

- B. Reform of the international monetary system
- 29. The Community and its Member States think that the international monetary system should be reconstructed taking into account the concerns of developing countries. In this respect, in-depth studies are currently under way and should be actively pursued. The Community and its Member States favour the establishment of the SDR as the principal reserve asset and the reduction of the role of gold and of reserve currencies in the international monetary system.
- 30. No decision concerning gold and the creation of SDR's should accentuate the disequilibria in the distribution of international liquidity.
- 31. The Member States of the Community agree that the present representation of developing countries in the decision-making bodies of the Fund and of the Bank should be substantially improved and the broad geographical representation of developing countries should not be adversely affected.
- 32. They are convinced that solutions acceptable to all for the improvement of compensatory financing facilities of the IMF could be found. The possible part of IMF in financing buffer stocks will of course depend on the agreements reached on this subject.

Mention might be made here of the financial provisions of the Convention of Lomé, Community food aid efforts, technical assistance for trade promotion and regional integration, the Community contribution to the United Nations emergency action and the Resolution adopted by the Council on 16 July 1974 which confirms the principe of Community financial and technical ais to non-associated developing countries. The conditions for implementing this a Resolution in the near future are currently being examined by the Community authorities.

III. Industrial cooperation

- 33. The aim in this sector should be to contribute to speeding up the industrial development of the developing countries by improving the international division of labour through the creation of an expanding production capacity and by taking particular account of the employment problems facing both the developing and the industrialized countries.
- 34. The Community and its Member States are willing to strengthen cooperation on industrialization with the Governments of the developing countries:
- on the one hand, in financial and technical cooperation and trade cooperation, with a view to supporting efforts to bring about regional cooperation between the developing countries,
- on the other hand, in order to bring about a reasonable balance between the interests of the developing countries (e.g. by preventing the abuse of dominant positions) and those of undertakings (e.g. by achieving stable conditions for their operations).
- 35. Measures would be envisaged in the field of the development of industrial promotion and cooperation:
- Industrial promotion measures aimed at studying in concrete terms the potential for industrialization and industrial cooperation and at making contacts between promoters, operators and those concerned in industrial development easier.
- Improvement of systems for exchanging information on industrial development and, in particular, on forecasts of supply and demand.
- Cooperation from the developing countries to provide a more receptive atmosphere and more stable working conditions for foreign operators.
- 36. In the light of the guidelines set out above, the Community and its Member States have

proposed a text on this subject for consideration by the Special Session, which is set out below.

'The General Assembly:

- 1. Adopts resolution 45 (IX) of the Industrial Development Board and specially requests that all Governments take individually and/or collectively the measures and decisions necessary for practical effect to be given to the commitments they entered into pursuant to the Lima Declaration and Plan of Action on Industrial Development Cooperation.
- 2. Emphasizes that the existence of an interdependent relationship between all members of the international community and the need for a spirit of cooperation based on sovereign equality and on the removal of the existing imbalances between them entails the introduction of new forms of collaboration and the encouragement of increased industrial growth in the developing countries.
- 3. Invites the Governments to determine promptly and jointly the new forms of international industrial cooperation which would form part of all development and development aid policies and which would be actively promoted for the mutual benefit of the developed and the developing countries.

A. System of consultations

4. Decides that, to this end, a consultations system will be set up within UNIDO and, where appropriate, the other relevant United Nations agencies, which will make it possible for the developed and the developing countries regularly to exchange views on prospects for industrial development with a view to establishing the broad outlines of coordinated policies for the creation of industrial production potential in the developing countries (particularly with regard to the processing of raw materials).

- 5. Emphasizes the need for due regard to be paid, when the said consultations system is being organized, to the special importance which is to be attached to economic cooperation at regional level and to the dialogue commenced between States or groups of States.
- 6. Suggests that, because of the special role played by public and private investment in industrial development, those in control of the undertakings concerned should take part in the said dialogue in accordance with appropriate procedures.
- 7. Asks the Executive Director of UNIDO to submit to the Industrial Development Board's next meeting proposals for establishing such a consultation system, and invites the Industrial Development Board to draw up the rules according to which it would operate.
- B. Incentives for the establishment of industrial concerns in the developing countries
- 8. Invites the Governments of the developed countries to take jointly such steps as would be appropriate to encourage and persuade firms and nationals which are able to do so, to promote the growth of industrial activity in the developing countries having regard to the priorities and development plans of those countries.
- 9. Asks the Governments of the developed countries to examine in the light of the consultations proposed above, those policies which they could adopt jointly—taking account of their economic structure, their economic and social objectives and the constraints imposed on them by matters of security—in order that their production facilities might be geared more effectively to helping the industrialization of the developing countries.
- 10. Invites the Governments of the developing countries to provide details of their plans and

priorities in order to elicit the cooperation of firms and nationals in the developed countries, particularly those which are considering adapting their industrial activity to the industrialization requirements of the developing countries, and to create the facilities essential for the continuity of industrial cooperation relations between the various partners.

C. Industrial cooperation agreements

- 11. Invites the Governments to undertake a joint study on the preparation of diversified financial and technical cooperation methods which are geared to the special and changing requirements of international industrial cooperation.
- 12. Recommends in particular that the Governments concerned should work out industrial cooperation arrangements under which the financial surpluses of some developing countries—supplemented, if necessary, by capital from the developed countries and the host developing countries—would be used in conjunction with the technological, management and vocational training facilities provided by the developed countries and with the human and material resources of the developing countries in which the new industrial projects are to be carried out.'

IV. Science and technology

37. The Community and its Member States recognize the need to improve the conditions for transferring technology to the developing countries. The preparation of decisions on a code of conduct for the transfer of technology should therefore be continued within UNCTAD and concluded as quickly as possible. The international conventions on patents and trade marks should be reviewed and revised where necessary as part of the work of WIPO, in collaboration with UNCTAD and the other relevant United

Nations bodies, in order to enable them to become more satisfactory instruments for facilitating the transfer of technology and its development in the developing countries.

38. In the light of the above considerations, the Community and its Member States, after studying the position paper of the Group of 77 on this subject, have proposed the following alternative formulation:

Developed countries should cooperate with developing countries in the establishment, strengthening and development of their scientific and technological infrastructures and appropriate measures, including consideration of the establishment of an industrial technological information bank, should be taken.

Developed countries should significantly expand their assistance to developing countries in research and development programmes and in the creation of suitable indigenous technology.

They should further undertake projects in the field of information, advice and training to bring about improved transparency of the industrial property market and to facilitate the technological choices of the developing countries.

All states should cooperate in evolving internationally acceptable guidelines for the transfer of technology, taking into account the special needs of developing countries. The work on preparing an international code of conduct for the transfer of technology should therefore be continued within UNCTAD and concluded according to a precise time-table to be decided upon in UNCTAD IV.

International conventions on patents and trade marks should be reviewed and revised as necessary, taking into particular account the special needs of the developing countries, as part of the work of the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO), in collaboration with UNCTAD and other relevant UN bodies, in order that they may become more satisfactory instruments for

aiding developing countries in the transfer and the development of technology.

Developed countries should facilitate the access of developing countries, under fair, equitable and mutually acceptable conditions, to relevant information on advanced and other technologies suited to their specific needs as well as on new uses of existing technology, new developments, and possibilities of adapting them to local needs.

The United Nations system should play an appropriate role in achieving the above stated objectives and in ensuring the application of science and technology to development. The work of UNCTAD, UNDP, UNIDO, WIPO and UNESCO in facilitating the transfer and diffusion of technology should be given urgent priority. The United Nations Secretary-General should take steps to ensure that the technology and experience available within the United Nations system is widely disseminated and readily available to the developing countries in need of it.'

V. Food and agriculture

- 39. The Community and its Member States recognize that the world food problem poses one of the most important and urgent challenges. It is therefore appropriate to recall the results of the World Food Conference and give them a new political impetus. They affirm in particular those recommendations which have a direct impact on increasing food production and on improving nutrition in developing countries.
- 40. In this context, the fundamental aim of the Community is the promotion of agricultural development in developing countries rather than concentration on food aid, which can have the side effect of discouraging domestic efforts for increased food production. For this reason, the transitional character of food aid should be kept in mind when forward planning is consi-

dered. Whilst giving priority to increasing food production in the developing countries, the Community is ready, in view of the urgency of current food needs, to continue its food aid efforts taking into account the objectives accepted at the World Food Conference.

- 41. It is also necessary to mobilize technical and financial aid capacities in all countries which are actual or potential donors.
- 42. The Council of the European Communities will be further considering the question of the International Fund for Agricultural Development in October.
- 43. In the light of the above considerations, the Community and its Member States, after studying the position paper of the Group of 77 on this subject, have proposed the following alternative formulation:
- '1. The solution to world food problems lies primarily in increasing rapidly food production in the developing countries. To this end, the necessary changes in the pattern of world food production should be introduced. Trade policy measures should be implemented in order to obtain a notable increase and diversification of agricultural production and export earnings of developing countries.
- 2. In order to achieve these objectives it is essential that:
- developed and developing countries in a position to do so increase substantially the volume of assistance to developing countries for agriculture and food production in particular to those countries with food deficits and to the 'msa' countries;
- developed countries continue to give increasing access to their markets for agricultural and food products, both in raw and processed form, of developing countries;
- developing countries accord high priority to agricultural and fisheries development, increase

investments accordingly and adopt policies which give adequate incentives to agricultural producers.

- 3. In view of the importance of food aid as a transitional measure, there should be universal acceptance both of the principle of a minimum aid target of ten million tonnes of food grains in cash or kind set for 1975-76, and of the concept of forward planning of food aid for more than a single season.
- 4. Where food aid is not at present provided as grants, donor countries should increase the grant component. Donors should further accept the aim of an overall increase in multilateral channelling of food aid. In providing food grains and finances on soft terms to developing countries in need of such assistance, donor countries should take due account of the interests of the food exporting developing countries. Where appropriate such assistance can take the form of purchases from the food exporting developing countries.
- 5. Developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should provide food grains and financial assistance on soft terms to the most seriously affected countries, to enable them to meet their food and agricultural development requirements within the constraints of their precarious balance-of-payments position. Donor countries should also provide aid on soft terms, in cash and kind, through bilateral and multilateral channels to enable the most seriously affected countries to obtain the necessary quantity of plant nutrients.
- 6. Developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should in channelling both their bilateral and multilateral food aid take into due account the normal commercial market practices and prevent disruptive practices which cause undue fluctuations of market prices.

In order that such aid should, to the maximum apossible extent, correspond to an objective

assessment of requirements of food importing developing countries, all countries should participate in the global information and early warning system.

- 7. The Consultative Group on Food Production and Investment in developing countries should quickly identify developing countries with potential for the most rapid and efficient increase of food production as well as the potential for rapid agricultural expansion in other developing countries. On the basis of such an assessment, developed countries, developing countries in a position to do so, and the competent international organizations will be better able to concentrate resources for the rapid increase of agricultural and food production in all developing countries.
- 8. All countries should adopt individually and collectively policies aimed at ensuring a stable supply and sufficient quantity of fertilizers and other production inputs at reasonable prices. Developed and developing countries in a position to do so should provide assistance to and promote investments in developing countries to improve the efficiency of their fertilizers and other agricultural input industries, in particular taking advantage of the mechanism provided by the International Fertilizers Supply Scheme.
- 9. All countries should subscribe to the international undertaking on world food security and to the arrangements formulated in the framework of FAO and cooperate in the implementation of the political objectives and guidelines contained in that undertaking.

These policies should include measures on food stocks which have sufficient flexibility to enable the international community to respond adequately to unforeseen emergency situations.

Developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should provide the necessary assistance to developing countries so that they can formulate and implement national stockpiling.'

Resolution adopted by the General Assembly

1104. At the close of the proceedings, the Seventh Special Session of the General Assembly adopted a Resolution on 16 September. The key passages read as follows:

Development and international economic cooperation

The General Assembly,

•••

Recognizing that greater cooperation among States in the fields of trade, industry, science and technology as well as in other fields of economic activities, based on the principles of the Declaration and the Programme of Action on the Establishment of a New International Economic Order and of the Charter of Economic Rights and Duties of States, would also contribute to strengthening peace and security in the world,

Believing that the overall objective of the new international economic order is to increase the capacity of developing countries, individually and collectively, to pursue their development,

Decides, to this end and in the context of the foregoing, to set in motion the following measures as the basis and framework for the work of the competent bodies and organizations of the United Nations system:

I. International trade

1. Concerted efforts should be made in favour of the developing countries towards expanding and diversifying their trade, improving and diversifying their productive capacity, improving their productivity and increasing their export earnings, with a view to counteracting the

adverse effects of inflation—thereby sustaining real incomes—and with a view to improving the terms of trade of the developing countries and in order to eliminate the economic imbalance between developed and developing countries.

- 2. Concerted action should be taken to accelerate the growth and diversification of the export trade of developing countries in manufactures and semi-manufactures and in processed and semi-processed products in order to increase their share in world industrial output and world trade within the framework of an expanding world economy.
- 3. An important aim of the fourth session of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, in addition to work in progress elsewhere, should be to reach decisions on the improvement of market structures in the field of raw materials and commodities of export interest to the developing countries, including decisions with respect to an integrated programme and the applicability of elements thereof. In this connection, taking into account the distinctive features of individual raw materials and commodities, the decisions should bear on the following:
- (a) Appropriate international stocking and other forms of market arrangements for securing stable, remunerative and equitable prices for commodities of export interest to developing countries and promoting equilibrium between supply and demand, including, where possible, long-term multilateral commitments;
- (b) Adequate international financing facilities for such stocking and market arrangements;
- (c) Where possible, promotion of long-term and medium-term contracts;
- (d) Substantially improve facilities for compensatory financing of export revenue fluctuations through the widening and enlarging of the existing facilities. Note has been taken of the various proposals regarding a comprehensive scheme for the stabilization of export earnings of

developing countries and for a Development Security Facility as well as specific measures for the benefit of the developing countries most in need;

- (e) Promotion of processing of raw materials in producing developing countries and expansion and diversification of their exports, particularly to developed countries;
- (f) Effective opportunities to improve the share of developing countries in transport, marketing and distribution of their primary commodities and to encourage measures of world significance for the evolution of the infrastructure and secondary capacity of developing countries from the production of primary commodities to processing, transport and marketing, and to the production of finished manufactured goods, their transport, distribution and exchange, including advanced financial and exchange institutions for the remunerative management of trade transactions.
- 5. A number of options are open to the international community to preserve the purchasing power of developing countries. These need to be further studied on a priority basis. The Secretary-General of the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development should continue to study direct and indirect indexation schemes and other options with a view to making concrete proposals before the Conference at its fourth session.

8. Developed countries should take effective steps within the framework of multilateral trade negotiations for the reduction or removal, where feasible and appropriate, of non-tariff barriers affecting the products of export interest to developing countries on a differential and more favourable basis for developing countries. The Generalized Scheme of Preferences should not

terminate at the end of the period of 10 years originally envisaged and should be continuously improved through wider coverage, deeper cuts and other measures, bearing in mind the interests of those developing countries which enjoy special advantages and the need for finding ways and means for protecting their interests.

II. Transfer of real resources for financing the development of developing countries and international monetary reforms

- 1. Concessional financial resources to developing countries need to be increased substantially, their terms and conditions ameliorated and their flow made predictable continuous and increasingly assured so as to facilitate the implementation by developing countries of long-term programmes for economic and social development. Financial assistance should, as a general rule, be untied.
- 2. Developed countries confirm their continued commitment in respect of the targets relating to the transfer of resources, in particular the official development assistance target of 0.7% of gross national product, as agreed in the International Development Strategy for the Second United Nations Development Decade, and adopt as their common aim an effective increase in official development assistance with a view to achieving these targets by the end of the decade. Developed countries which have not yet made a commitment in respect of these targets undertake to make their best efforts to reach these targets in the remaining part of this decade.
- 3. The establishment of a link between the special drawing rights and development assistance should form part of the consideration by the International Monetary Fund of the creation of new special drawing rights as and when they

are created according to the needs of international liquidity. Agreement should be reached at an early date on the establishment of a trust fund, to be financed partly through the International Monetary Fund gold sales and partly through voluntary contributions and to be governed by an appropriate body, for the benefit of developing countries. Consideration of other means of transfer of real resources which are predictable, assured and continuous should be expedited in appropriate bodies.

- 4. Developed countries and international organizations should enhance the real value and volume of assistance to developing countries and ensure that the developing countries obtain the largest possible share in the procurement of equipment, consultants and consultancy services. Such assistance should be on softer terms and, as a general rule, untied.
- 5. In order to enlarge the pool of resources available for financing development, there is an urgent need to increase substantially the capital of the World Bank Group, and in particular the resources of the International Development Association, to enable it to make additional capital available to the poorest countries on highly concessional terms.
- 6. The resources of the development institutions of the United Nations system, in particular the United Nations Development Programme, should also be increased. The funds at the disposal of the regional development banks should be augmented. These increases should be without prejudice to bilateral development assistance flows.
- 7. To the extent desirable, the World Bank Group is invited to consider new ways of supplementing its financing with private management, skills, technology and capital and also new approaches to increase financing of development in developing countries, in accordance with their national plans and priorities.

- 8. The burden of debt on developing countries is increasing to a point where the import capacity as well as reserves have come under serious strain. At its fourth session the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development shall consider the need for, and the possibility of, convening as soon as possible a conference of major donor, creditor and debtor countries to devise ways and means to mitigate this burden, taking into account the development needs of developing countries, with special attention to the plight of the most seriously affected countries as defined in General Assembly resolutions 3201 (S-VI) and 3202 (S-VI).
- 9. Developing countries should be granted increased access on favourable terms to the capital markets of developed countries. To this end, the joint Development Committee of the International Monetary Fund and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development should progress as rapidly as possible in its work. Appropriate United Nations bodies and other related intergovernmental agencies should be invited to examine ways and means of increasing the flow of public and private resources to developing countries, including proposals made at the current session to provide investment in private and public enterprises in the developing countries. Consideration should be given to the examination of an international investment trust and to the expansion of the International Finance Corporation capital without prejudice to the increase in resources of other intergovernmental financial and development institutions and bilateral assistance flows.
- 10. Developed and developing countries should further cooperate through investment of financial resources and supply of technology and equipment to developing countries by developed countries and by developing countries in a position to do so.

- 13. In providing additional resources for assisting the most seriously affected countries in helping them to meet their serious balance-of-payments deficits, all developed countries, and developing countries in a position to do so, and international organizations such as the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the International Monetary Fund, should undertake specific measures in their favour, including those provided in General Assembly resolutions 3201 (S-VI) and 3202 (S-VI).
- 14. Special attention should be given by the international community to the phenomena of natural disasters which frequently afflict many parts of the world, with far-reaching devastating economic, social and structural consequences, particularly in the least developed countries. To this end, the General Assembly at its thirtieth session, in considering this problem, should examine and adopt appropriate measures.
- 15. The role of national reserve currencies should be reduced and the special drawing rights should become the central reserve asset of the international monetary system in order to provide for greater international control over the creation and equitable distribution of liquidity and in order to limit potential losses as a consequence of exchange rate fluctuations. Arrangements for gold should be consistent with the agreed objective of reducing the role of gold in the system and with equitable distribution of new international liquidity and should in particular take into consideration the needs of developing countries for increased liquidity.
- 16. The process of decision-making should be fair and responsive to change and should be

¹ Bull. EC 5-1974, points 1302 and 1303.

most specially responsive to the emergence of new economic influence on the part of developing countries. The participation of developing countries in the decision-making process in the competent organs of international finance and development institutions should be adequately increased and made more effective without adversely affecting the broad geographic representation of developing countries and in accordance with the existing and evolving rules.

- 17. The compensatory financing facility now available through the International Monetary Fund should be expanded and liberalized. In this connection, early consideration should be given by the Fund and other appropriate United Nations bodies to various proposals made at the current session—including the examination of a new development security facility—which would mitigate export earnings shortfalls of developing countries, with special regard to the poorest countries, and thus provide greater assistance to their continued economic development. Early consideration should also be given by the International Monetary Fund to proposals to expand and liberalize its coverage of current transactions to include manufactures and services, to ensure that, whenever possible, compensation for export shortfalls takes place at the same time they occur, to take into account, in determining the quantum of compensation, movements in import prices and to lengthen the repayment period.
- 18. Drawing under the buffer stock financing facility of the International Monetary Fund should be accorded treatment with respect to floating alongside the gold tranche, similar to that under the compensatory financing facility, and the Fund should expedite its study of the possibility of an amendment of the Articles of Agreement, to be presented to the Interim Committee, if possible in its next meeting, that would permit the Fund to provide assistance directly to international buffer stocks of primary products.

III. Science and technology

- 1. Developed and developing countries should cooperate in the establishment, strengthening and development of the scientific and technological infrastructure of developing countries. Developed countries should also take appropriate measures, such as contribution to the establishment of an industrial technological information bank and consideration of the possibility of regional and sectoral banks, in order to make available a greater flow to developing countries of information permitting the selection of technologies, in particular advanced technologies. Consideration should also be given to the establishment of an international centre for the exchange of technological information for the sharing of research findings relevant to developing countries. For the above purposes institutional arrangements within the United Nations system should be examined by the General Assembly at its thirtieth session.
- 2. Developed countries should significantly expand their assistance to developing countries for direct support to their science and technology programmes, as well as increase substantially the proportion of their research and development devoted to specific problems of primary interest to developing countries, and in the creation of suitable indigenous technology, in accordance with feasible targets to be agreed upon. The General Assembly invites the Secretary-General to carry out a preliminary study and to report to the Assembly at its thirty-first session on the possibility of establishing, within the framework of the United Nations system, an international energy institute to assist all developing countries in energy resources research and development.
- 3. All States should cooperate in evolving an international code of conduct for the transfer of technology, corresponding, in particular, to the special needs of the developing countries. Work on such a code should therefore be continued

United Nations

within the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development and concluded in time for decisions to be reached at the fourth session of the Conference, including a decision on the legal character of such a code with the objective of the adoption of a code of conduct prior to the end of 1977. International conventions on patents and trade marks should be reviewed and revised to meet, in particular, the special needs of the developing countries, in order that these conventions may become more satisfactory instruments for aiding developing countries in the transfer and development of technology. National patents systems should, without delay, be brought into line with the international patent system in its revised form.

5

5. Developed countries should give developing countries the freest and fullest possible access to technologies whose transfer is not subject to private decision.

•••

A United Nations Conference on Science and Technology for Development should be held in 1978 or 1979 with the main objectives of strengthening the technological capacity of developing countries to enable them to apply science and technology to their own development; adopting effective means for the utilization of scientific and technological potentials in the solution of development problems of regional and global significance, especially for the benefit of developing countries; and providing instruments of cooperation to developing countries in the utilization of science and technology for solving socio-economic problems that cannot be solved by individual action, in accordance with national priorities, taking into account the recommendations made by the Intergovernmental Working Group of the Committee on Science and Technology for Development.

IV. Industrialization

- 1. The General Assembly endorses the Lima Declaration and Plan of Action on Industrial Development Cooperation and requests all Governments to take individually and/or collectively the necessary measures and decisions required to implement effectively their undertakings in terms of the Lima Declaration and Plan of Action.
- 2. Developed countries should facilitate the development of new policies and strengthen existing policies, including labour market policies, which would encourage the redeployment of their industries which are less competitive internationally to developing countries, thus leading to structural adjustments in the former and a higher degree of utilization of natural and human resources in the latter. Such policies may take into account the economic structure and the economic, social and security objectives of the developed countries concerned and the need for such industries to move into more viable lines of production or into other sectors of the economy.
- 3. A system of consultations as provided for by the Lima Plan of Action should be established at the global, regional, interregional and sectoral levels within the United Nations Industrial Development Organization and within other appropriate international bodies, between developed and developing countries and among developing countries themselves, in order to facilitate the achievement of the goals set forth in the field of industrialization, including the redeployment of certain productive capacities existing in developed countries and the creation of new industrial facilities in developing countries. In this context, the United Nations Industrial Development Organization should serve as a forum for negotiation of agreements in the field of industry between developed and developing countries and

••

among developing countries themselves, at the request of the countries concerned.

- ...
- 5. To promote cooperation between developed and developing countries, both should endeavour to disseminate appropriate information about their priority areas for industrial cooperation and the form they would like such cooperation to take. The efforts undertaken by the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development on tripartite cooperation between countries having different economic and social systems could lead to constructive proposals for the industrialization of developing countries.
- 6. Developed countries should, whenever possible, encourage their enterprises to participate in investment projects within the framework of the development plans and programmes of the developing countries which so desire; such participation should be carried out in accordance with the laws and regulations of the developing countries concerned.
- COII
- 9. The General Assembly endorses the recommendation of the Second General Conference of the United Nations Industrial Development Organization to convert that organization into a specialized agency and decides to establish an intergovernmental committee of the whole, including States which participated in the Second General Conference, to meet in Vienna to draw up a constitution for the United Nations Industrial Development Organization as a specialized agency, to be submitted to a conference of plenipotentiaries to be convened by the Secretary-General in the last quarter of 1976.

V. Food and agriculture

1. The solution to world food problems lies primarily in increasing rapidly food production

- in the developing countries. To this end, urgent and necessary changes in the pattern of world food production should be introduced and trade policy measures should be implemented, in order to obtain a notable increase in agricultural production and the export earnings of developing countries.
- 2. To achieve these objectives, it is essential that developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should substantially increase the volume of assistance to developing countries for agriculture and food production, and that developed countries should effectively facilitate access to their markets for food and agricultural products of export interest to developing countries, both in raw and processed form, and adopt adjustment measures, where necessary.
- 3. Developing countries should accord high priority to agricultural and fisheries development, increase investment accordingly and adopt policies which give adequate incentives to agricultural producers. It is a responsibility of each State concerned, in accordance with its sovereign judgement and development plans and policies, to promote interaction between expansion of food production and socio-economic reforms, with a view to achieving an integrated rural development. The further reduction of post-harvest food losses in developing countries should be undertaken as a matter of priority, with a view to reaching at least a 50% reduction by 1985. All countries and competent international organizations should cooperate financially and technically in the effort to achieve this objective. Particular attention should be given to improvement in the systems of distribution of foodstuffs.

••

8. In view of the importance of food aid as a transitional measure, all countries should accept both the principle of a minimum food aid target

and the concept of forward planning of food aid. The target for the 1975-1976 season should be 10 million tonnes of food grains. They should also accept the principle that food aid should be channelled on the basis of objective assessment of requirements in the recipient countries. In this respect all countries are urged to participate in the Global Information and Early Warning System on Food and Agriculture.

•••

10. Developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should provide food grains and financial assistance on most favourable terms to the most seriously affected countries, to enable them to meet their food and agricultural development requirements within the constraints of their balance-of-payments position. Donor countries should also provide aid on soft terms, in cash and in kind, through bilateral and multilateral channels, to enable the most seriously affected countries to obtain their estimated requirements of about 1 million tonnes of plant nutrients during 1975-1976.

•••

12. All countries should subscribe to the International Undertaking on World Food Security. They should build up and maintain world food-grain reserves, to be held nationally or regionally and strategically located in developed and developing, importing and exporting countries, large enough to cover foreseeable major production shortfalls. Intensive work should be continued on a priority basis in the World Food Council and other appropriate forums in order to determine, inter alia, the size of the required reserve, taking into account among other things the proposal made at the current session that the components of wheat and rice in the total reserve should be 30 millions tonnes. The World Food Council should report to the General Assembly on this matter at its thirty-first session. Developed countries should assist developing countries in their efforts to build up and maintain their agreed shares of such reserves. Pending the establishment of the world food-grain reserve, developed countries and developing countries in a position to do so should earmark stocks and/or funds to be placed at the disposal of the World Food Programme as an emergency reserve to strengthen the capacity of the Programme to deal with crisis situations in developing countries. The aim should be a target of not less than 500 000 tonnes.

•••

2. Annual meeting of the International Monetary Fund

IMF meeting

International monetary problems

1201. The annual meeting in Washington, from 1 to 5 September, of the Governors of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD) was preceded at the end of August by various meetings which examined the main questions outstanding from the last meeting of the IMF Interim Committee in June (allocation of quota increases, gold problems, exchange system).

As regards the Community, this appraisal was prepared mainly at the Conference of Member States' Finance Ministers in Venice on 24 August, followed by the Monetary Committee meeting in Washington on 30 August.² In the light of the guidelines set out by the Ministers, the Monetary Committee prepared a common position of the member countries on the problems for which solutions seemed likely to emerge, i.e. the minimum content and coverage of the agreements, assessment of Member States' IMF quotas under the five-year review, gold problems (general arrangements and disposition of the gold held by the Monetary Fund). On the other hand, as was the case within the broader compass of the IMF, it was not possible to reach agreement on the future exchange rate

The results of the meeting of the IMF Interim Committee in Washington on 31 August' are by and large very close to the common positions which had emerged from the deliberations of the Monetary Committee. The agreement reached bears in the main on determining the quotas, and on the problem of gold.⁴

As regards determining the quotas, it had been agreed at the previous meeting of the Interim Committee that the total of IMF quotas would be raised from 29 000 million to 39 000 million SDRs, i.e., an increase of 32.5%; that the share

of the quotas of the members of OPEC would be doubled, rising from 4.98% to 9.96% of the total; and that the share relating to all the developing countries would remain unchanged. From these decisions, the Interim Committee reached agreement on how the relative decrease in the group's share of the total quotas would be distributed among the industrialized countries.

As regards the problem of gold, the main elements of the consensus within the Interim Committee are as follows:

- (1) Gold system. It was agreed that an official price for gold would be abolished; that the IMF and the national monetary authorities would no longer be obliged to accept gold in settlement of obligations or debts as defined in the existing Articles; and that countries so desiring would have the option of henceforth making completely free arrangements concerning gold transactions, subject to certain conditions.
- (2) disposition of IMF gold holdings.⁵ It was decided that 25 000 000 ounces would be restituted to the Member States at a price in their currency which corresponds to the official price of \$ 42.22 per ounce; that 25 000 000 ounces would be sold on the market, the proceeds going to aid for the developing countries on conditions to be determined; that 100 000 000 ounces would still be held by the IMF, with their disposition subject to an 85% majority decision.

The Interim Committee agreed that the consensus reached on determining quotas and the

Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2206.
 Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2214.

³ Before the meeting started, informal talks took place, in particular between the representatives of the Federal Republic of Germany, the United States, France, Japan and the United Kingdom.

⁴ Point 1204.

⁵ At the moment the IMF holds some 150 000 000 ounces of gold.

problem of gold would not straightaway lead to an official procedure for proposing amendments to the IMF Articles, and that initiation of such procedure, like that of a parliamentary ratification procedure, would await the result of the work on the exchange system, which will be resumed at the next meeting of the Interim Committee set for 7 and 8 January 1976 in Jamaica.

Annual meeting of the IMF and IBRD

1202. Mr Rodriguez, the Venezuelan Minister of State, chaired the 30th annual meeting of the Governors of the IMF and IBRD, which opened with an address by the President of the United States, Mr Ford.

Commission observers attended the proceedings, where Mr Colombo, Italy's Treasury Minister and President-in-Office of the Council, at the beginning of his speech made a statement on behalf of the Community.

Whereas the 1974 annual meeting² had been overshadowed by the oil crisis, in 1975 the event was stamped by a wide variety of themes, the chief of which can be summarized as follows:

(i) Economic policy. The world is suffering from a recession deeper and more widespread than anticipated, and the aftermath of an inflation heavier than the most pessimistic had imagined. It needs only a careless policy of economic reflation for these inflationary gusts to blow up violently again. Hence the problem of trying to find a satisfactory balance, which is complicated by the desire of most industrialized countries to embark all together on the congested route of growth through exports.

- (ii) Exchange system. Opinions are still rather divided between the advisability of establishing fluctuating exchange rates as the standard instrument of adjustment, or whether a system of parities over the widest possible international framework should be restored. Many actually consider that the use of fluctuating rates can be justified by solid arguments when this occurs over periods marked by violent upheavals in the world economy as has happened during the last few years. Others, however, are hesitating as to whether the chief industrial countries may not agree to return to a parity system once the upheavals have died down. At all events, a number of observers, from experience over the last two years and in the twenties and thirties. feel that the system of fluctuating exchange rates has some rather troubling ascpects.
- (iii) Developing countries. The future of the developing countries, doubly hit by the aftermath of the oil crisis and the recession in the industrialized countries, is giving rise to differences of opinion on how to remedy the situation, differences which seem to dampen rather than stimulate efforts towards development aid.
- 1203. The problems now facing the developing countries were examined in depth during the Development Committee's meeting' in Washington on 3 and 4 September 1975. The press communiqué issued after the meeting is reproduced in the documentary annex.

Bull. EC 10-1974, points 1401 to 1406.

Point 1205.

The Joint Ministerial Committee of the Boards of Governors of the Bank and the Fund on the Transfer of Real Resources to the Developing Countries (the official title of the Development Committee) was formed in the autumn of 1974 by parallel resolutions of the Boards of Governors of the IBRD and the IMF.

⁴ Point 1206.

Documentary annex

Communiqué of the Interim Committee

1204. At the end of its fourth meeting in Washington on 31 August, the Interim Committee issued the following communiqué to the press:

- '1. The Interim Committee of the Board of Governors of the International Monetary Fund held its fourth meeting in Washington, D.C. on 31 August 1975 under the chairmanship of Mr John N. Turner, Minister of Finance of Canada. Mr H. Johannes Witteveen, Managing Director of the International Monetary Fund, participated in the meeting. The following observers attended during the Committee's discussions: Mr Henri Konan Bédié, Chairman, Bank-Fund Development Committee, Mr Gamani Corea, Secretary-General, UNCTAD, Mr Wilhelm Haferkamp, Vice-President, EC Commission, Mr René Larre, General Manager/ BIS, Mr Emile van Lennep, Secretary-General, OECD, Mr F. Leutwiler, President, National Bank of Switzerland, Mr Robert S. McNamara, President, IBRD, and Mr Gardner Patterson, Deputy Director-General, GATT.
- 2. The Committee had a discussion of the world economic situation and outlook, and expressed its concern about the current severe problems of recession and unemployment, balance of payments disequilibria, and inflation. The Committee felt that industrial countries which have slack domestic demand conditions and relatively strong balance of payments positions, and which have made progress in reducing inflation, should lead in the promotion of a satisfactory rate of expansion in world trade and activity. The Committee believed that, on the basis of such a coordinated policy approach, a resumption of economic growth might be expected for the industrial world during the

latter part of 1975 or the first half of 1976. Although rates of price increase in industrial countries have generally been subsiding, the Committee noted the disturbing fact that economic recovery in the industrial world will get under way with rates of inflation still unacceptably high.

Throughout the Committee's discussion, particular concern was expressed for the many primary producing countries, and especially the developing countries, whose current account deficits have been greatly enlarged by the increase in import costs and the downturn in global demand. Resumption of growth in world trade is urgently needed to alleviate the plight of such countries. Moreover, the Committee feared that, unless they were able to obtain adequate financing, many primary producing countries might have difficulty in fending off pressures to restrain imports, either through deflationary demand measures that would undermine their development efforts or through resort to trade restrictions. In view of these dangers, the Committee expressed the hope that the Executive Board would consider various steps that might be taken by the Fund to meet the present urgent need for a greater volume of financing.

The Committee noted the improvements in the 1975 Oil Facility introduced as a result of the July review by the Executive Directors and endorsed the efforts now in progress to raise the amount of resources that the Fund would be able to borrow for the financing of purchases under that facility to the total of SDR 5 billion that was agreed at the meeting of the Committee in January 1975. The Committee also endorsed the intention of the Executive Directors to have another review of the 1975 Oil Facility at an early date, one purpose of which would be to determine what action needs to be taken in the best interests of the international community. and also to undertake at about the same time a broader examination of the Fund's policies on the use of its resources.

IMF meeting

- 4. The Committee welcomed the establishment of a Subsidy Account to assist those members that have been most seriously affected by the current situation to meet the cost of using the Oil Facility and commended those members that have already stated their willingness to make contributions to that account. At the same time, the Committee expressed concern at the fact that the total amount of the contributions by members that have already stated their willingness to contribute is substantially short of the total support that was contemplated and urged those members that have not yet pledged their support to make every effort to do so as soon as possible.
- The Committee noted the progress made by the Executive Directors on the Sixth General Review of quotas within the framework of the understandings reached at previous meetings of the Committee. The Committee noted the agreement on increases in the quotas of almost all members. In particular, the increases for the industrial countries and for the major oil exporting members have been agreed. The differences that remain among the other members are few and are expected to be resolved soon. The Committee asked the Executive Directors to prepare and submit to the Board of Governors a resolution on increases in the quotas of individual members. The Committee also asked the Executive Directors to complete their work on the mode of payment of the increases in quotas on the basis of the understandings already reached in the Committee so that appropriate recommendations can be submitted to the Board of Governors at the same time as the resolution on increases in quotas. The Committee reiterated its view that all of the Fund's holdings of currency should be usable in its transac-The Committee agreed that on the question of majorities for the adoption of decisions of the Fund on important matters, a majority of 85% should be required under the amended Articles for those decisions that can now be

taken by an 80% majority. It also agreed that amendments of the Articles should become effective when accepted by three-fifths of the members having 85% of the total voting power.

6. The Committee discussed the problem of gold, including the disposition of the gold holdings of the Fund. The elements of the consensus reached are described in this paragraph.

At the meeting of the Interim Committee on 16 January 1975, it was decided to move "toward a complete set of agreed amendments on gold, including the abolition of the official price and freedom for national monetary authorities to enter into gold transactions under certain specific arrangements, outside the Articles of the Fund, entered into between national monetary authorities in order to ensure that the role of gold in the international monetary system would be gradually reduced."

To implement this general undertaking, provision should be made for:

- 1. Abolition of an official price for gold.
- 2. Elimination of the obligation to use gold in transactions with the Fund, and elimination of the Fund's authority to accept gold in transactions unless the Fund so decides by an 85% majority. This understanding would be without prejudice to the study of a Gold Substitution Account.
- 3. Sale of 1/6 of the Fund's gold (25 million ounces) for the benefit of developing countries without resulting in a reduction of other resources for their benefit, and restitution of 1/6 of the Fund's gold to members. The proportion of any profits or surplus value of the gold sold for the benefit of developing countries that would correspond to the share of quotas of these countries would be transferred directly to each developing country in proportion to its quota. The rest of the Fund's gold would be subject to provisions in an amendment of the Articles that would create enabling powers exer-

cisable by an 85% majority of the total voting power.

The Committee noted that, in order to give effect to the understandings arrived at in this Committee, the countries in the Group of Ten have agreed to observe during the period referred to below the following arrangements, which could be subscribed to by any other member country of the Fund that wishes to do so. Other members might adhere to these arrangements, and on such occasions the necessary modifications in them would be made:

- a) That there be no action to peg the price of gold.
- b) That the total stock of gold now in the hands of the Fund and the monetary authorities of the Group of Ten will not be increased.
- c) That the parties to these arrangements agree that they will respect any further condition governing gold trading that may be agreed to by their central bank representatives at regular meetings.
- d) That each party to these arrangements will report semi-annually to the Fund and to the BIS the total amount of gold that has been bought or sold.
- e) That each party agree that these arrangements will be reviewed by the participants at the end of two years and then continued, modified or terminated. Any party to these arrangements may teminate adherence to them after the initial two-year period.

Many members from developing countries expressed concern that the proposed arrangements for gold would give rise to a highly arbitrary distribution of new liquidity, with the bulk of gains accruing to developed countries. This would greatly reduce the chances of further allocations of SDRs, thereby detracting from the agreed objective of making the SDR the principal reserve asset and phasing out the monetary role of gold. This aspect should be stu-

died, and measures explored to avoid these distortions.

- 7. The Committee noted the work done so far by the Executive Directors on the subject of the establishment of a trust fund and the possible sources of its financing in reponse to the request of the Development Committee. It was agreed to ask the Executive Directors to pursue their work with a view to completing it at an early date, taking into account the understandings reached in the Committee with regard to the use of profits from the sale of part of the Fund's gold for the benefit of developing countries, without neglecting the consideration of other possible sources of financing.
- 8. It was agreed that acceptable solutions must be found on the subject of the exchange rate system under the amended Articles, so that these agreed solutions can be combined with those on quotas and gold. The Executive Directors were requested to continue their work in order to arrive at acceptable solutions and to prepare for submission to the Board of Governors, after examination by the Committee at its next meeting, appropriate proposals for amendment of the fund's Articles on all aspects that have been under consideration.
- 9. The Committee noted that the Executive Directors are in the process of conducting a review of the Fund's facility on compensatory financing with a view to improving a number of its aspects. It was agreed to urge the Executive Directors to complete their work on this subject as soon as possible, taking into account the various proposals that have been made by members of the Committee.'

Statement by Mr Colombo

1205. The first part of the speech by Mr Colombo, Italy's Treasury Minister and President-in-Office of the Communities, at the annual

meeting of the IMF and IBRD in Washington, consisted of a statement on behalf of the Community.

The text reads as follows:

'Custom has it that the spokesman of the country which occupies the presidency of the Council of Ministers of the European Economic Community addresses this meeting on behalf of the Community. I propose first of all to follow this custom, and subsequently I shall continue my address in my role as Governor for Italy.

In their concern at the extent and duration of the economic recession and at its consequences for employment, the economics and finance ministers and Central Bank governors of the Member States of the Community, as well as the representatives of the Commission, recently held a conference in order to specify in detail the general lines of policy which had already been laid down during the month of July by the various Community organizations and in particular by the meeting of Community Heads of State and Prime Ministers.

The participants at this meeting decided to pursue a coordinated policy to sustain economic activity, to combat inflation, and to improve the prospects for growth in the longer term. In addition to those measures which have already been taken in a Community framework by certain Member States, further reflationary measures will be taken by those countries where the rate of inflation, the current account balance of payments situation, and the state of the public finance render this possible. The governments concerned will shortly announce the measures that they propose to take within the framework of this overall common plan. These measures, both those already taken and those yet to be taken, should, collectively, have a favourable impact in the months to come.

Given the close relations which exist between the economies of the Community countries and those of the other industrialized nations, the economic and finance ministers of the European countries urge their partners to support the measures undertaken by the Community, for only by acting together can we achieve the objectives desired by all of us.

The participants at our conference were very conscious of the special difficulties facing the developing countries. We are convinced that in order to resolve these difficulties it will be necessary not only to bring about a successful revival of economic activity in the industrialized world as a whole, but also to take specific measures within an international framework in order to protect the purchasing power of the developing countries. The Community has already taken important initiatives in this field, notably in the framework of the Lomé Convention.

For all these reasons, on behalf of the Community, I call upon those countries whose economic policy is of particular importance to the well-being of the world as a whole to reinforce the contribution which the Community is making toward a recovery of world economic growth and in general to frame their policies with a view to achieving successful international cooperation.

The member countries of the Community are extremely pleased with the results arrived at within the Interim Committee. Certainly we must recognize that the negotiations have not yet succeeded in solving all the problems regarding the organization of international monetary relations in the future, but the agreements reached on the basis of the proposals put forward by the European Community regarding quotas, the future of gold, and the treatment of gold held by the IMF augur well for the result of the negotiations which will, we all hope, be successfully concluded at the Jamaica meeting next January.'

IMF meeting IMF meeting

Communiqué of the Development Committee

- 1206. At the end of its fourth meeting in Washington on 3 and 4 September, the Development Committee published the following communiqué:
- '1. The Joint Ministerial Committee of the Boards of Governors of the Bank and the Fund on the Transfer of Real Resources to Developing Countries (the Development Committee) held its fourth meeting in Washington on 3 and 4 September 1975, under the chairmanship of Mr Henri Konan Bédié, Minister of Economy and Finance for the Ivory Coast. The meeting was held in the Sheraton-Park Hotel, during the period of the Annual Meetings of the World International Monetary Bank and the Mr Robert S. McNamara, President of the World Bank, Mr H. Johannes Witteveen, Managing Director of the International Monetary Fund, and Mr Henry J. Costanzo, Executive Secretary, took part in the meeting, which was also attended by representatives from twelve international and regional organizations and Switzerland as observers.
- 2. The Committee considered and approved for presentation to the Boards of Governors of the Bank and the Fund a report covering the progress of its work during the period October 1974-June 1975. The report, inter alia, noted the unanimous support given by the Committee to the establishment of a one-year Third Window in the World Bank for up to \$1 milliard of intermediate term lending; expressed the Committee's hope for early progress in the establishment of a Special Trust Fund, toward which end the Committee had urged a comprehensive consideration by the Executive Directors of the IMF; and recorded the Committee's action in establishing a 12-member Working Group on access by developing countries to capital markets, as part of the Committee's approach to the longer-

- term problem of the capital requirements of developing countries. The report noted the role the Development Committee expected to play in facilitating international actions in the field of development and transfer of resources. In this connection, it referred to the need for substantial increases in real terms in external assistance, improved access to capital markets, trade liberalization and commodity arrangements, the effective functioning of the international monetary system, and appropriate domestic policies in developing countries as areas where such possible future actions were needed.
- 3. The Committee was informed by the Managing Director of the IMF of the status of consideration by the IMF's Executive Directors of questions associated with the establishment of a Special Trust Fund. The Committee was also informed of the consensus in the Interim Committee that the IMF sell a portion of its gold for the benefit of developing countries without resulting in a reduction of other resources for their benefit. The Committee welcomed this understanding, and agreed in principle that a Trust Fund should be established using profits derived from IMF gold sales, without neglecting the consideration of other possible sources of financing, for balance of payments assistance primarily to lower income countries. The Committee also agreed to ask the Executive Directors of the IMF to continue their work on the Trust Fund, in response to the Committee's earlier request, with a view to completing it at an early date, taking into account various suggestions which have been made, including the possible use of gold profits for stabilization of export earnings.
- 4. The Committee was also informed by the President of the World Bank of the establishment and of the funding status of the Bank's new Third Window intermediate lending facility. The Committee stressed the important contribution this facility will make toward meeting the capital needs of the developing countries and

urged that additional contributions be made in order to provide sufficient funds to support the \$1 milliard target level of lending operations.

- 5. The Committee agreed that the Executive Board of the IBRD should give prompt consideration to a selective increase of the capital of the IBRD, and subsequently consider a general expansion of the capital base of the Bank.
- 6. The Committee received a status report from the Working Group on Access to Capital Markets, covering the organization of the Group and its initial consideration of measures to support access to capital markets by developing countries, with particular attention to a possible multilateral guarantee facility, and a review of regulatory and other constraints on access to capital markets.
- 7. The Committee reviewed its programme of work for the period immediately ahead, and in addition to the promotion of the establishment of a Special Trust Fund and work on improved access to capital markets, agreed to give special attention at its meetings during 1976:
- to an up-dating and enlargement of the analysis of the situation of developing countries prepared by the World Bank for the Committee's meeting last June, as well as a study of policies which developing countries might pursue to increase their growth;
- to means of improving the current situation affecting resource transfers, taking account of several suggestions made by members of the committee, including quantitative aid targets and their implementation;
- to a survey of the policies, programmes and capital resource situations of the various international and regional lending institutions and initiatives in other international bodies, to help avoid duplication of functions and to promote a coordinated approach to the problem of transfer of resources;

- to the relationship of the current under-utilization of productive capacity in the industrial countries to their development assistance efforts.
- 8. In considering its future work programme, the committee gave special attention to the question of commodity price fluctuations and to their consequences on the export earnings of developing countries. The committee agreed to give priority attention to these questions in its programme work for 1976, including especially possible measures for the financing of buffer stocks, for the stabilization of export earnings, and other efforts to assist the developing countries in the area of trade, and to begin its examination of them at its next meeting.
- 9. The committee confirmed its earlier agreement that it would meet next in Kingston, Jamaica, on 9 and 10 January 1976, immediately following the meeting of the interim committee of the IMF.'



1. Functioning of the common market

internal common marke

Customs union

Tariff measures

Suspensions

Under Article 59(4) of the Act of Accession, the Commission decided on 22 September 1 to extend until 31 December 1975 the 1973 Regulation authorizing the United Kingdom to suspend totally the customs duties on dried asparagus, celery and onions imported from other Member States.

Customs arrangements based on economic considerations

2102. On 23 September, the Commission amended its Directive of 26 March 1973² in respect of certain methods of applying the system of inward processing.

The amendment was necessary to settle questions which have arisen since the enlargement of the Community and to simplify the work of the customs authorities who have to run the administrative controls on the movement of goods under inward processing.

2103. On 26 September, the European Parliament gave its Opinion concerning several Commission Proposals to the Council on opening, allocating and administering tariff quotas for various products.

Internal common market

Economic and commercial law

Community patent

The draft Convention on 'the European patent for the common market', more often called the 'Community Patent' will be reviewed for signature at an Intergovernmental Conference in Luxembourg from 17 November to 15 December 1975, attended by the nine Member States and the Commission. The date of signing, anticipated for May 1974, had been deferred at the request of the United Kingdom.3

2105. On 26 September, the Commission adopted an Opinion on the draft, which was addressed to the Foreign Ministers of the nine Member States and the General Secretariat of the Council, for forwarding to the delegations attending Intergovernmental Conference. This is the second time that the Commission has issued an Opinion on the draft Convention.3

It concerns two amendments to the draft introduced by the 'Community Patent' Group of Experts at the request of the UK, and also the proposal of the French Delegation to limit the application of Articles 32 and 78 of the Convention, which forbid partitioning of the common market by means of patents, for example by prohibiting the import of goods which have been marketed by a patentee, or with his consent, in a

¹ OJ L247 of 23.9.1975.

OJ L 120 of 7.5.1973.
 Bull. EC 4-1974, point 2105.

⁴ OJ L261 of 9.10.1975.

Member State where the Community patent has no effect, or where there is no parallel national patent.

The first amendment alters the principle that the designation of one Member State in an application for a European patent results automatically in the grant of a Community patent throughout the Member States as a whole. Under the amendment, an applicant may during a ten-year transitional period designate one or more Member States only, and the patent will have the effect of a national patent only in the designated Member State or States.

The second amendment removes exclusive jurisdiction over issues relating to the validity of the Community patent from the European Patent Office, and permits national courts to give decisions, which are binding only in that Member State. In the Commission's view, this runs counter to the principle stated in Article 2 of the draft Convention, which provides that the Community patent is to have the same effect in all Member States.

The Commission is therefore of the opinion that these proposals derogate from the basic principles of the Convention and attack the unitary character of the Community patent, to the detriment of free movement of goods in the Community and the creation of equal conditions of competition.

This Opinion is in keeping with the one it issued on 4 April 1974' to the same effect, which was reinforced by the Decision of the Court of Justice in Case 15/74: Centrafarm v Sterling Drug.²

The Commission feels that the proposed limitation of Articles 42 and 78 of the draft Convention are contrary to the principles of the Treaties. In its capacity as guardian of the Treaties, it is therefore obliged to warn the Member States that adoption of the proposals and their application by Member States may result in infringement proceedings under Article 169.

Competition policy

Restrictive agreements, mergers, dominant positions: specific cases

Provisional measures against a patent licensing agreement

2106. The Commission has stated in a provisional Decision, under Article 15(6), in Regulation 17, that clauses in patent licensing agreements which stipulate that the patentee may grant further licences only with the consent of existing licensees contravene the prohibition on restrictive practices under Community law and have no prospect of being approved.

The Decision³ is addressed to the following five Dutch drainage undertakings: NV Heidemaatschappij Beheer, Arnhem; Land Development and Reclamation Company (Lareco) BV Arnhem; BV Grondboorbedrijf J. Moos, Rhoon; De Ruiter Boringen en Bemalingen BV, Halfweg-Haarlemmerliede and Reinders-Wessemius Grondboorbedrijven BV, Emmer-Compascum.

It is based on the following facts:

In 1965 and 1967 NV Heidemaatschappij applied to the Dutch Patent Office for the grant of a patent in respect of a 'Process for installing a drainage system consisting of filtering tubes together with the necessary pumps and the drainage system as thus installed'. The process is designed to lower the water table and is of considerable economic importance particularly

OJ L249 of 25.9.1975.

OJ L109 of 23.4.1974.

² OJ C158 of 17.12.1974 and European Court Reports 1974-6.

in the Netherlands where both public and private awarders of contracts specify that it must be used in connection with virtually all major construction projects. Furthermore, this same process is used for construction projects which extend over national frontiers, such as the laying of long distance oil and gas pipelines.

The other undertakings opposed the grant of the patent to NV Heidemaatschappij on the ground that the process in respect of which the application had been made was in general use. However, NV Heidemaatschappij reached an agreement with these undertakings which resulted in their withdrawing their objection, so that it was subsequently possible for the patent to be granted. In return the four undertakings were each granted a licence and in the licensing agreements NV Heidemaatschappij further undertook not to grant licences to any other interested parties without the consent of not less than two of the abovementioned four undertakings.

When another Dutch undertaking applied for a licence in 1971 this was refused by decision of the undertakings concerned. In 1973 a licence application by a further undertaking was also rejected.

The Commission has adopted the abovementioned provisional measure following a complaint from the latter undertaking.

Termination of an information exchange agreement

2107. As a result of proceedings initiated by the Commission, the Association of Ship's Cable Manufacturers, with headquarters in Wassenaar (Netherlands), embracing 17 firms who together account for about 80% of the production of ship's cables in the Community, has stopped laying down guide prices and preparing tables of deliveries.

These practices, which were part of a procedure for the exchange of information organized by the Association, substantially restricted competition in the common market. In a number of countries domestic cable manufacturers had raised prices uniformly and foreign manufacturers had refrained from making competitive offers. The activities of the Association are now confined to a number of technical fields such as standardization, the introduction of new types of steel and maintaining links with classification societies and shipowners.

Fiscal policy and financial institutions

Financial institutions

Insurance

Defining the unit of account

2108. On 19 September¹ the Commission presented a proposal to the Council amending the Directive of 24 July 1973,² which coordinates indemnity insurance.

This Directive refers several times to the unit of account (u.a.) and specifies that by u.a. is meant the unit defined in Article 4 of the Statute of the European Investment Bank, i.e., the u.a. being worth in terms of gold 0.88867088 gm of fine gold. The use of the gold parity will provoke distortion of competition between the Member

¹ OJ C243 of 23.10.1975.

² OJ L228 of 16.8.1973 and Bull. EC 7/8-1973, point 2122.

2. Economic and monetary union

Fiscal policy

States, largely because a minimum guarantee fund, expressed in u.a., is required of all insurance companies.

On 21 April,' the Council decided to use a European unit of account (EUA), based on a 'basket' of Community currencies, in applying the Lomé Convention, the EUA conversion rate being published daily in the Official Journal of the European Communities. The EIB itself is already using this 'basket' unit in its internal accounting. A procedure is also being drawn up to amend the EIB Statute so that the Board of Governors will be empowered to take certain decisions by itself, in respect of defining the unit of account.

The Commission's proposed Directive would therefore replace the reference to gold, specified in the Directive on coordinating indemnity insurance, by application of the new EUA.

Economic, monetary and financial policy

The Swiss franc and the 'snake'

2201. At the Council meeting in Brussels on 22 September chaired by Mr Colombo, Italy's Treasury Minister, the problems involved in possibly linking the Swiss franc with the Community exchange system were reappraised. In compliance with its request at the July meeting, the Council had received a report on the technical aspects of such a link from the Board of Governors of the European Monetary Cooperation Fund, which had met for the purpose in Washington on 22 September 1975.

The Council took note of a statement by Mr De Clercq, Belgium's Minister of Finance, on the outcome of a meeting which took place the same day between the Finance Ministers and the Governors of the Central Banks of the countries in the Community exchange system on one side, and a Swiss Delegation led by the Minister of Finance and the Governor of the Swiss National Bank, on the other.

The statement indicated that all the delegations at the meeting agreed that they were in favour of linking the Swiss franc to the snake, since it would strengthen the area of European monetary stability. The delegations asked the Governors Committee of the Central Banks to promptly study certain technical problems, which are still to be appraised and to report on the matter at the next meeting. They also agreed that the procedure for linking the Swiss franc would operate in such a way that the Council would always be notified and involved in decisions taken.

¹ OJ L 104 of 24.4.1975 and Bull. EC 4-1975, point 2422.

¹ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2209.

On the last point, Vice-President Haferkamp of the Commission stressed the importance that the Commission attached to this matter and the need to protect the interests of the Community as a whole, and of the Member States presently outside the Community exchange system.

The Council agreed to resume its study of whether the Swiss franc might be linked to the snake, at its next meeting, scheduled for 17 November.

Economic situation

2202. On the strength of a report by the Chairman of the Coordinating Group for short-term economic and financial policies, the Council, at the meeting of 22 September, got down to a fresh discussion of the measures for economic recovery taken or planned by the different member countries.

At the meeting, Vice-President Haferkamp of the Commission highlighted the concordance between national measures for recovery and the decisions reached by the Member States' Finance Ministers' Conference in Venice on 24 August.¹ Recalling the drive to coordinate these measures, Mr Haferkamp pointed out that, through this effort, the Community had played its part at the recent international meetings, and this should be an incentive to intensify convergence between the Member States in economic policy.

Monetary Committee

2203. The Working Party on Securities Markets held its 31st meeting in Brussels on 18 and 19 September chaired by Mr D'Haeze. The group made its regular review of the international bond market and the national capital markets for the second quarter of 1975, and discussed a draft Directive on establishing free movement for

the units of collective investment undertakings for transferable securities.

The fourth meeting of the Group on Harmonization of Monetary Policy Instruments was held in Basle on 23 and 24 September. It was entirely devoted to further analysis of monetary instruments.

Group of Experts on Economic Budgets

2204. The Group of Experts on Economic Budgets met on 30 September to review the economic outlook for 1976 and prepare the data required to draw up the Annual Report on the economic situation in the Community. Comparison of forecasts made by national experts and the Commission services showed broad agreement on the future trend of the main economic aggregates for the various member countries. This outlook allows the conclusion that activity will gradually recover over the months ahead and that inflationary strain will ease to some extent.

Regional policy

Financial operations

European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)

2205. Once regional policy had got off the ground in July with the first meeting of the Fund Committee and of the Regional Policy Committee, and with the filing of a number of applications for aid from the Fund,² more applications

Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2206.

² Bull. EC 6-1975, points 2208 and 2211, and 7/8-1975, point 2219.

Social policy

Social policy

were received and examined in August and September.

Throughout September the Commission has been examining applications for aid from the ERDF filed the previous month by several Member States. These applications, which were still being submitted in September, bear on industrial and infrastructure investment schemes.

Examination of the first and largest group of applications was completed at the end of September. Schemes for modernizing infrastructures, involving more than 10 million u.a., will be submitted to the Regional Policy Committee on 6 and 7 October, and to the Fund Committee on 14 and 15 October. At the same time the Fund will take a decision on all the schemes examined by the Commission.

Social policy

Employment

2206. A Commission paper, reviewed by the ECSC Consultative Committee on 29 September, appraises the effects on employment of the Forward Steel Programme for the fourth quarter of 1975.²

The paper summarizes the first data to hand by reason of the Commission's Decision of 17 July, which requires the Community steel companies to send in certain facts and figures on the trend of employment. It also emphasizes that to a great extent, the steel industry has implemented a policy in keeping with that recommended by the Commission to counter the recession.

The Commission notes that the situation is extremely difficult and that it will remain serious until economic activity in the Community recov-

ers. Even with a general recovery, it will be some time before the iron and steel industry feels the benefit, owing to the volume of stocks of steel or finished products.

Lastly, the Commission notes that the arrangements, referred to in Article 56 of the ECSC Treaty, to retrain workers hit by the closure of certain companies are limited in scope and cannot help very much in the circumstances; the companies can in fact temporarily cut down their activity and their manpower with no thought of closing down. So the Commission is investigating whether there are other possible lines of action under the ECSC Treaty.

Free movement and social security for migrant workers

2207. On 15 September, the Commission presented a Proposal to the Council⁴ to amend the Regulation of 15 October 1968⁵ concerning the free movement of workers, in respect of the extension of trade union rights in favour of migrant workers.

The proposed amendment would include within the heading of equality of treatment in the exercise of union rights, the right of migrant workers to take part in the management and administration of a trade union in the country where they are employed. Based on an opinion expressed by the Member States' trade unions, the amendment had been welcomed by the Advisory Committee on Freedom of Movement for Workers. This extension of trade union

¹ Points 2234 and 2451.

² Point 2233.

³ OJ L190 of 23.7.1975 and Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2223.

OJ C221 of 27.9.1975.
OJ L257 of 19.10.1968.

rights had been ruled out until recently by the nationality requirement imposed by the law of a Member State.

2208. On 17 September, the Commission sent the Council a Proposal to amend the Regulations of 14 June 1971¹ and 21 March 1972² on the application of social security schemes to workers and their families who move within the Community.

The proposed amendments adapt the two Regulations to changes in Member States' laws (particularly those of the United Kingdom), in respect of the conditions for paying social security benefits, and also take account of Member States' decisions in modifying the division of authority of their social security administrations, agencies or institutions, from the angle of applying the Community rules.

2209. The Administrative Committee on Social Security for Migrant Workers, meeting on 25 and 26 September carried on with its appraisal of a number of suggestions which would ensure disability benefits from the United Kingdom³ for workers who, having been insured in the United Kingdom, go and work in one or more other Member States and are disabled there. This question needs further examination.

The Administrative Committee approved a decision on recalculation of the supplement referred to under the Council Regulation of 14 June 1971, in the revaluation of pensions provided by the institutions of other Member States.

Social Fund, re-employment and readaptation

2210. On 29 September, the European Social Fund Committee examined a draft Proposal which the Commission will put to the Council, concerning certain aid from the Fund for occupa-

tional rehabilitation projects, in connection with the recession.

The Committee was also consulted on extending action by the Fund in favour of people employed in the textile industry; this was approved for the apparel industry. Lastly, the Committee gave its opinion on a proposed Commission Regulation establishing the bases for computing certain costs qualifying for Fund aid.

Vocational training and guidance

2211. The Advisory Committee on Vocational Training, meeting in Brussels on 11 September, went on studying the guidelines to be adopted for implementing a common vocational training policy. A Committee working party, made up from both sides of industry and Member States' government experts was instructed to draw up a report on the guidelines, between now and March.

Social security and social action

2212. Sponsored by the Statistical Office, the second meeting of the working party on 'Statistics of social indicators' was held in Brussels on 23 and 24 September. Their assignment is to help the Commission departments in preparing an expanded system of social indicators embracing all the major spheres of social life, as anticipated in the Social Action Programme. In the first stage, the group agreed on a whole set of objective indicators for ten different social spheres. The Statistical Office undertook to establish the various numerical indicators over the coming months.

¹ OJ L 149 of 5.7.1971.

OJ L74 of 27.3.1972.

³ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2224.

Living and working conditions

2213. At a meeting on 9 September, the Commission presented two papers to representatives of the trade unions and employer's associations on workers' asset formation schemes. The first paper, which constitutes a descriptive list of the various schemes now running in the nine Member States, will be revised and updated, with due consideration also to the amendments already put forward by the government experts during an earlier meeting. The discussions centred on the second paper ('problems of asset formation policy'), a supplementary summary report which describes the main problems involved and the basic options implied in applying an asset formation policy.

2214. The Commission approved the following projects under the second tranche of the seventh aid programme for financing low-cost subsidized housing for mining and steel industry personnel:

Luxembourg (steel): 35 dwellings (Lfrs 21944000); Netherlands (steel): 387 dwellings (Fl 2295000); Germany (Cologne collieries): 37 dwellings (DM 370000); (Ruhr collieries): 46 dwellings (DM 394000).

2215. A Communication from the Commission briefed the Council on the work already done by an expert group to improve housing conditions for handicapped people; pilot operations are provided for on the 'elimination of architectural barriers to their mobility'.

This fits in with the first Community action programme for the occupational rehabilitation of handicapped people, which was the subject of a Resolution passed by the Council on 27 June 1974.¹ Elimination of architectural barriers to the mobility of handicapped workers is one of the prerequisites of the desired objective, which is to enable the handicapped to lead a normal life

integrated with society. The independent experts called in by the Commission drew up a list of minimum requirements regarding accessibility for those using wheelchairs, and passageways within dwellings. The Commission plans to call in a group of government experts to study the optimum means of applying the minimum requirements suggested by the independent experts.

Industrial and occupational relations

2216. In preparing to establish a European Trade Union Institute, as indicated in the Social Action programme,² the Commission together with the European Confederation of Trade Unions called a meeting in Hamburg on 18 and 19 September with experts in union training, to get their opinions on how the Institute should work and what its priorities might be.

2217. Under the common transport policy, the Commission, on 17 September, adopted and addressed to the Council a Proposal for a Regulation on certain social provisions for inland waterway transport.³

2218. During the part-session from 22 to 26 September, the European Parliament⁴ gave its Opinion on the 1974 Social Report and on the action programme for migrant workers drawn up by the Commission. The House also passed a Resolution on the guidelines for a Community programme on safety, hygiene and health protection at work.

39

¹ OJ C80 of 9.7.1974 and Bull. EC 6-1974, point 2213.

² Supplement 2/74 — Bull. EC, point 12 and OJ C 13 of 12.2.1974.

Point 2257.

⁴ Points 2404 to 2406.

The Economic and Social Committee, meeting on 24 and 25 September took a position on the Commission's Communication to the Council on equal treatment for male and female workers. and on a Proposal to amend the 1971 and 1972 Regulations on the free movement of workers, in order to standardize the arrangements for paying family allowances to workers with families living in a Member State other than the one in which they work.

Agricultural policy

2219. September was marked by several important developments involving the Community's agricultural budget, new developments in the wine sector (where there are still problems, however) and more flexible import arrangements for beef and yeal.

On 11 September the Commission laid before the Council the section of the fourth draft supplementary and amending budget concerning the EAGGF Guidance Section and the letter of amendment relating to the preliminary draft of the 1976 budget. On 22 September, the Council adopted a draft supplementary and amending budget for 1975 releasing additional appropriations of 260000000 u.a. for the EAGGF Guarantee Section, and on 29 September it adopted the draft budget for 1976 which amounts to 5 160 300 u.a. for that section. In view of the problems raised by the agricultural section of the Community budget during the Council's deliberations, some further explanations are in order.2

The problems on the wine market

The wine crisis, now six months old, has still to be resolved. Beyond their economic features, the problems involved in improving the wine-growing and marketing rules (to rebalance the market) are taking on more and more of a political colour. This transpires from the discussions within the Council, the position taken by one government or another, even the turn of events over recent months and the impossibility of reaching effective solutions.

The facts are not new. After two bumper harvests, a 'wine crisis' was already being talked about as early as April 1975.3 It mainly stems from the wide fluctuation in vineyard output from one year to the next and to a long-term trend towards increased production with consumption neither rising nor falling.

To cope with the situation, the Council decided on major distillation measures.4 On 5 November 1974,5 the Commission had presented a Proposal to amend the Community rules for wine so as to secure a better balance between supply and demand. The main lines for changing the rules were set out in a Council Resolution of 21 April,6 but this was not followed by any practical arrangements.

Last July, finding it impossible to complete the appraisal of the Commission's Proposals on measures to adapt wine-growing potential to market needs, and on the amendments to be made to the basic rules on wine, the Council had agreed to resume its work on this at a special meeting early in September.

On 9 September, it again considered all the measures to clear up the wine market on a medium- and long-term basis and to put an end to the upheavals in the wine trade between France and Italy. At the close of the proceed-

Points 2445 and 2450.

Points 2462 to 2469.

³ Bull. EC 4-1975, points 2235 to 2239. ⁴ OJ L30 of 4.2.1975, L103 of 23.4.1975, L164 of 27.6.1975 and Bull. EC 4-1975, point 2236.

⁵ Bull. EC 11-1974, point 2245.

OJ C90 of 23.4.1975.

ings, the Council could record some alignment on several of these questions, particularly in respect of planting arrangements and various market-support measures, plus some specific issues. But the Ministers of Agriculture found no solution that would regularize the wine trade between Italy and France.

The French Government therefore invoking the provisions of Article 31 of the basic Regulation, concerning the safeguard clause in intra-Community trade, notified the Commission that it had decided to tax wine imports suitable for table wines, and table wines from Italy as from 12 September. The tax amounts to FF 1.13 per degree per hectolitre for all categories of wine.

After a searching appraisal from the legal angle, the Commission informed the French Government that it considered that the measures announced had no basis in the Article concerned, since it was inapplicable, and that they must therefore be rescinded.¹

At the same time, the Commission decided to adopt measures to ease the marketing of table wines, either on the markets of non-member countries, or on the markets within the Community. So, on 19 September,² export refunds (0.65/degree/hl) were set for red wines of the type RI and RII and for white wine of the type AI. The refunds will be granted on exports to all non-member countries except those in the Americas and those who have undertaken to adhere to the reference price.

On 25 September, the Commission decided³ to discontinue, from 29 September, the monetary compensatory amounts for certain wines (types RI, RII and AI), which were in force in Germany.

At its meeting of 29 and 30 September, the Council again got down to a searching appraisal of these problems, and on the strength of this, the Commission agreed to work out an overall compromise Proposal for the Council meeting on 13-14 October 1975.⁴

New proposal for market organization

2221. On 10 September,⁵ the Commission presented a Proposal to the Council for a Regulation on transitional organization of the mutton and lamb market, one of the last agricultural products not yet covered by the common policy.

The Commission wants to secure free movement within the Community for these products, with due regard to the need for a running-in period to adjust national arrangements to a single market. Transitional common organization will apply from 1 January 1976 to 31 December 1977, the end of the transitional period stipulated in the Accession terms for the United Kingdom, Ireland and Denmark.

The mutton and lamb market, a very big one in France, Ireland and the United Kingdom, runs on very different lines in those three countries. To achieve freedom of intra-Community trade, the Commission is proposing to ban application of national taxes or quantitative restrictions in trade between the Member States, while trade with non-member countries would for the time being still be governed by the national arrangements in force on 1 August 1975. French imports of livestock and mutton and lamb originating in Ireland and the United Kingdom will bear a compensatory amount covering the difference between prices on the various respective markets, less transport charges. Customs duties between the old and new Member States will be applied degressively, as stipulated in the Accession Treaty, i.e., until 1 July 1977, when they will be totally eliminated.

¹ The Commission announced to the Council, at its meeting of 13 and 14 October, that it had decided to initiate the infringement procedure under Article 169 against the French Government.

² OJ L246 of 20.9.1975.

³ OJ L250 of 26.9.1975.

⁴ Agreement could not be reached at that meeting.

OJ C243 of 23.10.1975.

To assist producers in adjusting their output to demand, the Commission is observing the principle of direct aid.

As regards national subsidies applied by the United Kingdom within its national scheme of guaranteed prices, the Commission's Proposal would establish the principle of gradual reduction. Moreover, any national aid in the mutton and lamb sector must also be subject to verification to determine whether it is compatible with the Community competition rules (Articles 92 to 94 of the Treaty of Rome).

Lastly, the Proposal provides scope for applying, when required, certain safeguards, as in most of the common organizations in agriculture. A Management Committee for mutton and lamb will also be formed, made up of Member States' representatives and chaired by a Commission representative.

Measures in connection with the monetary situation

2222. The monetary compensatory amounts were adjusted three times in September.

As from 16 September, the amounts in the *milk* sector had to be adjusted to allow for the new intervention prices. In calculating these amounts consideration was given to the adjustments in the Benelux countries of the intervention prices deriving from the new representative rates set last February. For those countries, the adjustments had been delayed until 16 September 1975 by a Council Decision.

As from 29 September,³ the monetary compensatory amounts applicable in Germany to the *wine sector* were discontinued for certain table wines.

From the same date, the monetary compensatory amounts were adjusted following the movement of the exchange rates for the UK and Irish pounds.

Common organization of the markets

2223. In September, the Council formally adopted the four Regulations which supplement the points of the 'Mediterranean' agricultural compromise reached in June 1975.

The Council signified its agreement on the guidelines to be followed in completing the amendments to the basic Regulation on organization of the sugar market. It also reviewed the matter of long-term agreements for the supply of foodstuffs, the aim being to ensure stable outlets for the products of European agriculture such as cereals, sugar, milk products and beef and veal; the Commission recommended a contract of this type with Egypt.

2224. Mainly in order to ensure reasonable prices for deliveries to the consumer and to ensure a reliable normal supply for the Community, the basic Regulation for *sugar* stipulates that a scheme of minimum stocks be set up; in principle, the stock must amount to 10% of each company's basic quota, or 10% of a company's production when its output is below its basic quota. On 23 September, the Commission proposed to the Council that the minimum stock scheme be applied from the start of the 1976/77 sugar production year and that it be applied uniformly for the whole Community.

2225. On 29 September,⁵ the Council formally adopted the three Regulations completing the constituents of the Mediterranean agricultural compromise reached in June⁶ for fresh and

OJ L242 of 16.9.1975.

² OJ L52 of 28.2.1975 and Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2226.

³ OIL250 of 26.9.1975.

⁴ Bull. EC 6-1975, points 2239 to 2242 and Bull. EC 7/8-1975, points 2248 and 2249.

⁵ OJ L254 of 1.10.1975.

⁶ Bull. EC 6-1975, points 2239 to 2242 and Bull. EC 7/8-1975, points 2248 and 2249.

processed fruit and vegetables. In the main this involves adapting the schemes of market penetration and processing premiums for citrus fruits in the Council Regulations of 9 and 18 December 1969 and includes an amendment to the reference prices system in the Regulation of 18 May 1972. The new common trade arrangements for processed fruit and vegetable products came into force on 1 September 1975, in respect of tomato concentrates, peeled tomatoes and tomato juices. The arrangements will apply from 1 October 1975 for the other products involved.

Again on 29 September, the Council adopted a Regulation laying down specific rules on importing wine sector products originating in certain non-member countries.

The Regulation follows up the agreement in principle signified by the Council in June² as part of the Mediterranean agricultural compromise, in respect of new provisions for adhering to the reference price. The new arrangements stipulate that a free-frontier reference price will be set which must be respected, so that imported wine may enjoy the advantages provided in the preferential agreements to be concluded, in particular with the Maghreb countries.

The Commission continued to improve the intervention system and apply the safeguard clause to beef and veal imports.

Imports have been severely restricted since 27 June 1974.² At the end of September Community stocks of beef and veal held in intervention were 250000 tonnes, including 87000 in Ireland, 60000 in Germany, 41000 in France and 36000 in Denmark. Intervention measures by means of tenders adopted in September³ include the fixing of maximum amounts of aid for private storage of carcase meat and the setting of sale prices for meat in public storage. These measures cover respectively 11440 tonnes, and 27320 tonnes of meat.

But on 29 September,4 the Commission decided to relax the import suspensions even further. The initial steps taken in this direction in April 1975' were renewed and expanded. So, as from 1 October 1975:

- (a) under the EXIM arrangements, imported consignments may from now on amount to double the exported quantities, as staggered, and an exported 100 kg of meat on the bone may entail imports of 80 kg of boned meat as against the 60 kg authorized hitherto;
- (b) under the importing arrangements for calves and young cattle, fresh scope is offered to the two Member States concerned; between now and 31 December 1975, Italy will be able to import 29100 and Germany 900 animals for fattening; and the special arrangement for certain Alpine breeds has been extended until 31 December 1975 as well.

Since the end of August prices on the pigmeat market have again been rising and may be considered satisfactory for both producers and consumers; the level at present is 5% above the basic price.6

On 30 September, the Commission sent the Council codification Proposals for the Community rules for fishery products. This is the fifth set of Regulations codifying the Council's derived agricultural law.

43

OJ L256 of 2.10.1975.

² Bull. EC 6-1974, point 2246 and Bull. EC 10-1974, point 2242.

OJ L 241 of 13.9.1975 and L 244 of 18.9.1975.

OJ L253 of 30.9.1975.

Bull. EC 4-1975, point 2247 and Bull. EC 6-1975, point 2250.

Bull. EC 6-1975, point 2251. Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2232.

The safeguards applicable to French imports of tunny for industrial processing were extended¹ until 31. December 1975. There are now hopes that the crisis situation for this product will take a turn for the better; but unsold stocks on hand still require the exceptional measures applied since last February.2

Competition conditions

Under the provisions of Article 93(1) of the EEC Treaty, the Commission, in September, proposed to the Member States certain measures advisable for the assessment of certain current aids in the main breeding areas, i.e., beef and dairy cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry. These pointers also fit in with the approach towards achieving the intentions expressed by the Commission in the Stocktaking of the Common Agricultural Policy³ in respect of distortion of competition.

Having appraised this aid with the Member States, the Commission presented them with all the appropriate measures on aid whose allocation between the various sectors concerned can be determined. It suggested that the Member States give favourable consideration to the various types of aid which can facilitate the development of stockbreeding in the Community while obviating distortion of competition conditions by measures unharmonized at Community level. This covers, for instance, aid to research, certain investments etc.; limits are stipulated for the amounts. It was also proposed to authorize aid to cover surveillance charges or other procedures entailed by national or Community law.

On the strength of Article 93(3) of the EEC Treaty, the Commission decided to invoke the procedure under Article 93(2) against the Netherlands Government in respect of aid to partially offset the very substantial rise in prices of fuel used to heat horticultural greenhouses.

The Commission was obliged to find that this aid exceeded the sum corresponding to 33.33%

of the rise in the price of fuel, a rate stipulated by the Commission in 'guidelines' of 20 April 1975,5 concerning compensation against the increased cost of fuel used in underglass horticulture. The Commission therefore felt that the excess of Dutch aid could not be accepted under the competition rules of the Treaty regarding State aid.

But as regards the aid for big and small consumers of natural gas in horticulture, the Commission decided to close the procedure under Article 93(2) of the EEC Treaty invoked in March 1975, since the Dutch Government had discontinued such aid.

Industrial and technological policy

Industry

Iron and steel

2232. Conditions on the steel market, serious enough in the spring to make the Community adopt a number of measures in May and June, have since deteriorated. This led to various talks and meetings in September and early October and obliged the Commission to adopt a new forward steel programme for the last quarter of the year.

Forecasts: a 23.5% fall in production

On 17 September, the Commission approved and sent to the ECSC Consultative Committee, its forward steel programme for the

OJ L254 of 1.10.1975 and Bull. EC 6-1975, point

Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2233.
 Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2228 and Supplement 2/75
 Bull. EC, points 126 and 127 (i).
 OJ C217 of 23.9.1975.

Bull. EC 4-1975, point 2246. OJ L130 of 21.5.1975 and Bull. EC 5-1975, point 2238; OJ C143 of 26.6.1975.

Table 1—Crude steel production: October-December 1975

(in millions of tonnes)

	Germany	France	Italy	Nether- lands	BLEU	United Kingdom	Ireland and Denmark	Community
October-December 1974	13.25	7.09	6.06	1.53	5.39	5.71	0.17	39.20
October-December 1975	9.50	5.20	5.00	1.05	4.00	5.00	0.20	29.95
% +/-	- 28.3	- 26.7	- 17.5	- 31.4	- 25.8	- 12.4	+ 17.6	- 23.6

last quarter of 1975, which, after a favourable Opinion from the Committee, was formally adopted on 8 October.²

As against the same period in 1974, it anticipates a fall of 23.6% in Community crude steel output. This assumes that the present level of economic activity is maintained up to the end of the year. It is in fact unlikely that the recovery action taken or planned by various governments will have any appreciable impact on the demand for steel before the end of the year.

This estimate, added to results already known, should bring output for the whole of 1975 up to 125 000 000 tonnes, i.e., the 1968 figure. The breakdown by country for estimated production in the last quarter of 1975 is shown in Table 1.

The fall in actual steel consumption during this quarter should be roughly 15%. Stocks should continue to go down and exports to non-Community countries, estimated at 7 000 000 tonnes, will follow the recent trend in orders.

These forecasts imply that employment possibilities in the steel industry³ will continue to shrink, without appreciably cutting down manpower in any way other than through short-time working or people leaving of their own accord.

The Commission notes finally that although this current recession has hit the steel industry harder than other sectors of the economy, this is apparently due to several causes: some branches of

industry which are among the biggest steel consumers have been very hard hit by the recession; consumers' stocks have fallen; and exports have appreciably declined.

Attitude of the ECSC Consultative Committee

2234. The problems of the steel market¹ dominated discussions of the ECSC Consultative Committee, meeting in Rome on 29 September. The producers' position was outlined by Mr Ferry who asked the Commission to make full use of the possibilities offered by the ECSC Treaty and to provide for exceptional procedures also. Mr Spinelli of the Commission made no secret of the fact that the position of the iron and steel industry had deteriorated further than expected. He considered that only an all-round recovery of the economy would halt the crisis in iron and steel.

At the end of the debate, the Committee passed the following Resolution:

'Having regard to the report on the forward steel programme for October-December 1975 which has been referred for examination to the Consultative Committee.

Point 2451.

OJ C231 of 10.10.1975.

Point 2206.

Having regard to the statements made in this document to the effect that "the member countries of the European Community are currently experiencing the most severe and prolonged economic recession of their recent history" and that "the impact of the recession on the steel industry was much more severe than on overall production",

Having regard to the worsening unemployment situation and the 'continuation of the reduction of employment opportunities' which the Commission reports in this document,

Whereas the position of the Community steel industries is critical,

The ECSC Consultative Committee requests the Commission:

- (1) to devise measures which are appropriate in view of the urgency and seriousness of the current situation and which are in accordance with the basic objectives of the Treaty establishing the ECSC;
- (2) to consider simultaneously the various aspects of the social effects of the present economic crisis, with particular regard to the reduction of employment and of workers' income and to the appropriate counter-measures;
- (3) to submit these measures at the earliest possible date, in so far as they require the approval of the Council of Ministers, to a meeting of this body to be specially convened for the purpose.³¹

The Commission's appraisal

2235. After the ECSC Consultative Committee meeting, Mr Spinelli, on 7 October, received top executives in iron and steel to discuss the serious situation of the Community industry.

Continuing its appraisal, the Commission on 8 October decided to speed up the study of all

measures which could be applied to secure a better balance between prices and markets.

Technology

Data processing

2236. On 22 September the Commission presented in a Communication to the Council the initial components of a medium-term programme for Community policy in the field of data processing. These were accompanied by a limited number of specific Proposals, which are a follow-up to the initial Proposals for priority projects on computer applications, sent to the Council in March 1975,² in accordance with the resolution adopted by the Council on 15 July 1974.³

Spread over five years, these *Proposals* require an overall financing of 23065000 u.a. The schemes proposed, which should start in 1976, are to be part of a wider multiannual programme, the groundwork for which is laid down in the Communication, and which could start in January 1977. Four strategic data-processing sectors are affected.

(i) Standardization

The Commission proposes the development of a common real-time programming language to give users access to a wider range of products and facilitate programme exchanges (cost: 6.7 million u.a.).

(ii) Softwear portability

The aim is to make computer applications more independent of the manufacturer by means of a softwear development policy (cost: 9.4 million u.a.).

OJ C235 of 15.10.1975.

² Bull. EC 2-1975, points 1501 to 1507.

OJ C86 of 20.7.1974.

(iii) The use and protection of data

An effort must be made to ensure the security and confidentiality of data (project A), to improve programming techniques, thus increasing the viability and efficiency of the systems (project B), and finally, to supply the ever-increasing number of Data-Base systems with more general instruments for their evaluation (project C) (total cost: 5 million u.a.).

(iv) Data-processing applications

To supplement the initial Proposals already sent to the Council, the Commission has adopted two new projects of vital importance to data processing and communication:

- a project for the development of a documentary retrieval package capable of meeting the common needs of many institutions in the Community (cost: 470000 u.a. in 1976);
- an experimental action project to develop European experience in advanced techniques of high speed communication likely to benefit the performance of the communications' network of the international bodies and projects involved (CERN, European Space Agency, COST Project 11,1 etc.) (cost: 920000 u.a.).

The definition of a medium-term programme to be put forward in 1976 hinges upon the implementation of two main backup schemes:

- support for industry with a view to equalizing competitive conditions (particularly in the area of sales financing) and to achieving economies of scale by means of rationalization, production, development and cooperative procurement agreements (notably in respect of peripherals and terminals, as well as advanced compon-
- machinery for the financing, monitoring and implementation of such support.

The Commission document also makes provision for a number of exploratory studies to provide the groundwork essential for a programme of this scale (cost: 500000 u.a.).

2237. On 23 September² the European Parliament gave its Opinion on the Commission's first Communication to the Council in February³ concerning the initial Proposals for priority projects in data-processing.

The Economic and Social Committee, meeting on 24 and 25 September, issued an Opinion on the use of telecommunication resources and the correlations between telecommunications and transport.

Nuclear industry

On 2238. 22 September⁴ the Council approved an amendment to the statutes of the d'énergie belgo-française mosane (SEMO). This provides for an increase in the company's share capital from 2500 to 3 000 million francs. SEMO was established as a joint undertaking by a decision taken by the Council on 26 November 1974.5

Science. research and development, education, scientific and technical information

Science, research and development

Energy research

Euratom/IAEA cooperation agreement

On 15 September 1975, the Council of the Communities approved the cooperation agreement between Euratom and the Internation-

Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2271.

Points 2409 and 2447.

Bull. EC 2-1975, points 1501 to 1507. OJ L251 of 27.9.1975.

OJ L325 of 5.12.1974.

al Atomic Energy Agency. This was also approved by the General Conference of the Agency on 26 September.¹

Advisory Committees on Programme Management (ACPM)

2240. Following its Decision of 15 July 1975² adopting an energy research and development programme, the Council has set up *five advisory committees on programme management* (ACPM) for the five main objectives: economies of energy, production and utilization of hydrogen, solar energy, geothermal energy and systems analysis (development of models). Three of these ACPMs met in September.

The ACPM for systems analysis elected Mr McAlister as Chairman on 23 September 1975. It made a preliminary review of the problems to be solved in order to develop a European energy model and decided to instruct a select experts' working party to prepare a list of current activities in the member countries and possibly to draft a proposal for a plan of action in this field.

At its first meeting on 24 September 1975, the ACPM for energy conservation elected Mr Preston as Chairman and agreed that invitations to submit research proposals in the eight sectors covered by the programme should be issued in the Community.

The ACPM for solar energy met for the first time on 29 September 1975, when Mr Chabbal was elected Chairman. It postponed to its next meeting a decision on the choices to be made in the light of the reports to be written for each of the programme's sections by select experts' working parties.

Scientific and Technical Research Committee

2241. The Scientific and Technical Research Committee (CREST) held its 16th meeting on 25

and 26 September 1975 with Mr Schuster in the Chair. It examined the proposals submitted to the Council by the Commission for R & D projects on environmental protection and the Community Bureau of References³ and finalized two reports on them for the Permanent Representatives Committee. It also approved the terms of reference for an ad hoc working party on the calibration and intercalibration of oceanographic instruments which would report to CREST within nine months and submit proposals for projects in that field.

Finally, the Committee noted proposals for studies and seminars in 1975 in the sectors of medical research (220000 u.a.), energy (172000 u.a.), town planning (50000 u.a.), materials (25000 u.a.), scientific policy in general (44000 u.a.) and futurology (82000 u.a.).

Meeting of senior officials in the field of scientific and technical research

2242. The Committee of Senior Officials in the field of scientific and technical research (COST) met on 8 and 9 September 1975 in Brussels with Mr Silver in the Chair. It gave its agreement to its Chairman's proposal, drafted in the Scientific and Technical Research Committee (CREST), for the opening of a general appropriation of 900000 u.a. to finance studies and expert reports on the work of COST.

The Committee also adopted a preliminary draft agreement on the implementation of a project concerning electronic traffic aids on major roads (project 30) subject to a final technical examination of the project from the aspect of developments in the motor vehicle situation. It discussed two further projects: oceanographic and

¹ Point 2319.

² Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2263, and OJ L231 of

³ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, points 1501 to 1505.

meteorological data buoy network in European waters (project 43) and redundancy reduction techniques in video telephone services (project 211), the usefulness of which was stressed.

Europe + 30

2243. The final report of the feasibility study 'Europe + 30' was sent to the Commission on 30 September by Lord Kennet, director of the project. The project had been launched in 1974' following a Council Resolution on a programme of research as an instrument of forecasting, assessment and methodology in the European Communities. The main purpose of the study was to reply to the following two questions:

- In the context of the common scientific and technological policy, should the European Communities undertake a major study entitled 'Europe + 30' concerning foreseeable or potential developments over the next thirty years which are likely to affect the progress of Europe, and if so, will this study make it possible in particular to create a forecasting instrument which can be constantly updated?
- Should the European Communities create their own Technology Assessment Office in an attempt to evaluate in advance the effects of scientific and technological development on the society and economy of the Community?

These questions, first posed in mid-1973,² are of particular importance in the current economic crisis in which Europe finds itself almost entirely dependent on imported raw materials.

The report replies 'yes' to the first question. Although in all the Member States there are several bodies concerned with forward research, none of them prepare overall forecasts for the Community, an omission that should be made good. What is needed is an independent Com-

munity instrument that would cooperate closely with the specialized national bodies and with other Community institutes, such as the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living Conditions and the Institute of the European Communities for Economic Research and Analysis. There are 16 main fields in which it would be desirable to prepare long-term forecasts and identify interdependent relationships conditioning progress. These include agriculture, social structures, science, technology, industry, energy, raw materials, environment, communications and economic and financial structures.

After reviewing existing methodologies, the report concludes that none of them is suitable for use in all these fields, each of which calls for specific treatment. However, it is essential to ensure that the data in the various studies are consistent, and to integrate the studies so as to obtain a realistic overall view.

On the second question, the report concludes that technology assessment studies are too closely related to other long term forecasting activities to justify establishment of a separate European office. Such studies should be carried out by the Community forecasting instrument referred to above.

The final report on the feasibility study 'Europe + 30' will be taken as the basis for a proposal to be forwarded to the Council in 1976, on Community work in the area of forecasting, assessment and methodology.

Education

Education Committee

2244. The Education Committee, chaired by Mr Marchini Camia (Italy), met on 18, 19 and

¹ Bull. EC 1-1974, point 1405.

² Bull. EC 7/8-1973, points 1601 to 1607.

29 September. At these meetings, which followed on from those held in July, the Committee completed discussion of its draft report and continued its examination of action proposals to put forward, with the report, at the next meeting of Education Ministers.

2245. On 22 September 1975, the European Parliament adopted three Resolutions, one on education in the European Community, another on the system of European schools and a third on the allocation of aid to higher educational establishments.

Scientific and technical information and information management

2246. During the month of September 1975, as part of the implementation of the three-year Action Plan for scientific and technical information, a methodology study on the inclusion of patent literature in sectoral information and documentation systems was contracted with a British institution competent in this field.

2247. Furthermore, the Commission participated as observer in a meeting at Geneva of the group of governmental experts on the role of the patent system in the transfer of technology (Committee on the transfer of technology of the Trade and Development Board of UNCTAD—the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development), and in the seventh ordinary session of the Plenary Committee of ICIREPAT (International Cooperation in Information Retrieval among Examining Patent Offices) of WIPO (World Intellectual Property Organization), also at Geneva.

2248. The Third International Conference on Structural Mechanics in Reactor Technology, held in London on 1 to 5 September 1975, was attended by some 1000 participants. It was

sponsored by the Commission and the British Nuclear Energy Society (BNES). This meeting enabled scientists and engineers from many different countries to compare notes on the major problems which the constructors of nuclear power reactors have to face today. Most of these problems have a direct bearing on reactor safety.

The departments of the Commission held a workshop on 22 to 24 September 1975 on the subject 'Intramural versus extramural care: The role of technology'. The basic aim of the meeting was to bring out the ways in which biomedical engineering could best solve the practical problems facing doctors and social workers in the European Community today when they have to weigh up the pros and cons of treatment and care inside the hospital, as against treatment and care of patients living at home. Clearly advances in biomedical engineering could make it possible to switch more and more to the latter solution, which is by and large preferable both from the point of view of the patient and from that of the medical and social services. Recommendations were drafted as to the action which could be taken at European level.

Energy policy

Preparing and implementing a common energy policy

Energy savings

2250. On 22 September, the Commission addressed a Communication to the Council, backed by a draft Resolution, in which it propo-

Points 2411 and 2412.

ses to reduce energy consumption in the short-term, i.e., in 1976-77.

The Commission considers that unless an extra effort is made to save energy any economic recovery in the Community would increase energy requirements in 1976 and 1977, particularly if the average annual GDP growth rate stabilizes around 4%.

In the light of this, it proposes the following short-term targets for the Community as a whole:

- energy consumption in 1976 to stabilize slightly above the 1973 level (932 million toe) and the growth of 1977 consumption to be limited to 35 million toe (also by comparison with 1973);
- oil consumption to be maintained both for 1976 and 1977 at some 10% below consumption in 1973.

To achieve these targets, the Commission requests Member States to continue the efforts already under way in this field and to step up their action in the following areas:

- (i) national administrations and public institutions;
- (ii) public information;
- (iii) advice and assistance to consumers;
- (iv) incentives such as loans, tax concessions etc.;
- (v) strengthening necessary structures in national administrations.

Sectoral problems

Oil and gas

2251. On 12 September, the Commission presented a report to the Council on Community

imports of crude oil, in accordance with the provisions of the Council Regulation of 18 May 1972¹ on notifying the Commission of oil and gas imports. The report summarizes information to hand on imports of crude oil for 1974 and the first half of 1975.

Coal

Aid to the coal industry

2252. As part of the measures under energy policy, the Commission on 15 and 22 September sent the Council two papers on the Community coal industry. One is a report on problems arising in the past from aid to the coal industry and on the practical experience gained in this field. The other is a draft Decision in which the Commission defines criteria for the future aid scheme for the coal industry.

The sole aim of the report on the experience gained concerning aid over recent years is to keep the Council informed. The Council will have to take a unanimous decision on the other hand, on the draft Decision relating to future aid. The draft proposes rules to be applied over the next ten years, i.e., 1976 to 1985, rules which follow the guidelines defined by the Commission in November 1974 in respect of coal policy² and which allow for changes in the energy market.

Investment trends and extraction potential

2253. The replies from the coal companies in the Commission's annual survey show that the changes in the energy supply situation and the new coal output targets have had a considerable impact on investment plans. Capital expenditure in 1975 is expected to be 514 million u.a.,

OJ L 120 of 25.5.1972.

² Bull. EC 11-1974, point 2269.

as against 324 million u.a. in 1974, and represents an investment of about 2.2 u.a. per tonne of coal produced. The achievement of the objective of a maintenance of coal extraction potential at its present level is clearly not only dependent on the level of capital investment, but also on other factors — not least the ability of the industry to recruit and keep manpower. The enterprises are nevertheless now beginning to invest at a rate which could slow down the reduction of capacities.

After a considerable decrease in extraction potential between 1974 and 1975, Community extraction potential could be maintained at the level of 264 million tonnes (247 toe) between 1975 and 1978. However the maintenance of this level may only be made possible by an increase in planned output potential at opencast mines which offsets the expected decrease of 4 million tonnes in deep-mining potential over the period. In addition, the reductions in and postponement of planned closures on coalfields with less favourable long-term development prospects will contribute as much to the maintenance of output as the new increases in potential announced on more favourably placed coalfields such as the Ruhr, the British Midlands and Yorkshire.

2254. On 23 September, the European Parliament passed two Resolutions on energy problems: (a) Community policy in the hydrocarbon sector and the financial aspects of Community projects concerning hydrocarbons and (b) guidelines for the electricity sector.

Transport policy

Harmonization

2255. A start was made in September on the work planned to put the accountancy and annual

accounts of the railway companies on a comparable basis and to set out uniform principles for calculating costs in rail transport. The Council's Decision of 20 May,² on putting the railway companies on a sound footing and harmonizing the rules governing the financial relations between companies and States, had provided that measures would be adopted in this direction and that uniform principles would be laid down for calculating such costs.

A working party on finance and accounting systems was formed, within the group of the nine Community countries belonging to the International Union of Railways (IUR), to prepare a relevant Commission Proposal, to be laid before the Council early enough for it to take a decision by 1 January 1978.

A sub-group on accounting systems had its first meeting in Brussels on 3 September to study, on the basis of earlier work by the IUR (codification of accounts), the comparability of accounting systems and annual accounts of the railway companies; a sub-group on cost calculation began work on 11 September to lay down uniform principles in this field.

2256. On 15 September a meeting of government experts took place to finalize the preliminary draft of a Directive on mutual recognition of certificates of sailing worthiness for inland waterway shipping as an initial measure of technical surveillance. It was agreed to make a start as swiftly as possible on working out standard technical provisions so that the certificates can be drawn up on a common basis for all the Member States.

2257. On 17 September, the Commission presented a Proposal to the Council for a Regul-

Points 2407 and 2408.

OJ L152 of 12.6.1975 and Bull. EC 5-1975, point + 2257.

3. External relations

Transport policy

ation on the harmonization of certain social provisions in transport by inland waterway.

The Proposal is the first move in introducing rules to govern social conditions in transport by inland waterway within the Community. It aims at providing better social protection for boatmen, with due regard for the safety and economic operation of shipping, and to harmonize conditions of competition.

Fitting in to the common transport policy, the Proposal was drawn up in implementation of the Council Decision of 13 May 1965, which provides, in each type of transport, for the approximation of all regulations relating to working conditions, the standardization of manning provisions and certain monitoring methods.

The measures for harmonization advocated by the Commission in its proposed regulation concern the following items: total working hours and breaks; number of working hours at the helm or radar screen; daily rest periods; periodic rest breaks instead of weekly rest periods, in inland waterway transport; annual holidays and public holidays; manning of different types of boats; monitoring methods.

2258. During its plenary session of 24 and 25 September, the Economic and Social Committee' issued a supplementary Opinion on the Commission's Communication to the Council of 24 October 1973 on the development of the common transport policy, and an Opinion on using telecommunication facilities and their correlation with transport.

Multilateral negotiations

Trade Negotiations Committee

Agriculture

2301. The Agriculture Group of the Trade Negotiations Committee (TNC), which met from 22 to 26 September, did not manage to settle all the questions of procedure which had cropped up at the July meetings; there are still differences of approach.

The Member States of the Community, Japan and the developing countries, pleading the specificity of agricultural problems, are asking for the Agriculture Group to have general authority and are calling for a broader procedure covering all farm products apart from those falling within the three negotiating sub-groups (cereals, meat, milk products). The United States, Canada and Australia however, find it hard to accept separating the negotiating bodies in respect of agricultural and industrial products and they are asking for rules of general application.

Commercial policy

Preparing and implementing the common commercial policy

Trade agreements: renewals, derogations or authorizations

2302. On 16 September 1975,² the Council decided to authorize the extension or tacit renewal of a number of trade agreements

OJ 88 of 24.5.1965.

² Points 2446 and 2447.

¹ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2305.

² OJ L247 of 23.9.1975.

between Member States and non-member countries (3rd tranche 1975), which expire or are due to be terminated between 1 August and 31 October 1975.

Trade protection

Subject to amendments of detail, the Council, on 22 September, adopted a Regulation confirming the emergency measures introduced on 14 August² by the Commission in respect of imports of certain textile products originating in South Korea.

Specific measures of commercial policy

Textiles

Agreement with Macao

Negotiations for an agreement with Macao on trade in textile products took place on 24 and 15 September with Portugal acting for Macao. The negotiations culminated in an agreement and the text was initialled on 27 September.

Based on Article 4 of the Geneva Multifibres Arrangement, the draft agreement covers the period 1 October 1975 to 31 December 1977 and carries quantitative limits on exports from Macao to the Community. The limits, some of which involve the markets of only a few Member States, bear in particular on certain articles in the ready-made clothing sector.

Agreement with Singapore

Negotiations for an agreement on trade in textile products between the Community and

Singapore were held from 22 to 27 September, again under the provisions of Article 4 of the Geneva Arrangement. The text of the draft agreement, initialled on the last day of the negotiations, provides quantitative limits between 1975 and 1977 for Singapore's exports to the Community. These bear mainly on trousers and, as regards certain regions of the Community market, cotton fabrics and certain ready-made articles.

Following the negotiations with Singapore and Macao, there are now five bilateral arrangements made by the Community under the Multifibres Arrangement (MFA) since three have already been concluded; with India,3 Pakistan and Hong Kong.⁴

Negotiations with South Korea

2306. A new round of negotiations with Korea for an agreement on trade in textile products,5 the fifth, ran during the second half of September. Following the proposals by the Korean Delegation (based on those made earlier by the Commission), the discussions yielded substantial alignment between the positions of the two delegations who agreed to resume the negotiations shortly.

Consultation with Hong Kong

2307. As requested by Hong Kong, consultations were held in the second half of September on questions involving application of the Textiles Agreement of last August,4 and in particular on

¹ OJ L248 of 24.9.1975. ² Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2306 and OJ L217 of 15.8.1975.

Bull. EC 4-1975, point 2309.
 Bull. EC 7/8-1975, points 2310 and 2311.

⁵ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2313.

Development and cooperation

the scope for exports over the current year, with due regard to the quantitative limits agreed for 1975. It transpired from the talks that the problem was less extensive than had been supposed; the Community, moreover, felt that the provisions of the Agreement enabled any difficulties to be resolved.

Development and cooperation

Cooperation and development policy

Renewing the dialogue between the industrialized and developing countries

2308. At its meeting of 16 September, the Council decided to accept the French Government's invitation to the Community to attend a fresh preparatory meeting on 13 October between the industrialized and developing countries. The dialogue initiated at the preparatory meeting in Paris from 7 to 16 April 1975' could not go on because of the divergence of opinion on the nature and extent of the problems to be discussed.

Economic relations with the developing countries

2309. The Commission attended the fourth meeting on 22 and 23 September of the high-level ad hoc group, formed within the OECD, on economic relations with the developing countries. It was dominated by the results of the 7th Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly and by the impending renewal of the Paris dialogue.

Appraising first the repercussions of the 7th Special Session, the group found that the broad agreement reached in New York, to which the Community made a positive contribution, should soon take the shape of practical measures to assist development.

It made a preliminary review of the scope for industrial and technological cooperation between the industrialized and developing countries and decided that certain particular features of this cooperation, such as the role of public development aid, and international investment, must be given further study.

Lastly, the group discussed recent international moves involving the transfer of resources and the financial proposals made by the United States at the UN Special Session.

Development Assistance Committee

2310. The Community's development aid policy in 1974 was reviewed at a special meeting of the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) run on 30 September as part of the series of reviews which the OECD makes every year in respect of its members' cooperation policies.

The Committee was pleased to record that Community aid had grown considerably in 1974, following up the substantial increase in 1973. Disbursements by the EDF and EIB rose from 200000000 u.a. in 1973 to 212000000 u.a. in 1974. This is the result of the sums paid out under food aid (217000000 as against 121000000 u.a. in 1973) and emergency aid (73000000 u.a.) for the benefit of the Sahel and as part of the United Nations emergency operation. All told, EEC aid came out at 503000000 u.a. as against 320000000 u.a. in

¹ Bull. EC 4-1975, points 1401 to 1409.

1973. The financial terms of Community aid were further relaxed. The Committee paid special attention to the new development assistance projects written into the Lomé Convention. All the major members of DAC were particularly interested in the financial machinery of 'Stabex' and the aim and precise methods of industrial cooperation.

As regards the question of the geographical distribution and particular features of aid between associated and non-associated countries, emphasis was laid on the massive increase in the volume of aid to non-associated countries during 1974 and on the increasingly general nature of Community aid as regards both its application and its distribution.

The appraisal closed with a more general view of the Lomé Convention, heavily accenting its 'global' character from both the geographical and technical angle, since it embodies trade, financial and technical provisions, with special concern for cooperation in the decision-making and implementation procedures of the agreements.

Generalized preferences

2311. Invited by the Government of Malaysia, a Commission delegation went to Kuala Lumpur on 4 and 5 September to organize a seminar on the generalized preferences scheme for the ASEAN countries (Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines, Singapore and Thailand). This was attended by 140 people from the public and private sectors. The work highlighted the progress made under the generalized preferences scheme since the last seminar in Kuala Lumpur in July 1973: i.e., the inclusion of pineaple preserves, tropical vegetable oils (palm oil in particular) and pepper; substantial enlargement of the tariff quota for plywoods; inclusion of most of the ASEAN countries in the list of

preference beneficiaries for cotton textiles; and implementing cumulative origin.

Additional requests, now being studied, were put forward by the ASEAN to improve the Community's preference scheme even further. But it is clear that the generalized preference scheme, in its development over the last two years, has in practice resolved the difficulties for ASEAN in its trade relations with the Community.

The preferences seminar was followed by another on craft products, in Kota Bahru on the east coast of Malaysia.

During their stay, the Commission delegation discussed the status of relations between Malaysia and the Community with the Malaysian authorities.

2312. At its meeting of 24 and 25 September, the Economic and Social Committee gave its Opinion on the application of generalized preferences in 1976.

Food aid

2313. The Commission released part of the reserve to assist Somalia,² up to 850 tonnes of butteroil and 1000 tonnes of skimmed-milk powder, which includes 500 tonnes enriched with vitamins. On 18 March, the Council had agreed aid to Somalia (2nd tranche), the quantities stipulated to be released according to need.

2314. Following the earthquake in *Turkey* on 6 September 1975 which ravaged a quarter of Turkish soil (mainly eastern Anatolia), the Community decided to send emergency aid for the stricken population, through the League of Red

Point 2448.

² Bull. EC 3-1975, point 2320.

Cross Societies. This includes food aid of 100 tonnes of skimmed-milk powder, 50 tonnes of butter and a grant of 100000 u.a. to buy medicine, means of transport, etc.

Total Community aid amounts to some 227 000 u.a.

Commodities and world agreements

Cocoa

2315. During its meeting of 22 September, the Council signified its agreement on the principle of and arrangements for participation by the Community and the Member States in negotiating a new International Cocoa Agreement (the second) and adopted the Directives which are to govern the Commission's conduct of the negotiations (in Geneva from 22 September to 17 October).

In a Communication backed by a recommendation on the negotiating Directives which it laid before the Council on 15 September, the Commission had set out the guidelines underlying the Community's course of action during the negotiations concerning the first International Agreement.

International organizations

Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

Trade Committee

2316. The Commission took part in the 44th meeting of the OECD Trade Committee which met in Paris on 23 and 24 September.

The Committee agreed in particular to instruct its working party to follow up its studies and considerations on the question of export restrictions, while trying to improve the current notification and consultation procedures.

On this matter, whose immediacy has been highlighted by recent developments in connection with the economic crisis and the trend of the raw material markets, certain OECD raw material exporting countries, like Canada and Australia, have shown reluctance to allow the discussions to take a course which might affect their means of negotiation. The approach taken by the Trade Committee should allow discussions and studies to continue, avoiding controversy, but preserving the possibilities of further negotiation.

The Committee also reviewed recent developments of the commercial policy in Portugal, Australia and New Zealand. As regards Australia, the Committee noted, with some concern, the uncertainties in Australian policy in view of the protectionist swing emerging there.

In the same vein, the Commission representative made a statement on behalf of the Community expressing its anxiety over the recent spread of protectionist pressure in the United States, stemming from industry, the trade unions or public opinion. After the various warnings by the Commission itself, and considering the effect of possible moves by the US Government not only on bilateral trade but even more on the general tenor of multilateral relations, he appealed for a responsible attitude on the part of the US authorities.

High-level ad hoc group on relations with the developing countries

2317. The Commission took part in the fourth meeting of the high-level ad hoc group

Points 2337 to 2339.

on economic relations with the developing countries; the group took a hard look at the results of the 7th Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly and at the scope for industrial and technological cooperation between the industrialized and developing countries.

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

2318. The Gatt Council met on 25 September at the request of the United States and decided to form a working party assigned to give a consultative opinion on whether Canada's measure to apply quotas to egg imports is compatible with Article XI of the General Agreement.

The Community took the opportunity of this meeting to voice its concern over the series of investigations recently initiated in the United States³ in respect of countervailing charges, antidumping charges, application of safeguards and 'unfair practices'. The trade likely to be involved covers more than a fifth of Community exports to the United States. A formal request to convene the Anti-dumping Committee earlier was supported by several other countries and the Council is thinking of holding a meeting before the end of October. The United States representative stressed that the investigations were called for within the context of the normal procedures and did not represent any change in US commercial policy.

International Atomic Energy Agency

2319. The Cooperation Agreement between the European Atomic Energy Community (Euratom) and the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) was approved by the Council of the European Communities on 15 September and by the IAEA Conference on 26 September.

Under the terms of the Agreement, the contracting parties will consult one another regularly on matters of mutual interest, in order to harmonize their efforts as far as possible, so as to achieve their objectives and with due regard to their respective nature and tasks.

The Agency and the Community also agreed to make the required arrangements to ensure reciprocal representation at the appropriate meetings they will call. A broad exchange of information and documentary material is also provided for.

United Nations

Seventh Special Session of the General Assembly

2320. Centred on international cooperation and development, the Seventh Special Session of the United Nations General Assembly took place in New York from 1 to 16 September.²

Mediterranean countries

2321. At its meeting on 15 and 16 September, advised by the Commission of the status of the negotiations initiated under the 'overall Mediterranean approach', the Council appraised the discussions now under way. After reviewing certain outstanding questions, it asked the Commission to continue its efforts to bring the negotiations to a successful conclusion. The Council also considered the preparation of Directives to open negotiations with the Machrak countries.

¹ Point 2309.

² Points 1101 to 1104.

³ Points 2337 to 2339.

Greece

2322. On 26 September, a meeting was held in Brussels between the Commission departments and Greek services, in accordance with the decision of the EEC-Greece Association Council of 28 July. The discussions centred on certain difficulties encountered with olive oil and products processed from fruit and vegetables.

Turkey

EEC-Turkey Association Council

The 21st meeting of the EEC-Turkey 2323. Association Council took place on 16 September, at Ministerial level. The meeting had a special tenor since relations between Turkey and the Community are going through a very sensitive period both economically and politically. Apart from the usual matters relating to trade, agricultural and social affairs, problems of a highly political nature were broached, which bore mainly on how and when Article 56 of the Ankara Agreement would be implemented, which involves consultation between Turkey and the Community if a non-member country joins the EC. The Association Council also decided that it should receive a report on the deterioration in trade balance disequilibrium and that solutions should be submitted to overcome these problems.

Joint Parliamentary Committee

2324. The 20th meeting of the Joint EEC-Turkey Parliamentary Committee, opened by Turkey's Prime Minister, Mr Demirel, was held in Ankara from 18 to 20 September. The Council and Commission were represented by Mr Battaglia and Mr Scarascia Mugnozza respectively. Following on the Association Coun-

cil meeting, the discussions of the Joint Committee generally went further than the usual debate within the Council. The presence of Premier Demirel indicated that was the desire of the Turkish authorities.

The problems now facing Turkey abroad, whether it be the question of relations with the United States, Cyprus, the dispute with Greece or even the future of Turkey's coalition Government gave the meeting largely political proportions.

Agricultural review

2325. On 15 September the Commission addressed a Communication to the Council concerning the biannual review of agricultural products under the Association, a review stipulated by Article 35 of the Additional Protocol. Here again, Turkey is making this a political test of the Community's goodwill towards her.

Spain

2326. The Council of the Communities, meeting in Luxembourg on 6 October, stated that 'Negotiations between the EEC and Spain cannot be resumed at the present time'. This decision is the result of the recent death sentences and executions in Spain, at the end of legal processes in which the rights of the defence had been blatantly violated.

This 'freezing' of negotiations follows a series of positions taken by the Community institutions and a number of fruitless representations made individually or as a body by the Member States in Madrid.

¹ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2337.

2327. As early as 10 September, the Commission had informed the Spanish Government that it hoped, on humanitarian grounds, that the death sentences would be commuted. When the condemned men were executed on 27 September, President Ortoli issued the following statement the same day:

'The Commission was profoundly distressed to learn of the executions which took place this morning in Spain.

The Commission deplores the fact that the Spanish Government did not listen to the numerous appeals which were addressed to it or to the pressing intervention by the Nine Member States and the Commission of the European Communities in the name of the principles of justice and humanity recognized by the European democracies.'

On 1 October, the Commission Spokesman declared:

'The Commission met this morning and discussed the situation arising out of the latest developments in Spain.

The Commission considers that in the present circumstances it is not possible to continue the negotiations in progress with the Spanish Government.

The Commission is referring its position to the Council for endorsement; this would mean the suspension of the negotiations between the Community and Spain.'

2328. Meanwhile, the European Parliament, meeting in Luxembourg, had on 25 September¹ passed the following Resolution on the situation in Spain:

'The European Parliament,

• deeply concerned at the death sentences and long terms of imprisonment imposed by the military tribunals on Spanish citizens following trials which took place in violation of the rights of man and of the fundamental principles of law,

- firmly convinced that only full recognition of democratic freedoms and respect for the rights of man can create the peaceful conditions which are necessary for freedom in Spain,
- (i) Protests vehemently against the new restrictions on civil rights and the violations of the rights of man arising from the law recently passed in Spain as an allegedly anti-terrorist measure:
- (ii) Invites the Commission and the Council to freeze existing relations until such time as freedom and democracy are established in Spain;
- (iii) Appeals to the Spanish authorities not to carry out the recent death sentences;
- (iv) Associates itself with all efforts undertaken by democrats throughout the world to save the lives of those condemned and to obtain a review of the political trials; therefore requests the Council and the Commission of the European Communities to make appropriate representations to the Spanish authorities.'
- 2329. For their part, the Member States' Governments made representations individually in Madrid, pending a decision on joint action, which had been adopted in principle on 24 September, shortly before the death sentences were carried out.
- 2330. Thereafter, at the Council meeting in Luxembourg on 6 October assembling the Foreign Ministers of the Nine, the following communiqué was issued:

'The Ministers recall that the rights of man constitute the common heritage of the peoples of Europe. The Ministers therefore reiterated their condemnation of the recent executions, carried

¹ Point 2402.

out after proceedings violating the principles of the rule of Law and in particular the rights of the defence.

They deeply regretted that the approaches made on humanitarian grounds, both individually and collectively, met with no response.

It is their most ardent wish that Spain, whose peoples are linked with the peoples of the Community by so many ties, may be spared a process of escalating violence.

It is the Ministers' desire that a democratic Spain might take its place in the assembly of European nations.'

2331. In its communiqué of the same day, 'the Council notes that negotiations between the EEC and Spain cannot be resumed at this time'.

The Lebanon

2332. On 29 September, the Council decided to approve renewal, until 1 January 1976, of the Trade and Technical Cooperation Agreement between the EEC and its Member States, and the Lebanon.

African, Caribbean and Pacific countries

Lomé Convention

Implementing the Convention

2333. At its meeting of 15 and 16 September, the Council heard a report by Mr Cheysson, Member of the Commission, on implementing the Lomé Convention. He drew the attention of Members of the Council to the considerable

number of ACP States which had ratified the Convention and called upon Member States to make the necessary efforts to ensure that the Convention was ratified in the near future, thereby enabling it to enter into force within the next few months.

Mr Cheysson recalled that an application for accession to the Lomé Convention had been lodged by Sao Tomé — Principe, and went on to inform the Council of the intention of certain other African territories, which have recently become or are shortly due to become independent, of submitting similar applications. The Community would study, in collaboration with the ACP States, the conditions under which these applications would be examined.

Finally, Mr Cheysson informed the Council of the contacts which he has had with the ACP States on implementing the Convention and stressed the positive nature of these talks.

The United Kingdom Delegation then drew the Council's attention to certain difficulties concerning the actual level of import charges on beef and veal paid by exporters in Botswana. The Council agree to continue its examination of the matter.

Ratifications

2334. This month four more ACP States have deposited the ratification instruments of the Lomé Convention with the Council of the European Communities. They are: Dahomey, Burundi, Rwanda, and Niger. As at 30 September, 21 ACP States and one Member State of the Community had ratified the Convention.

Cooperation between the Community and the Arab Development Bank for Africa

2335. Mr Cheydly Ayari, President and Director-General of the Arab Development Bank for Africa visited Brussels on 15 and 16 September

where he was received by Mr Claude Cheysson and had talks with Commission representatives on the scope for cooperation between the Community and the Bank. It was established in 1973 by the member countries of the Arab league, and possesses a capital of US \$ 230000000 its job being to finance economic and social development projects in African countries not members of the League.

At the end of Mr Ayari's talks at the Commission, it was agreed to set up a procedure for exchange of information with the Bank to define the practical scope for cooperation. This take the form of joint financing of major projects in the ACP States party to the Lomé Convention.

Sugar market organization

2336. On 30 September, the Council agreed the guidelines it intends to follow in regard to the additions to be made to the basic Regulation for FOD and ACP sugar as well as on the special measures for the 1975/76 sugar year. Certain guidelines were also defined for the period after 1 July 1976, and the Commission is to present appropriate Proposals in good time, which will apply as from the 1976/77 sugar marketing year.

Non-member countries

Industrialized countries

United States

2337. The investigations opened in the United States to determine whether certain imports from Community countries were being made at dumping prices, were the subject in September of several positions adopted or statements made by the Commission. They were also brought up within the OECD and GATT.¹

2338. As regards imports of motor-cars, on which the Commission had already issued a communiqué on 8 August,² the Commission spokesman stated on 9 September:

'The Commission has noted with concern the preliminary determination announced today by the US International Trade Commission, to the effect that imports of automobiles into the United States may be damaging the US automobile industry. This means that the US Treasury's investigation into alleged dumping of European automobiles will continue, with the harassment, legal expense and possible disruption to trade which this implies.

In the Commission's view, imports into the United States of automobiles from the Community are reasonably priced and are manifestly not causing, or threatening to cause, material injury to the US automobile inustry. the initiation and pursuit of the US Treasury's investigation into anti-dumping, as far as Community automobiles are concerned, consequently appears to the Commission to be inconsistent with the Gatt Anti-Dumping Code, to which the US is a party.

The Commission will continue to follow developments closely and has already made clear to the US authorities the serious view which it takes of this threat to a traditional and important Community market in the United States.'

The same question was the subject of a memorandum on 1 October from the Commission to the US authorities.

2339. As regards steel exports to the United States, the Commission published the following statement on 22 September:

'The Commission have taken note of the petitions filed with the United States Treasury on 18 September, calling for countervailing duties to be

¹ Points 2316 and 2318.

² Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2352.

imposed on Community steel exports to the United States.

The United States Administration have informed the Commission that an investigation is to be initiated and that a preliminary determination must be reached within six months on the question of whether Community steel products receive a bounty or grant which would require the imposition of countervailing duties.

The Commission note that this case is not an isolated one. Countervailing duties against Community cheese exports were threatened earlier thus year; a countervailing investigation is currently taking place into Community exports of canned ham; and Community exports of motor-cars to the United States are the subject of a separate investigation into allegations of dumping and injury. Investigations into other products are also imminent. Over one-fifth of the Community's traditional exports to the United States are now liable to be affected in one way or another.

The Commission are concerned at the general drift of these developments. As regards the steel case, where the petitioners are complaining against the remission of value added tax on exports, the Commission recall that such remission of indirect taxes is expressly permitted by the GATT. In this case, as in the others, the Commission look to the United States Administration to respect its international obligations and to exercise its general responsibility with other members of the international Community, to control the forces of protectionism.'

Canada

2340. A Commission Delegation accompanied by representatives of the Community non-ferrous metal and ferro-alloy industries paid a working visit to Canada from 8 to 19 September to make an on-the-spot study of present and

future technical and economic conditions for industrial cooperation with Canada.

The contacts with the Canadian authorities and industries in Ottawa, British Columbia, Manitoba, Quebec and Ontario enabled a number of questions to be clarified concerning, inter alia, mineral and industrial policy, the laws governing foreign investment in regional expansion schemes and the federal and provincial taxation schemes now in operation for the working and processing of mineral wealth in Canada.

The discussions on each of these questions allowed the visitors to state and compare the interests of the Community industries in security of supply and investment profitability. The information gathered during the visit provides material which will assist in defining cooperation projects under the agreement planned between the Community and Canada.

Asian and Latin-American developing countries

Official visit of the President of the Commission to South-East Asia

2341. Invited by the Governments of Singapore, Indonesia and the Philippines, President Ortoli of the Commission made an official visit to the three countries from 29 August to 8 September. The tour was arranged to strengthen the links between the Community and the ASEAN.

IN Singapore, where he stayed from 29 August to 2 September, president Ortoli talked with the Prime Minister, Mr Lee Kuan Yew. In Indonesia (between 2 and 6 September), he met President Suharto and several members of the Govern-

¹ Bull. EC 5-1975, point 2345.

ment. Later in the *Philippines* he met Mr Ferdinand Marcos, President of the Republic, and several members of the Government.

Official visit of Sir Christopher Soames to Latin America

2342. In response to the invitations of the Governments concerned, Sir Christopher Soames, Vice-President of the Commission with responsibility for external relations, paid official visits to four Latin-American countries from 17 September to 2 October.

In Guatemala, where he stayed from 17 to 19 September, Sir Christopher met the Ministers of Economy of the five member countries of the Central-American Common Market (Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua) and the Secretary-General of the organization (SIECA). He was also received by Mr Kjell Laugerud García, President of the Republic and had talks with several members of the Government.

After Guatemala, Sir Christopher was in Venezuela from 19 to 23 September. He was received in Caracas by President Carlos Andrés Pérez Rodriguez. He also met Mr Ramón Escovar Salom, the Foreign Minister, Mr Héctor Hurtado, the Finance Minister, Mr Valentín Hernández Acosta, the Minister for Mines and Petroleum and Mr Manuel Pérez Guerrero, the Minister for International Economic Relations. During the talks the Venezuelan Government intimated its intention of strengthening relations with the European Communities.

From 23 to 27 September, Sir Christopher was in *Peru* where he met the members of the *Andean* group and was received on 25 September at the headquarters of the organization, which embraces Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and Vene-

zuela. Sir Christopher talked with Mr Salvador Lluch Soler (the coordinator) and Mr Felipe Salazar Santos, members of the Andean Junta, and had discussions with members and senior officials of the technical organ of the Cartagena Agreement.

He was also received in Lima by President Francisco Morales Bermudez and the Prime Minister, General Vargas Prieto, where he talked with several members of the Peruvian Government.

Lastly, Sir Christopher made an official visit to Brazil from 27 September to 2 October where he talked with President Geisel, the Foreign Minister, Mr António Francisco Azeredo da Silveira and several members of the Brazilian Government.

China

2343. On 15 September official relations were established between China and the Community as such, when HE Mr Li Lien-pi¹ presented his letters of credence as first Head of his country's Mission to the EEC.

This set the seal on a series of informal contacts, which took place before Vice-President Sir Christopher Soames visited China from 4 to 11 May this year, accompanied by a delegation of senior officials.¹ Discussions are now to follow with a view to negotiating a suitable Community Trade Agreement with China to supersede the Agreements with the Member States, which have expired.²

Point 2344.

² Bull. EC 5-1975, points 1201 to 1205.

Diplomatic relations of the Community

Diplomatic relations of the Community

2344. On 16 September, the President of the Council and the President of the Commission received HE Mr Germán Bula-Hoyos (Colombia) and HE Mr Farid El Lahham (Syrian Arab Republic) who presented their letters of credence as Heads of their countries' Missions to the European Communities (EEC, ECSC, EAEC).

The new ambassadors succeed respectively Mr Gabriel Giraldo Jaramillo and Mr Adib Daoudy who have been assigned to other posts.

On the same day, both Presidents received HE Mr Li Lien-pi who presented his letters of credence as first Head of Mission for the People's Republic of China to the European Economic Community (EEC).

As at the end of September the accredited Missions to the Community from non-member countries now number 103.

4. Institutions and organs of the Communities

European Parliament

Part-session in Luxembourg from 22 to 26 September 1975

2401. Parliament's agenda included the 1974 report on the social situation, an action programme for migrant workers, reform of the European Schools, two urgent debates on Portugal and Spain, the new wine market organization, the Commission's report on competition policy, matters of common industrial policy in the fields of data-processing and aerospace, regional policy and the results of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe.¹

Relations with Spain

(25 September)

2402. Parliament called on the Council and Commission to freeze relations with Spain until freedom and democracy had been restored there. The House protested against the renewed curtailment of civil rights and the violation of human rights through application of the Spanish

The report on this part-session of Parliament was prepared from the German edition of 'Informations' published by Parliament's General Secretariat.

The Political Group and nationality of members speaking in the debates are indicated in brackets after their names and abbreviated as follows: C-D = Christian Democrats, S = Socialist Group, L = Liberal and Allied Group, C = European Conservatives, EPD = European Progressive Democrats, COM = Communist and Allied Group. B = Belgium, DK = Denmark, G = Federal Republic of Germany, F = France, IRL = Ireland, L = Luxembourg, NL = Netherlands, UK = United Kingdom, I = Italy. The complete texts of the Resolutions passed by Parliament are reproduced in OJ C 239 of 20.10.1975 and the verbatim report of the part-session is contained in OJ Annexe 194.

¹ OJ C224 of 1.10.1975.

law recently enacted 'under the pretext of countering terrorism'.1

The background to the Resolution was the death sentences against eleven opponents of the Franco régime, which were due to be carried out the following day. Parliament appealed to the Spanish authorities not to carry them out, based as they were on legal processes in which human rights and fundamental principles of law were disregarded.

The lengthy and at times heated debate highlighted the differing judgments on the situation in Spain by the various Groups. For the Socialist Group, Mr Fellermaier (G) passionately attacked the torture methods of a régime which could sense how brittle its hold had become. The purpose of freezing relations with the last dictatorship in Western Europe was to prevent the second phase of the Commercial Agreement from proceeding as though nothing had happened. But the spokesman for the Christian Democrats, Mr Bertrand (B) wanted Parliament to pronounce only on the humanitarian side of the death sentences; the political aspects could be dealt with later. The same view was taken by the spokesman of the Liberal and Allied Group, Mr Berkhouwer (NL), the European Conservatives, Mr Kirk (UK) and the EPD Group, Mr de la Malène (F). Mr de la Malène wanted to see that the principle of non-interference in the internal affairs of a preserved. Mr non-member country was Lemoine (COM/F) emphasized that the sentences had been meted out to men and women who were struggling for greater freedom.

In the voting, in which a Resolution by the Socialists and a joint Resolution by the Christian Democrats and the Liberal and Allied Group were moved, the Communists having withdrawn theirs, the Socialists' Resolution gained the majority.

Aid to Portugal (24 September)

2403. Community economic aid for Portugal was debated in connection with Question Time.² Mr Stewart (S/UK) pointed out that the conditions for a Community aid programme for Portugal were now fulfilled.³ He stressed that the new Azevedo Government in Portugal was facing major problems; if it came to grief, freedom in Portugal would be at an end.

The Christian Democrat spokesman, Mr Klepsch (G) supported Mr Stewart in principle, but said careful appraisal must be made as to whether a situation was not again developing in which a small group pressurized the majority. The spokesman for the Liberal and Allied Group, Lord Gladwyn (UK) felt that it was still to be ascertained whether real power actually lay with the Government. Mr Kirk (C/UK) warned against aid on the 'watering-can principle' and advocated that specific projects be developed. Mr Fabbrini (COM/I) urged the Community to help without any political provisos, and warned against the growth of new reactionary forces in Portugal. The remaining speakers from the various Groups all agreed that no time must be lost.

Expressing what he said was a personal view, the President of the Council, Mr Battaglia sympathized with the misgivings expressed, but the record showed that the forces of democracy had won the day in Portugal. In his own estimation it would be a matter for alarm if the Community were to waver. Three kinds of aid were possible: economic and trade cooperation, which, however, entailed lengthy negotiation; direct financial aid in respect of the balance of payments and budgetary deficits (this was presently

Point 2328.

² Point 2419.

³ Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2343.

being examined); and investment aid to counter the flight of capital (also being examined). In conclusion, Mr Battaglia urged MPs to press the issue with their governments, in order to mitigate any opposition.

Social affairs

Development of the social situation in 1974 (23 September)

2404. The rapporteur, Mr Marras (COM/I) painted a bleak picture: twice as many unemployed as the year before, half as many jobs available. Women and young people especially hard hit. In such a situation, the Community must prove that it could assure all citizens the right to work.

In its Resolution Parliament urged that the EC social policy action programme, designed when the economy was booming, be adapted to the circumstances. The Community should act more forcefully in favour of the workers involved, via the Social and Regional Funds. Regular meetings should be organized between both sides of industry in the economic areas concerned. With these calls for social policy action over the current year, the House rated the Commission's Report on the Social Situation in the Community in 1974 as by and large positive. Parliament called emphatically for swift approval and implementation of the social policy measures it had already appraised (protection of workers rights in mergers; equal treatment for men and women; a migrant-workers programme).

All the speakers agreed that things must move promptly and effectively and directed their fire against the Council, with whom the Commission's Proposals had ground to a halt.

Mr Adams (S/G) criticized the Council of Social Ministers for their lack of readiness to cooperate and take decisions. He called for a common

concept of employment policy in the Member States. A list of basic social objectives must form the groundwork for Europe's further development in the sphere of social security. Mr Van der Gun (C-D/NL) declared that social policy should no longer be regarded as separate from economic and financial policy. The people must be able to feel that a European policy was on the move.

Mr Geurtsen (L/NL) called for a European economic programme which embraced all strata of the population. Mr Terrenoire (EPD/F) felt there was a need for the Member States governments to meet far more frequently, to work out a European social policy together. Mr Dykes (C/UK) said that the Commission's financial resources, even though limited, must at least be specifically directed and visibly applied.

Action programme for migrant workers (24 September)

2405. Parliament regretfully noted that the Commission's action programme for migrant workers and their families had not, as originally anticipated, been presented a year ago when economic conditions were more favourable; reform projects would now have to be adapted to the present adverse economic situation. The House urged that this still legally non-mandatory programme be immediately converted into practical action.

Parliament approved the proposed programme and set out a number of priority targets.

The rapporteur, Mr Albers (S/NL) recalled the motivation behind migrating: possibilities of earning a living at home, poor, or totally lacking. For migrant workers, therefore, of whom including their families some 10000000 were living in the Community, the effects of rising unemployment were often disastrous. Mr Albers blamed the Commission for not having

Bull. EC 9-1975

clearly worked out the principle of equal status for all migrant workers.

Mr Della Briotta (S/I) declared that as long as migrant labour was regarded as a gift from the gods, no measures aimed at improving the lot of migrant workers could have any pervasive effect. The goal of a real Community social policy must therefore be to overcome regional imbalances. Mr Pisoni (C-D/I) commented on the many amendments tabled by his Group with the aim of giving the Resolution a specific content and of defining the substance of future statutory provisions. He unreservedly supported the principle of non-discrimination between migrant workers from the EC and from countries outside.

Mr Geurtsen (L/NL) also opposed any form of discrimination. Mr Liogier (EPD/F) said that the lot of the migrant worker could be fundamentally improved only by removing the reason for migration, underdevelopment in their native countries. Mr Marras (COM/I) said he only partly agreed with the Commission's programme and the Committee's report. Generally speaking his Group did not think it was right to dissociate the problems of migrant workers from those of the whole European working class. Migrant workers' problems were to be seen as part of the struggle for emancipation and improvement of the living conditions of all workers in the Community.

Winding up, Vice-President Dr Hillery of the Commission summarized his impressions of the debate and said that he could see no real differences between the Commission's ideas and Parliament's wishes, in respect of what should be done for migrant workers.

Community programme for safety and health protection at work (24 September)

2406. Parliament welcomed the Commission's guidelines on a common programme to promote

safety, hygiene and health protection at work. But the programme was criticized for lack of practical measures. The Commission was urged to present practical proposals based on comparative studies, especially in regard to humanizing work and improved work organization. Referring to the appallingly high number of industrial accidents, the House called for facts and figures and an evaluation of causes. Thorough training and instruction were the most effective safeguards against accidents.

Energy

(23 September)

Common policy for hydrocarbons

2407. A draft Resolution from the Commission to the Council on a Community policy for hydrocarbons, and the financial aspects of Community projects in that sector set off a critical discussion on the energy situation. In its Resolution, Parliament called for the stabilization of crude oil consumption, less dependence on imports and increased development of the Community's internal resources. The House considered it imperative to disclose the cost and price components for crude oil and oil products imposed by the Community, plus detailed analyses of refining and distribution costs. Consumer prices should also be monitored.

In his verbal account, the rapporteur of the Committee on Energy, Research and Technology, Mr Leonardi (COM/I) referred to the massive dependence on imported crude oil. This could be lessened by curtailing consumption, more intensive application of alternative sources, primarily nuclear energy, and use of Community oil.

For the Socialist Group, Mr Lautenschlager (G) favoured Community supervision over foreign trade in mineral oil. Free market economy measures were no longer adequate by themselves

to ensure security of supply. He also called on the Commission and Council to work in international negotiations towards inducing the oil producing countries to support the developing countries.

For the Christian Democrats, Mr Springorum (G) castigated Member States' Governments for not being able to agree on common protective mechanisms. Since the Yom-Kippur War, with its impact on the petroleum sector, nothing decisive had been done to reduce dependence on Middle East oil. For the Conservatives, Mr Normanton (UK), who strongly urged the swift exploitation of North Sea oil and control of oil prices, recommended that an EC energy agency be set up with genuine and extensive authority.

Mr Hamilton (S/UK) contended that the British Government should have unrestricted control of the promotion and sale of North Sea oil. The spokesman for the remaining Groups, Mr Hougardy (L/B) and Mr Krieg (EPD/F) opposed any national egoism over energy.

Vice-President Simonet of the Commission, responsible for energy, described the MPs criticisms as an accurate diagnosis of the present situation. He, too, felt that since the oil crisis nothing had been done to diminish Community dependence on imports. It was a delusion to count on a split in the OPEC cartel. Regarding the claims of the British Labour MPs in particular for sovereignty in the prospecting and marketing of British North Sea oil, Mr Simonet with some irony, remarked that it was not enough to get the oil out of the ground, somebody still had to buy it. It was this Parliament's important task he said, to alert the Council to the consequences of its inactivity. If these and the next Proposals of the Commission produced no action in the Council, then it would be better not to talk any further of a common energy policy. He would then suggest to the Commission that it put no more proposals forward.

Guidance for the electricity sector

2408. The new Community energy policy strategy also includes two Directives on limiting the use of natural gas and oil products in electric power stations.

Parliament approved the Commission's overall design to reduce the Community energy supply's dependence on imports. Even if coal potential were to be fully exploited the House felt that no alternative existed but to use nuclear energy, on a massive scale, since atomic power was far cheaper than power generated from other energy sources.

The debate again revealed concern over the lack of a consistent common energy policy.

Industrial policy

European data-processing industry (23 September)

2409. Parliament considered that massive resources and firm resolve were required to make the European data-processing industry competitive by 1980. Otherwise efforts on behalf of this branch amounted to benevolent intentions of no value. With this reservation, the House endorsed the Commission's initial projects.² Since the European Industry was weak, Parliament thought it advisable to conclude cooperation agreements with non-European companies who were not in a dominant position either.

In the debate numerous speakers expressed doubts as to whether Europe's computer industry could become competitive. Mr Lautenschlager (S/G) found that the Commission had acted

¹ Bull. EC 5-1974, points 1201 to 1212.

² OJ C99 of 2.5.1975.

too late, since in Europe this branch of industry had already developed in different directions. To become viable, the European dataprocessing industry needed convincing prospects. Mr Andreotti (C-D/I) urged the Commission to present further Proposals at the earliest opportunity, especially on harmonizing legal regulations. Mr Kruchow (L/DK) doubted whether a European computer industry actually had much of a chance against foreign concerns. Mr Riviérez (EPD/F) advocated collaboration with non-dominant US companies. Mr Leonardi (COM/I) suggested that computer techniques be applied in the teaching of foreign languages. Mr Normanton (C/UK) and Mr Dalyell (S/UK) brought up the question of cost.

Like many of the previous speakers, Mr Spinelli, Member of the Commission responsible for industrial policy, criticized the departure of the French firm CII from the Unidata Group, stipulated in the merger with the US Honeywell company, which had plunged Unidata into a crisis. The Commission's intention was not to coordinate the efforts of the European computer industry, but to create a framework for this. Cooperation with US firms must operate on a balanced basis. Mr Spinelli warned that in the absence of a consistent data-processing policy, there was a danger that the European market would be dominated by two or three big companies. He announced a medium-term action programme for the coming year.

Aerospace industry (25 September)

2410. In reply to an Oral Question from Lord Bessborough (UK) for the European Conservatives, on future cooperation in the European aerospace industry, Mr Thomson of the Commission explained that the Commission would soon have finalized its basic report on the state

of the European aerospace industry, together with the measures required. The Commission considered that Europe's aerospace industry was at a crossroads. In the past fifteen years, a very valuable network of bilateral and trilateral cooperation had developed, which had yielded noteworthy results, while basic policy still remained the responsibility of the Member States. Europe must now move from loose collaboration and evolve a common systematic strategy, if the industry was to survive over the next ten years and develop its potential. Such a strategy must include the full integration of resources, research and development, as well as marketing.

Education

(22 September)

European schools

2411. More children of migrant workers should be accepted into the European schools, located in the areas of Community institutions. Parliament expressed this basic demand in an action report, which criticizes the European schools' system.

Mr Walkhoff (S/G) contended that the European schools should be made a model for a European educational system. He dealt with shortcomings and gaps in the system, whose present form had no doubt been justified in the early years. He particularly criticized the admission criteria and felt that the children of all Community citizens, who exercised their right to free movement, had a claim to a sound education. Since the existing schools were not adequate to do justice to all the applications, more European schools should be established. Mr Walkhoff called strongly for greater acceptance of migrant workers' children, who

¹ Supplement 11/75 — Bull. EC.

had little chance today to complete their schooling successfully. He complained that the European schools had so far led exclusively to qualification for university; they should also include shorter courses, preparatory-school education and technical branches.

Parliament expressed these basic requirements in a Resolution passed by a large majority, in which it also put forward its own ideas on reforming teaching methods, the curricula and performance appraisal. It particularly complained that community studies and/or social sciences and civics were not taught, and that the problems of European integration were inadequately dealt with. The reform projects should be prepared by a new European educational institute, to be established.

In the debate most of the speakers supported the rapporteur's claims. Mr Laban (S/NL) stressed the need to reduce social disparities. Mr Pisoni (C-D/I) said that the European schools must reflect the social image of the Community. Mr Meintz (L/L) and Mr Nyborg (Non-affiliated/DK) primarily advocated the diversification of educational courses. Mr Barnett (S/UK) and Mr Della Briotta (S/I) warned against the danger of forming a 'European élite', if the children of European officals came to represent most of the intake. Hundreds of thousands of migrant workers' children were waiting for a solution.

Mr Corrie (C/UK) and Mr Cifarelli (S/I) were cautious and warned that the European schools were not up to the 'double job' of educating the children of officials and migrant workers.

At the end of the debate, Mr Borschette put the Commission's view. He approved concertation with all those concerned and more decentralization. He endorsed Parliament's suggested teaching reforms but warned against the assumption that the problem of migrant workers' children could be solved via the European schools. Winding up, the rapporteur on this

point said that Parliament was aware of the magnitude of the problem of migrant workers' children. Nevertheless, it felt that the European schools should not be exonerated from their responsibility towards migrant workers' children

An education policy for the EC

2412. In a Resolution, Parliament emphatically affirmed that the priority actions defined at the Council meeting of Education Ministers in June 1974 were part of the Community's responsibility.

The background to the resolution is the fact that the meeting of Education Ministers in June 1975 did not materialize and that the Education Committee (which was formed in June 1974 from representatives of the Member States and the Commission) has not yet reached agreement on the institutional aspects of Community activity.

Competition

Fourth Report on Competition Policy (25 September)

2413. By a narrow majority, Parliament rejected a resolution motion of its Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs, whereby the House was to give its Opinion on the Commission's Fourth Report on Competition Policy. Socialists and Communists justified their rejection by the fact that the rapporteur had not paid enough attention to the problem of multinational companies.

¹ Bull. EC 6-1974, points 1201 to 1204.

Shipbuilding (24 September)

New Directive without consultation of the European Parliament

Two consonant Oral Questions from Mr Notenboom (C-D/NL) and the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs, asking why Parliament was not consulted on a Directive concerning State aid for shipbuilding, were answered by Council President Battaglia, to the effect that there must have been a misunderstanding. What was involved was the new version of a Directive which in the main had incorporated the text on which the House had given an Opinion. Mr Borschette confirmed this on behalf of the Commission. For the Committee on Economic and Monetary Affairs, Mr Normanton protested forcefully against such a proceeding. He felt that it was by no means certain that Parliament had endorsed this Directive, which was far more than a new version. The Committee would pursue the matter further.

Agriculture

(25 September)

The Franco-Italian wine war

2415. Three questions had been tabled on the wine market situation. Commissioner Lardinois, responsible for agriculture, stated that the cause of the crisis was to be found in the 1969 compromise, which had led to the European wine market organization. The Italian view that wine production should be as decontrolled as possible and the French view, which wanted a hard and fast system, had had to be reduced at the time to a common denominator. Mr Lardinois hoped that the Commission's latest Proposals would lead to stabilization. Some improvement was already indicated for the coming

financial year, since production could be expected to fall by 10%.

In the debate, Mr Laban (S/NL) called for swift restructuring of the wine market, to balance supply against demand. His group wholeheartedly supported the relevant Proposals of the Commission. Mr Früh (C-D/G) pointed to the results of limiting surface area, which were essentially acceptable, to those growers who had no other possibilities for cultivation. Mr Liogier (EPD/F) complained that the Community mechanisms slanted production towards quantity rather than quality. He defended the action of the French Government which could not stand by and see their wine growers ruined. Mr Houdet (L/F) spoke of the close link between the agricultural market and economic and monetary union. Lord St. Oswald (C/UK) asked for a comparative list to be compiled of taxes on wine, which were particularly high in the United Kingdom. Winding up Mr Lardinois recommended more economic methods in agriculture.

Wine from non-member countries

2416. Parliament expressed doubts on the Commission's proposed new arrangements concerning imported wine-sector products from non-member countries. It was uncertain whether these paid due attention to the two aims, i.e. effective protection for the home market and trouble-free, active trade relations with the Mediterranean countries. With this reservation the House approved the Commission's proposed Regulation, which primarily concerns imports of wine products from the Maghreb countries.

External relations

Results of the CSCE (24 September)

2417. In connection with a question from the Socialist Group to the Council, Parliament dis-

cussed how the fundamental decisions of the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe would affect relations between the EC and Comecon and what role the Council of the EC could play therein.

Council President Battaglia described the present status of EC-Comecon relations. He referred to the Community's offer of November 1974 to the State-trading countries, with the aim of concluding a trade agreement. Besides this there had been contacts between the Commission and the Comecon Secretariat. The CSCE and its results could have a positive influence on these contacts. He assured the House that the Community institutions would closely watch the implementation which had resulted from the CSCE and would act whenever Community responsibility was involved.

In the debate, Mr Stewart (S/UK) said the CSCE was a modest but real success. The Community had not had to make concessions on anything, while expanding its scope for contacts. Mr Seefeld (S/G) warned against crippling from the outset, with suspicion, the now initiated process of détente between East and West.

Mr Klepsch (C-D/G) felt that the real significance of the Conference could be judged only when it could be seen that the principles confirmed there had been put into practice. Mr Bersani (C-D/I) hailed the CSCE as a major world political event. Lord Gladwyn (L/UK) said that the coming year would reveal what the Final Act of the CSCE was worth. Mr Krieg (EPD/F) acknowledged the work the Conference had done. Lord Bethell (C/UK) warned against believing that ideological and military confrontation was now at an end. Mr Ansart (COM/F) hoped for widespread cooperation in all spheres between all the peoples of Europe.

All speakers praised the common positive attitude of the Community countries at the Conference.

Regional policy

Regional and local authorities and the Regional Fund

2418. The Oral Question from Mr Corrie (UK) for the European Conservatives, on what was being done to ensure that in connection with the Regional Fund the opinions of the regional authorities were conveyed to the Parliament's Committee on regional Policy and Transport, was answered by Commissioner Thomson to the effect that, on specific regional policy matters, the Committee could always obtain verbally or in writing the opinion of the regional authorities involved. As regards the financial endowment, Mr Thomson said that the 300 000 000 u.a. of the regional Fund would be completely used up by the end of the year.

In the debate reference was made to the particular burden of economically weak regions due to the general economic crisis, to the deteriorating levels between the regions always at the expense of the poorer areas and to the expediency of active participation by regional and local authorities in the regional programme.

Question Time

(24 September)

2419. In Question Time, Council President Battaglia, Italy's State Secretary at the Foreign Ministry, answered five questions for the Council. President Ortoli, Vice-President Scarascia Mugnozza and Mr Borschette, Mr Spinelli, Mr Lardinois and Mr Thomson answered six questions for the Commission.

Annual review of farm prices

Mrs Boothroyd (S/UK) to the Council:

'What measures are taken by the Council during their discussions on the annual review of farm prices to protect the interests of consumers?'

Mr Battaglia pointed out that in the lengthy intricate procedure of setting farm prices, the Council consulted officials in the Member States' responsible Ministries and specialist committees on which consumers and producers were represented. The effects of Member States' short-term economic policy measures could not, of course, always be accurately assessed by the Council beforehand. Mrs Boothroyd suggested that a Ministry for Consumer Affairs be established along British lines.

Commission Proposals still pending

Mr Broeksz (S/NL) to the Council:

'Has the Council taken note of the list of more than two hundred Commission proposals on which the European Parliament has delivered its opinion but on which the Council has not yet reached a decision? If so, what steps does the Council propose to take in order to remedy this state of affairs as quickly as possible?'

Mr Battaglia, explained that there were various reasons for this. Some Proposals had come in only recently, others would have to be revised, others again had meanwhile been approved or were shortly to be approved. And there were some which had been outrun by developments and had thus lapsed. He emphasized that the consideration of highly technical Proposals was inevitably very protracted.

European social policy

Mr Albers (S/NL) to the Council:

'What European measures, as distinct from national measures, does the Council propose to take in order to deal with unemployment in the Community?'

Mr Battaglia pointed out that on 23 June the Council had opened the European Social Fund for the benefit of the young unemployed and for the unemployed in certain sectors hit by the economic crisis. Further measures would come intrinsically from ECSC and EAGGF decisions.

European social policy

Mr Carpentier (S/F) to the Council:

'When will the next tripartite Conference of social partners—which the Council has approved in principle—take place?'

Mr Battaglia could not give a precise date. The Council was doing all it could so that the Conference could take place according to schedule in the second half of November.

Aid programme for Portugal

Mr Fellermaier (S/G) to the Council:

'When will the Council finally adopt its aid programme for Portugal?'

Mr Battaglia confirmed the Council's decision in principle of July, meaning that it would do something, as soon as Portugal so desired. Meanwhile the Council was working out proposals which it would present to the Portuguese government. On a motion tabled by the Socialist Group an urgent debate followed this question.¹

Economic aid for Portugal

Mr Espersen (S/DK) to the Commission:

'Following the latest political developments in Portugal, what practical proposals will the Commission submit to the Council for economic aid for that country?'

President Ortoli pointed out that the Commission did not think any further proposals were needed. Its proposals had been on hand for two months and were also valid for the changed situation in Portugal.

Point 2403.

Dumping of rubbish overboard

Mr Spicer (C/UK) to the Commission:

'What is the Commission doing to stop the continued dumping overboard of rubbish from Belgian, British and French cross-channel ferries?'

Mr Scarascia Mugnozza said this question had been settled by the Oslo Agreement in which the Community had been represented by observers. The Commission would shortly be presenting harmonization procedures.

Position of independent airlines within the Community

Mr Corrie (C/UK) to the Commission:

'What is the Commission doing to ensure that independent airlines which can provide services between parts of the Community not previously linked directly (for example, Scotland and the Continent) do not suffer from subsidized competition from State airlines using less convenient routes?'

Mr Borschette replied that the Commission was now examining with the Member States, what action could be taken on the basis of the EC competition rules, and the case law of the Court of Justice.

Steel industry

Mr Osborn (C/UK) to the Commission:

'What action is being taken to deal with the deterioration in trading conditions and employment in the steel industries?'

Mr Spinelli replied that the Commission intended to begin to stabilize the market gradually through its quarterly forward programme.

Butter supplies

Mr Howell (C/UK) to the Commission:

'What quantity of butter expressed in terms of days' supply for the whole Community does the Commis-

sion consider should be held in store in order to ensure continuity of supply and at what level of supply would the provisions for social butter be withheld?

In his reply, Mr Lardinois pointed out that butter production was very much a seasonal affair. With low stocks, supplies at stable prices could be at risk by the end of the winter; at this point the disposal of butter at cut prices for the socially weak categories was therefore no longer feasible.

Communication between the Commission and local government authorities in the Member States

Mr Ellis (S/UK) to the Commission:

'Does the Commission intend to take steps towards improving lines of communication between the Commission and local government authorities in the Member States?'

The Commission maintained official contacts only with the Member States' central governments. The Commission endeavoured directly or indirectly to obtain all necessary data from local authorities, who had in fact to implement Community decisions. Besides this, the Commission received regular visits from local government representatives.

Council

In September the Council held five meetings devoted to agriculture, general matters, the Budget and economy and finance.

355th Meeting—Agriculture (Brussels, 9 September 1975)

2420. President: Mr Marcora, Italy's Minister of Agriculture

From the Commission: Mr Lardinois, Member

Wine: The Council gave further consideration to all the measures intended to clear up the wine market in respect of the present disruptions and the medium- and long-term problems.

The French Delegation announced that it intended to use Article 31 of the basic Regulation on wine in relation to the safeguard clause in intra-Community trade.¹

356th Meeting—General matters (Brussels, 15 and 16 September 1975)

2421. President: Mr Rumor, Italy's Foreign Minister.

From the Commission: Mr Ortoli, President, Sir Christopher Soames, Vice-President, Mr Cheysson, Member.

Dialogue between the industrialized and developing countries: The Council agreed to accept the French Government's invitation to the Community to take part, on 13 October, in a fresh preparatory meeting for the Conference between the industrialized and developing countries.²

Implementing the Lomé Convention: The Council heard a communication from Mr Cheysson of the Commission on implementing the Lomé Convention.³

Export contracts for certain agricultural products: The Council took note of a Commission recommendation on opening negotiations with Egypt for an Agreement on supplying farm products.⁴

Overall Mediterranean approach: The Council heard a report by the Commission on the status of negotiations with various Mediterranean countries and asked the Commission to follow up its efforts to bring them to a successful conclusion.⁵

EEC-Turkey Association Council: The Council proceeded to prepare the Community position for the meeting of the EEC-Turkey Association Council, held the same day.

Euratom-IAEA Agreement: The Council approved the Cooperation Agreement between the European Community and the International Atomic Energy Agency.⁷

357th Meeting—Budget

(Brussels, 22 and 23 September 1975)

2422. President: Mr Fabbri, State Under-Secretary to Italy's Treasury Ministry.

From the Commission: Mr Cheysson, Member.

Meeting with a delegation from the European Parliament: Before starting work on drawing up the draft budget for 1976, the Council, with the Commission, met a delegation from the European Parliament led by Lord Bessborough, a Vice-President of the House and made up by Mr Cointat, as rapporteur, Mr Aigner and Miss Flesch.⁸

The meeting allowed the President and Council members to hear the EP delegation's initial thoughts on the preliminary draft budget and to have a frank and constructive talk on a number

¹ Point 2220.

Point 2308.

Point 2333.

Point 2223.

Point 2331.

⁶ Point 2323.

Point 2319.
 Point 2468.

of basic issues, in particular the 'margin for manœuvre' accorded to Parliament in respect of increasing non-compulsory expenditure.

All those attending felt that the course of the meeting augured well for further development of the dialogue on budgetary matters between the Council and Parliament.

Supplementary budgets for 1975: The Council appraised the requests by the Commission in the preliminary draft of the third supplementary budget for 1975 and decided to act on most of them in terms of the draft general budget for 1976. Using the preliminary draft of the fourth budget, the Council drew up the draft of the third supplementary and amending budget for 1975.

Draft of the general budget for 1976: The discussion of 22 September did not enable the Council to reach agreement on this draft. The session had therefore to be resumed on 29 September.

At the close of the meeting, the Council drew up the draft of the General Budget for 1976 and adopted a statement.³

358th Meeting—Economy/finance (Brussels, 22 September 1975)

2423. President: Mr Colombo, Italy's Treasury Minister.

From the Commission: Mr Ortoli, President, Mr Haferkamp, Vice-President.

Community exchange system: The Council noted a statement by Mr De Clercq, Belgium's Finance Minister, on the outcome of a meeting on the Swiss franc joining the 'snake', between the Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors of the countries in the Community exchange system and a Swiss Delegation, led by the

Finance Minister and the Governor of the National Bank.⁴

Euratom loans: The Council proceeded to examine certain features of the draft Decision to empower the Commission to issue Euratom loans with a view to the Community helping to finance nuclear power stations.

Economic situation in the Community: There was a brief discussion of the economic recovery measures taken or planned by the Member States.⁵

359th Meeting—Agriculture

(Brussels, 29 and 30 September 1975)

2424. President: Mr Marcora, Italy's Minister of Agriculture.

From the Commission: Mr Lardinois, Member.

Wine: The Council scrutinized the various problems arising from the amendments to be made to the basic Regulation on wine.

The discussions did not yield a final agreement.6

Sugar: The Council agreed the guidelines to be followed concerning the supplementary matter to be added to the basic Regulation in respect of OCT and ACP sugar, and on the specific measures for the 1975/76 sugar marketing year.⁷

Long-term contracts for exporting agricultural products:

The Council got down to a general discussion on making long-term supply contracts for farm

¹ Point 2458.

² Points 2459 and 2460.

Point 2464.

Point 2201.

Point 2202.

Point 2220.

⁷ Point 2224.

Commission Commission

products with certain non-Community countries.1

As regards the Commission recommendation concerning an Agreement with Egypt on the supply of farm products, the Council indicated that it was favourably disposed to the Commission's move.¹

Hops: At the request of the German Delegation, the Council discussed the situation of the hop market.

Milk products: The Council discussed the proposed Regulation to lay down a specific measure on the disposal of skimmed-milk powder in public storage, with a view to exporting it in the form of compound feeds for livestock.

Commission

Activities

2425. In September attention and concern focused on preparation of the Community budget for 1976, the situation on the wine market and energy policy.

Budget matters: At the beginning of the month, the Commission adopted a preliminary draft of the supplementary and amending budget for 1975 which would make available the appropriations needed for running the Joint Research Centre, and the indirect action until the end of the year, taking account of the salary increases and other higher costs. It proved possible to make these appropriations available by transfers within the budget without calling for fresh contributions from the Member States. Conversely, with respect to agricultural expenditure (EAGGF Guarantee Section), additional appropriations are absolutely necessary, as the Commission had announced as soon as budget talks

started last year. The supplementary budget provides for various internal transfers and 200 000 000 u.a. of new appropriations.²

The Commission also approved a letter of amendment to the draft of the 1976 budget which contains the latest evaluations for the EAGGF Guarantee Section appropriations. These are considerably up in comparison to 1975, owing to the general rise in prices and to familiar problems in several markets, particularly the milk product market.³

Following discussions of the Council budget meeting of 22 September, the Commission reiterated its reservations over the Council's intention to fall back systematically on supplementary budgets for a number of major items, which deprives the budget of its function as a forecast and guide, and is likely to cause highly detrimental delays. The Commission did not accept most of the cuts decided by the Council and is hoping to put these matters to the European Parliament. It is endeavouring to get the Council meeting on budgets on 29 September to arrive at a due and proper vote on the budget, so that the rules of the Treaty and Parliament's rights are respected.⁴

Agricultural policy: At a special meeting on 17 September, the Commission adopted its decisions in the wine affair, a source of much strain in the Community, especially between France and Italy.⁵ The Commission informed the French Government that the measures taken by the latter (taxes on imports of Italian wines) had no legal foundation and must therefore be rescinded. At the same time, the Commission adopted several measures which it can take on its own

¹ Point 2223.

² Point 2459.

Point 2462.

Point 2464.

⁵ Point 2220.

Commission Commission

authority, to ease the disposal of Italian wines, either on the markets of non-member countries or on those of other Community countries, so as to relax the strain on the French market. Further ahead, the adoption of Commission Proposals, now under discussion by the Council, will allow the market to be cleared up, mainly by eliminating or deterring the production of wines of indifferent quality.

The Commission also adopted a Proposal for a regulation to establish a Community organization of the *mutton* market. The Proposal would offer a Community structure for this market during the end of the transition period for the Accession of the new Member States (up to the end of 1977), which would enable a comprehensive system to be set up in 1978.

Energy and raw materials: The Commission took stock of the work being done on the common energy policy in the Community, with a renewed dialogue in prospect between producer and consumer countries, which will focus on energy, raw materials and development policy.² The Commission stressed the urgent need for a Community attitude by highlighting the leeway the Community had to make up in the energy sector, whereas considerable headway had been made last July concerning a common position on the other raw materials. An ambitious work programme was adopted which should enable the Commission to send the Council a consistent package of Proposals by end-October or early November, covering the internal and external aspects of Community energy policy.

The Commission also adopted a Communication to the Council on saving energy over the next three years.³

Industrial policy: The Commission held a sounding debate on restructuring the aeronautics industry on a European basis. Guidelines were approved and a financial text will be presented

for conclusive Commission approval early in October.

Also adopted at its first reading was the forward steel programme over the fourth quarter of this year. The fall in steel output which the Commission had already announced for the third quarter, will be heavier still since the measures for economic recovery launched by the various governments will not be felt for some months. The Commission's programme would spread this drop in production systematically and evenly between the various Member States.⁴

As regards development of the European dataprocessing industry, the Commission adopted a Proposal to the Council incorporating the initial components of a medium-term programme. The programme covers Community financing of several development projects (on a common programming language, software, etc.).⁵

A letter of amendment to the preliminary draft of the 1976 budget will be laid before the Council so that initial appropriations can be made available for this purpose in the new year.

Economic policy: The Commission reviewed its Proposal on establishing a European Community Institute for Economic Research and Analysis and decided to forward it to the Council as soon as possible.

Social policy: The Commission decided to send a letter to the Council suggesting that the tripartite conference (Ministers of Economy and Labour, both sides of industry, Community institutions), which the European Council approved in principle in July, be held during November.

The Commission outlined possible subjects. It suggested that the Conference study the traits of

¹ Point 2221.

Point 2308.

³ Point 2250.

Point 2233.

⁵ Point 2236.

the new economic situation and its medium- and long-term repercussions (structural changes and their social impact).

Transport policy: The Commission adopted a proposed Regulation on harmonizing the main social provisions applicable to transport by inland waterway. The Regulation would harmonize the conditions of competition between Member States, but would substantially improve working conditions for boatmen and, in this way, enhance safety.'

Commission relations with both sides of industry

2426. Under the aegis of the Commission, representatives of the management and labour in the textile and clothing industries met in Brussels on 30 September 1975.

The trade unions, represented by the European Trade-Union Committee for Textiles, Clothing and Leather, and the management organizations—the Coordination Committee for the Textile Industries in the EEC (Comitextil) and the Common Market Committee of the European Association of Clothing Industries—took part in the meeting.

The management and workers of the textile and clothing industries, who are accustomed to holding 'round-the-table' discussions at European level, are the first to organize such a meeting with the Commission. This meeting forms part of a scheme which was outlined by the tripartite conference of representatives of the Community institutions, the Member States and both sides of industry on 16 December 1974,² and which also covers the car, chemical and building industries.

The purpose of the meeting was an exchange of views on three topics, as follows:

— the economic and employment situations in the textile and clothing industries;

- assistance for these industries from the European Social Fund;
- the bilateral agreements already negotiated or in the process of negotiation under Article 4 of the Multifibre Agreement with several nonmember countries which are major suppliers of textile products to the Community.

Court of Justice

New cases

Case 93/75—Mr Jacob Adlerblum, Paris v Caisse nationale d'assurance vieillesse des travailleurs salariés, Paris

2427. In an action concerning the grant of an increased old-age pension on the grounds of a dependent spouse, the Paris commission of first instance for social security disputes asked the Court of Justice on 2 September 1975 for a preliminary ruling on whether the pension granted by the Federal Republic of Germany to the spouse of the plaintiff as compensation for harm suffered through persecution constituted a social welfare benefit.

Case 94/75—Firma Süddeutsche Zucker-Aktiengesellschaft, Mannheim, v Hauptzollamt Mannheim

2428. In an action between a sugar manufacturer and the German authorities, the Baden-Württemberg Finanzgericht (revenue court) asked the Court of Justice on 3 September 1975 for a number of preliminary rulings on the

¹ Point 2257.

Bull. EC 12-1974, point 1307.

interpretation of Article 1 of Regulation (EEC) 142/69¹ laying down certain detailed rules for the application of the quota system for sugar. The Court wished to know whether, when calculating levies on sugar production (provided for by Regulation (EEC) No 1009/67² on the common organization of the market in sugar), account should be taken of the quantity of white sugar produced from sweepings which were not produced in the same sugar year?

Case 95/75—Firma Effem GmbH, Verden/Aller, v Hauptzollamt Lüneburg

2429. The Finanzgericht Hamburg asked the Court of Justice on 3 September 1975 for a preliminary ruling on the validity of Regulations 311, 317, 381, 410 and 427/743 fixing the export levies on cereals, in so far as they fix the total amount of the levy for forage preparations (tariff heading 23.07) without taking account of their starch content.

Case 96/75—EMI Records Limited, London v CBS Schallplatten GmbH, Frankfurt/Main

In a manner similar to the High Court of Justice in London (Case 51/75) and the Sø-og Handelsretten in Copenhagen (Case 86/75), the Regional Court in Cologne, in an action concerning the trademark 'Columbia', asked the Court of Justice on 5 September 1975 for the same preliminary rulings on the protection of trademarks under Community law.4

Case 97/75—Commission official v Commission

On 5 September 1975, a former Commission official brought an action to annul the Commission's decision to calculate the voluntary resignation allowance having regard to the income received by the plaintiff in his new post.

Case 98/75—Carstens Keramik GmbH Tönnieshof, Fredelsloh über Northeim v Oberfinanzdirektion Frankfurt/Main

Case 99/75—Firma August Hoff, Nürnberg-Grossgründlach, v Oberfinanzdirektion Frankfurt/Main

In cases concerning the tariff classification of articles of furniture, ornaments and tableware respectively, which were the subjects of official tariff classification opinions, the Federal Finance Court asked the Court of Justice on 11 September for a preliminary ruling on the interpretation and delimitation of tariff headings 69.13 A and C on the one hand and 69.12 A and C on the other.

Case 100/75—Comptoir Commercial André et Cie SA, Paris v Council and Commission

2433. On 22 September 1975, a French company brought a claim for damages before the Court of Justice for losses it had suffered as a result of changes in the system of monetary compensatory amounts. Similar claims were recorded in 1974' and at the beginning of 1975.'

Case 101/75—Firma Nordgetreide GmbH & Co KG, Obersickte bei Braunschweig v Commission

On 22 September 1975 a German undertaking manufacturing cereal products brought a claim for damages before the Court of

¹ OJ L20 of 27.1.1969.

² OJ L308 of 18.12.1967.

³ OJ L34 of 7.2.1974, OJ L35 of 8.2.1974, OJ L43 of 15.2.1974, OJ L46 of 19.2.1974, OJ L49 of 21.2.1974 and OJ L50 of 22.2.1974.

Bull. EC 6-1975, point 2432; Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2437.

Bull. EC 12-1974, point 2435. Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2439.

Justice for losses suffered on exports of maize groats, pellets and flaked grains to Denmark and United Kingdom owing to the fact that the Commission had adopted Regulations (EEC) Nos 751/75 and $1026/75^{\circ}$ altering the monetary compensatory amounts without adopting transitional measures for transactions in progress.

Case 102/75—Commission official v Commission

On 23 September 1975 a Commission official brought an action to annul the Commission's implied decision rejecting his claim concerning his grading on taking up his post.

Case 103/75—Mr Walter Aulich, Eindhoven v Bundesversicherungsanstalt für Angestellte, Berlin

The result of the judgment in case 35/73,2 in which the Court of Justice interpreted Article 22 of Regulation 33 on social security for migrant workers as meaning that a holder of pensions due under the law of several Member States and who resides in one of those States has no right to benefits in kind from the State in whose territory he resides if the law of that State does not provide for such benefits was that the plaintiff in that case was entitled under Article 381(4) of the Reichsversicherungsordnung (German Insurance Code),4 to his share of the contribution paid under the sickness insurance arrangements he had voluntarily entered into in the Netherlands.

Dealing with a similar case, the Higher Social Court in Berlin asked the Court of Justice on 29 September 1975 for a number of preliminary rulings on whether the legal position is the same pursuant to Article 27 of Regulation (EEC) No 1408/71^s on the application of social security schemes to employed persons and their families moving within the Community, which replaces Regulation 3.

Judgments

Case 50/74—Commission officials v the Council and the Commission

2437. On 10 July 1974, fifty-eight officials working at the Karlsruhe Research Centre brought an action before the Court of Justice to annul the Commission's decision dismissing their objection to the allocation of a particular sum of money for the sole benefit of local and establishment staff at Ispra and asking for the payment of a corresponding allowance.

The Court dismissed this action by its judgment of 30 September 1975.

Joint cases 89/74, 18 and 19/75—The Procureur général près la Cour d'appel de Bordeaux v Mr R.J. Arnaud, Teuillac, et al.

In cases involving the adulteration of wine the Bordeaux Court of Appeal asked the Court of Justice on 7 November 1974 and 11 February 1975 for a ruling on the compatibility of Article 8 of the Code du vin français (French Wine Code) and Article 2 of the decree of 22 January 19746 with Community Regulations 816/707 laying down additional provisions for

OJ L74 of 22.3.1975; OJ L101 of 21.4.1975.

Bull. EC 10-1973, point 2444. OJ 30 of 16.12.1958.

OJ L 149 of 5.7.1971.

Official Gazette of the French Republic, 8.2.1974,

OJ L99 of 5.5.1970.

the common organization of the market in wine, 817/70¹ laying down special provisions relating to quality wines produced in specified regions and 1539/71² determining Community methods for the analysis of wines.

By its judgment of 30 September, the Court ruled that the abovementioned Regulations should be interpreted as meaning that a Member State may, under present Community law, rely, as a national supervisory measure, on a legal presumption of excess addition of alcohol, based on the ratio of alcohol to dry extract determined by the 100° method, provided that this presumption may be qualified by its being applied in such a way that wines from other Member States are not placed at a disadvantage, whether de jure or de facto.

Joint cases 10 to 14/75—Fédération nationale des producteurs de vins de table et vins du pays, Paris v Mr P. Lahaille, Marseille, et al.

2439. Dealing with actions concerning wine frauds, the Aix-en-Provence Court of Appeal asked the Court of Justice, on 3 February 1975, for preliminary rulings on whether table wines moving within the Community must not only meet the standards laid down in Regulation 816/70¹ laying down additional provisions for the common organization of the market in wine, but also conform with national rules and practice.

Despite the interpretation given in joint cases 89/74, 18 and 19/75, the Court held in its judgment of 30 September 1975 that table wines need not conform to analytical standards other than those provided for in Regulation (EEC) 816/70 and that a Member State cannot demand an accompanying certificate in respect of wines from another Member State other than that for which provision is made in Community Regulations.

Case 16/75—Commission Official v Commission

2440. This action to annul the Commission's express refusal to consider the plaintiff's total length of service with OECD as annuities for the purpose of calculating her pension, was struck from the Court record by Order of 18 September 1975.

Case 28/75—Firma Baupla GmbH, Import und Vertrieb von Baustoffen, Saarlouis, v Oberfinanzdirektion Köln

2441. In a case concerning the tariff classification of prefabricated external wall sections which were the subject of an official tariff classification opinion contested by the applicant, the Federal Finance Court asked the Court of Justice on 12 March 1975 for a preliminary ruling on the classification of composite products.

In its judgment of 25 September 1975, the Court ruled that where it appeared that a composite product should be classified under two ore more headings of the Common Customs Tariff, each relating to materials used in the composite product, no such heading may be considered as more specific than the others on the sole ground that it gives a more exact or more complete description of the product concerned. Rules 3(b) or 3(c) for the interpretation of the Common Customs Tariff must be applied when classifying such a product.

Case 32/75—Mrs A. Christini, Vve E. Fiorini, Vénissieux, v Société nationale des chemins de fer français, Paris

2442. In an action concerning the issue by the SNCF of a reduced rate passenger ticket for large

¹ OJ L99 of 5.5.1970.

² OJ L 163 of 21.7.1971.

families to an Italian national, the Paris Cour d'Appel (Court of Appeal) asked the Court of Justice on 21 March 1975 for a preliminary ruling on whether such a ticket constituted a 'social advantage' within the meaning of Article 7 of Regulation 1612/68¹ on freedom of movement of workers within the Community.

By its judgment of 30 September 1975, the Court replied in the affirmative to this question.

Case 44/75—Firma Karl Könecke Fleischwarenfabrik, Bremen v Commission.

2443. The plaintiff had been prevented from importing products from non-member countries as a result of protective measures adopted by the Commission in respect of certain beef and veal products. The plaintiff brought an action before the Court of Justice on 6 May 1975 to annul the protective Regulations in question² in so far as they applied to products in respect of which a contract of sale had been concluded before 7 March 1975.

As the plaintiff had withdrawn its action, this case was struck from the Court record by Order of 18 September 1975.

Economic and Social Committee

133rd Plenary session

2444. The 133rd plenary session of the Economic and Social Committee was held in Brussels on 24 and 25 September with the regular Chairman, Mr Canonge in the Chair. This session saw the Committee at full strength for

the first time since the enlargement of the Community, in so far as the members representing the British trade unions took their seats.

The Committee adopted ten Opinions.

Opinions

Opinion on the Commission's Communication to the Council concerning equality of treatment of men and women as regards access to employment, vocational training, promotion and working conditions

2445. This Opinion, prepared from the report by Mrs Weber (Germany—Workers Group) was adopted, in the presence of Commission Vice-President Hillery, by a large majority with two members voting against and eight abstaining.

The Opinion highlighted the following aspects: the right to work is one of the basic human rights; the need to open up all the professions to women as well as the appropriate training; the idea that legislation and practices now in effect must be changed so as to enable family responsibilities to be fitted in with vocational aspirations; education and vocational training comprise one of the ways of getting rid of traditional concepts of the respective roles of men and women on the labour market; extension of social welfare services; the need for an objective study of physical and social working conditions in professions which women are now entering, and the hope that practical action will be taken at the earliest opportunity.

OJ L257 of 19.10.1968.

² Regulation (EEC) 610/75, OJ L63 of 8.3.1975; Regulation (EEC) 888/75, OJ L85 of 5.4.1975; Regulation (EEC) 1090/75, Article 1, OJ L108 of 26.4.1975.

Commission Communication to the Council on developing the common transport policy

2446. This supplementary Opinion, prepared from the report by Mr Renaud (France—Employers Group), and adopted unanimously apart from twelve abstentions bears on the links between transport policy and other Community policies, particularly as regards the energy, regional, taxation and financial fields.

With regard to transport, as such, and energy policy, the Committee found that developments since 1973 amounted to a radical change, which had an appreciable impact on our economic make-up, our development and our life style. Energy will for the future remain a valuable and costly item which will have to be used as economically as possible.

As regards transport and regional policy, the Committee stressed that transport plays a role in the quest for balance between areas of overconcentration and zones of low economic development, as one of the special tools of regional policy.

In the matter of transport and financial implications, the Committee found it difficult to accurately define the financial impact of the other common policies on transport.

Use of telecommunication resources and the correlation between telecommunications and transport

2447. This Opinion, prepared from the report by Mr Roseingrave (Ireland—General Interests Group) was adopted unanimously apart from 11 abstentions.

Since telecommunications is a vast subject, the Committee confined itself to studying 'the use of telecommunications resources and the correlation between telecommunications and transport'. The intention was to alert the Commun-

ity institutions to the big problems involved in telecommunications, to highlight specific features and suggest priorities for their development.

Commission Proposals to the Council for Regulations relating to application of generalized tariff preferences for 1976

2448. This Opinion, prepared from the report by Mr Evain (France—Employers Group) was unanimously adopted.

The Committee approved the care taken by the Commission in its generalized preference Proposals for 1976. Improvements had to be found especially for better application of the scheme as it has developed so far. In the long-term, generalized preferences should be dovetailed into the series of Community instruments for development assistance, and the repercussions of such an overall policy on the Community's internal situation should be appraised to assess whether counterbalancing measures should be taken.

Proposal for a Council Directive relating to pollution of sea water and fresh water for bathing (quality objectives)

2449. In this Opinion, prepared from the report by Mr De Grave (Belgium—Workers Group) and adopted unanimously, the Committee approved the proposed Directive, fully aware of the new problems arising from the fact that the Directive stipulates the classification of bathing water into three categories, i.e. water in which bathing is authorized, or tolerated or prohibited.

Proposal for a Council Regulation (EEC) amending the Regulations (EEC) 1408/71 and 574/72 on standardizing the system of paying family benefits to

On 28 March 1974, the Committee issued an Opinion in principle on this Communication, Bull. EC 3-1974, point 2454.

workers, the members of whose families reside in a Member State other than the country of employment

2450. This Opinion, prepared from the report by Mr Purpura (Italy—General Interests Group) was adopted unanimously.

The Committee approved the proposed Regulation presented by the Commission and noted the delay in its presentation owing to difficulties deriving from the accession of the three new Member States. Reiterating that the continuous improvement of social security Regulations was always desirable, to ease the free movement of labour between the Member States, the Committee felt that the Proposal was a decisive stride towards the removal of certain barriers to the mobility of workers within the Community.

ECSC Consultative Committee

2451. The steel crisis was the focus of the debates at the 172nd meeting of the ECSC Consultative Committee in Rome on 29 September, chaired by the regular Chairman, Mr Capanna.

The accent was everywhere on the extreme seriousness of the crisis, as was particularly emphasized by Mr Ferry, who acted as spokesman for the producers in presenting a draft resolution to the effect that the Community iron and steel industries are in a state of crisis and that it is up to the Commission to study measures appropriate to the urgency and seriousness of the situation and the basic concerns of the ECSC Treaty, and to present these at the earliest opportunity, for approval by a Council meeting to be specially called.

Mr Ferry criticized the method used by the Commission, which was to influence steel pro-

duction via forward programmes. This formula could no longer measure up to the present situation and any further procrastination on the part of the Community institutions would be a grave lapse from the basic principles of the Treaty. Mr Ferry, whose address was something of a solemn warning, urged the Commission to discover in the Treaty or in the exception procedures likely to obtain Council approval, effective means to halt a deterioration which would inevitably end in the disintegration of the common market in steel.

Measures to be taken concerning production, trade and prices must constitute a strictly applied defence against non-member countries.

The present crisis, said Mr Ferry, should in the end give us the chance to redefine in the widest possible international context competition rules better tailored to the need to ensure greater stability of employment and of company resources.

Mr Ferry's analysis met with agreement from the other speakers.

In reply, Commissioner *Spinelli* first spoke of the existing possibilities in the social sphere, which should offset the cost of lost hours of work.

As regards the steel market, however, measures could be contemplated, but they must find general agreement and their application must not run up against a monitoring system difficult to operate.

There remained the measures vis-à-vis non-Community countries. Although Mr Spinelli believed it possible to slow down imports, we must not slide into protectionism. Instead we must stimulate the free play of market forces for the greatest good of the economy in general and of the steel industry, which will benefit from it.

Finally, the draft resolution was adopted as amended with a supplement stressing the need to

counter the social repercussions and the fall in unemployment and workers' incomes.

2452. The Consultative Committee again examined the Commission's amendments to the Forward Steel Programme for the current year and gave a favourable opinion on a draft Decision of the Commission concerning the unit of account used within the scope of the ECSC Treaty.

European Investment Bank

Loans issued

2453. The EIB has concluded a contract at Luxembourg for a US \$100 million issue of five-year notes on the international capital market.

Bearing interest at 9%, payable annually, the notes are being offered to the public at 99.5%. Redemption will be at par at term and, calculated on the basis of their full lifetime, the yield on the notes is 9.13%.

The underwriters are an international syndicate of banks.

Application has been made to list the issue on the Luxembourg stock exchange.

Loans granted

Denmark

2454. The EIB is helping finance two new production platforms in the Dan oilfield, 200 km off the west coast of Jutland in the Danish sector of the North Sea. A loan equivalent to Dkr 43 000 000 (6 100 000 u.a.) has been granted for

nine years at an interest rate of 9 ½% to Dansk Boreselskab A/S, a company in the A.P. Møller group.

The new installations, to which the EIB loan contributes will help to raise total production capacity to some 600 000 tonnes a year by 1977.

In comparison with other North Sea fields, these reserves are fairly limited but they will nonetheless contribute towards the EEC's drive to maximize domestic energy resources and reduce its dependence on imports.

The project is of importance for Denmark, which, apart from this one oilfield in production, has practically no other fuel reserves or hydroelectric resources, and so far no nuclear power stations. Raising production from the Dan field therefore offers one of the few short-term possibilities for Denmark to reduce its very high dependence on imported oil.

Ireland

2455. A third loan, this time the equivalent of £17500000 (30000000 u.a.) has been granted by the EIB for development of the Irish telecommunications system.

The terms are twelve years with an interest rate of 91/2% and the loan raises to £34500000 the total finance provided by the Bank for this purpose.¹

All the loans contribute towards different projects within the Department of Posts and Telegraphs' five-year (1973-78) expansion programme for the country's telephone service.

Under this programme, the number of subscribers is expected to rise from the 1973 figure of 268 000 to 448 000, 95% of whom will have access to automatic direct-dialling facilities.

¹ Bull. EC 11-1973, point 2457, and 9-1974, point 2443.

The development of a modern, efficient telecommunications system holds a high priority in the Irish Government's efforts to attract new industry and encourage the expansion of existing activities, both of which are badly needed to provide new job opportunities and combat a level of unemployment which is consistently the highest of the member countries of the Community.

United Kingdom

2456. A loan equivalent to £1600000 (2700000 u.a.) has been granted by the EIB to help finance construction of a glucose factory by Tate & Lyle Ltd., the international trading, manufacturing and services group based in London. The loan has been provided by the EIB for ten years at an interest rate of 9 1/2%.

The factory is being built by the Howden Glucose Company Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tate & Lyle on the River Ouse at Howden, near Goole in Yorkshire and when fully on stream, towards the end of next year, will have a production capacity of some 35000 tonnes per year. Most of the production is destined for use as a sweetener by the food industry and also in brewing.

The plant will create new job opportunities in an area of unemployment.

2457. A loan equivalent to £17500000 (30000000 u.a.) has been granted to the United Kingdom Post Office by the EIB to help modernize and extend the telecommunications network in Wales and certain parts of the adjoining counties of England. Investment in the entire project amounts to £104000000. The need for investments on this scale is clear from the fact that the area of Wales & The Marches Telecommunications Board—one of ten regions into which the United Kingdom is divided for tele-

communications purposes—has a telephone density of only 18 per 100 population compared with a national figure of 34, which handicaps industrial development.

Financing Community activities

Preliminary draft third supplementary budget

The purpose of this preliminary draft supplementary budget, which was sent to the Council on 30 June, was to increase the size of the staff of the Commission's Directorate-General for Development and Cooperation, to cope with implementing the Lomé Convention. As this proposal was made quite late in the year at a time when the preliminary draft general budget for 1976 was already being examined, the budget authority preferred to review staff requirements in the context of the preliminary draft budget for 1976 rather than to 'follow up the preliminary draft supplementary budget. Accordingly, on 29 September the Council decided to grant the Commission 42 extra posts for 1976 to be assigned to the Directorate-General for Development and Cooperation, and authorized the Commission to start the recruitment procedure straight away.

Third supplementary and amending budget

Preliminary draft fourth supplementary and amending budget

2459. On 15 September the Commission sent to the Council the preliminary draft fourth

¹ Bull. EC 6-1975, point 2464.

Table 2—Estimated revenue for 1975 (including the draft third supplementary budget)

(in u.a.)

		1975 Budget, including first and second supplementary budgets	Draft third supplementary budget	New total 1975
Own resources		3 901 955 169	+ 28 523 539	3 930 478 708
Contributions (GNP scale)		2 102 473 645	+ 175 643 815	2 278 117 460
Other revenue		57 162 239		57 162 239
	Grand total	6 061 591 053	+ 204 167 354	6 265 758 407

supplementary and amending budget, which was designed:

(i) to authorize additional appropriations for the Guarantee Section of the EAGGF (supplementary budget), adjust the allocation of appropriations within Titles 6 and 7 and transfer appropriations from Chapter 92 (Food aid) to the Guarantee Section of the EAGGF.¹

When drawing up the preliminary draft budget for 1975 the Commission had proposed to enter the sum of 200 million u.a. in Chapter 98 to cover the foreseeable implications of the decision on prices to be taken for the 1975/76 marketing year.

However, the budget authority chose not to enter this amount and undertook to draw up a supplementary budget, at the appropriate time, to meet this expenditure;

(ii) to authorize additional appropriations for Chapter 33 (Research expenditure). It should be emphasized that these additional requirements for 1975, which result from the Commission's undertakings concerning the Council Decisions of 15 July 1975 on energy research, which were formally confirmed on 22 August,² may be met by transferring appropriations within the General Budget of the Communities. Consequently, this part of the preliminary draft is an amending budget in nature.

Draft third supplementary and amending budget for 1975

2460. As the preliminary draft third supplementary budget for 1975 was rejected by the budget authority, the preliminary draft fourth supplementary and amending budget presented by the Commission becomes the draft third supplementary and amending budget drawn up by the Council.

On 22 September the Council approved a batch of proposals concerning an increase in appropriations for the Guarantee Section of the EAGGF (with the exception of charging to the Guidance Section the sum of 62.5 million u.a. for premiums for rebuilding herds, as no decision has yet been taken on the Commission's proposal for a Regulation).

The Council has also accepted the Commission's research proposals and inserted in the draft budget an appropriation to cover the financial implications of the research programme on the management and storage of radioactive waste, which it approved on 26 June.³ The sum involved is 1315000 u.a. (appropriations for payment for 1975).

Tables 2 and 3 show the trend in appropriations available and estimated revenue for 1975,

¹ Point 2466.

OJ L231 of 2.9.1975.

³ OJ L 178 of 9.7.1975.

Table 3—Appropriations authorized for 1975 (including the draft third supplementary budget)

(in u.a.)

	1975 Budget, including first and second supplementary budgets	Draft third supplementary budget	New total 1975
Commission	5 960 201 337		
Research and investment expenditure		+ 4775 000	
Expenditure on the scientific and technical policy programme		- 300 000	
Social Fund (vocational retraining)		- 3 160 000	
EAGGF		+ 260 000 000	
Food aid expenditure	 	- 60 000 000	
Flat-rate refund to the Member States for expenses incurred in the collection of own resources		+ 2852354	
Commission—new total			6 164 368 691
Other institutions	101 389 716		101 389 716
Grand total	6 061 591 053	+ 204 167 354	6 265 758 407

taking into account the draft third supplementary budget drawn up by the Council on 22 September, which has been sent to the European Parliament.

General budget for 1976

2461. On 25 August the Commission sent the preliminary draft budget for 1976 to the budgetary authority. In April the Commission had announced that it wanted to postpone the final estimate of 1976 appropriations for the Guarantee Section of the EAGGF (Titles 6 and 7) until September, when it would have more reliable statistics based on better information concerning crops in the Community and the situation on world markets.

Letter of amendment to the preliminary draft budget for 1976

2462. On 10 September the Commission adopted the 1976 budget estimates of EAGGF

expenditure, as announced in its letter dated 25 August, and sent them to the budgetary authority in a letter of amendment.

In this letter the Commission also proposed new measures concerning data processing.

General Introduction to the preliminary draft budget for 1976

2463. The General Introduction, which gives the reasons for the appropriations requested for 1976, follows a different format from that of previous years.

It gives a more detailed financial analysis of the different policies, describes and gives the reasons for the expansion of policies and new measures, and for the first time includes the triennial forecasts, thus enabling the 1976 appropriations to be examined in a broader framework.³

Bull. EC 7/8-1975, point 2465.

Volume 7 of the preliminary draft budget.

³ Point 2469.

Drawing up the preliminary draft budget for 1976

2464. In accordance with budget procedure, the Council started its examination of the preliminary draft budget of the Communities for 1976 on 22 September.

As it was impossible for the Council to adopt the budget, the Ministers postponed the final decision until a special session on 29 September. At this meeting the Council approved the draft budget (Table 4).

The Council also adopted the following statement:

'The economic and financial situation of the Member States of the Community led the Council, during the first reading of the draft budget for 1976, to seek every saving possible in the light of the information available in September. It has thus adopted the draft budget which it is now forwarding to the Parliament.

The Council expresses the hope that, in the subsequent budgetary procedure, account will be taken of

- any additional economies which might appear feasible between now and the second reading,
- any changes in world economic conditions,
- any improvement in the various policies which have been adopted by the Council before the second reading.'

The Commission's proposals, totalling 8 057 million u.a., were reduced to 7456 million u.a., a cut of 601 million u.a. or 7.47%.

Basically, reductions were made for the following three reasons:

1. The Council's approach is to authorize only those appropriations for which there is a formal legal basis. For this reason, the appropriations for many new measures were deleted.

As a result of the Council's very restrictive attitude, the draft budget is not, as the Commun-

ity had hoped, the forecasting document reflecting the way in which Community policy is heading, but a statement of accounts recording the cost of measures already decided on. In certain cases this will inevitably lead to supplementary budgets, a solution which the European Parliament and the Commission have always fought against.

- 2. The likelihood that certain appropriations would be reinstated by the European Parliament by virtue of its margin for manœuvre provided for in Article 203 of the EEC Treaty. The draft adopted on 29 September is only the first of the four stages in the budget procedure.
- 3. The economic and financial position of the Member States.¹

Agricultural expenditure in 1975 and 1976

2465. In view of the major difficulties caused in Council by the agricultural part of the Community budget, a brief rundown of the main aspects of the problem may be useful.

EAGGF part of the third supplementary and amending budget

2466. Because of the inevitability and unpredictability of agricultural expenditure, the Guarantee Section budget is always very likely to be either too large or to small, with the result that appropriations are cancelled or additional ones have to be requested. In 1975 more appropriations were needed. It is estimated that the authorities and bodies responsible for payments in the Member States will pay out 4696.5 million u.a. in 1975. Appropriations available, in the shape of the initial appropriations and carry-overs, total 4312 million u.a.

See the statement by the Council above.

Table 4—Draft budget for 1976

Trend in Community expenditure by sector after the Council Decisions of 29 September 1975

(in u.a.)

Sector	1975 appropriations, including the first, second and third supplementary budgets	%	1976 preliminary draft budget (including letter of amendment)	%	Percentage change between 1975 and 1976 col. 3 col. 1	1976 draft budget	%	cut compared with prelimi- nary draft col. 6 col. 3	col. 6 col. 1
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
I. Commission							ļ		
A. Administrative appropriations							l . <u>.</u> .		
1 - Staff	204 064 780	3.26	249 767 016	3.10	+ 22.40	241 707 899	3.24	- 3.23	+ 18.45
2 - Administration	64 151 800	1.02	80 500 020	1.00	+ 25.48	78 156 450	1.04	- 2.92	+ 21.83
3 - Information	6 300 000	0.10	6 830 000	0.09	+ 8.41	6 340 000	0.08	- 7.18	+ 0.63
4 - Aids and subsidies	16 843 300	0.27	22 984 810	0.28	+ 36.46	22 313 151	0.31	- 2.93	+ 32.47
	291 359 880	4.65	360 081 846	4.47	+ 23.59	348 517 500	4.67	- 3.22	+ 19.62
B. Intervention appropriations				 	İ			l	
1 - Agriculture	4 567 805 250	72.90	5 493 221 900	68.16	+ 20.26	5 490 505 500	73.63	- 0.05	+ 20.20
2 - Social Sector	375 495 200	5.99	516 642 000	6.41	+ 37.—	412 600 000	5.53	- 20.14	+ 9.88
3 - Regional Sector	150 000 000	2.39	450 000 000	5.58	+ 200.—	300 000 000	4.02	- 33.33	+ 100.—
4 - Research, technology, indus-		ļ		Į.			ļ		<u> </u>
try and energy	130 862 998	2.09	248 979 871	3.10	+ 92.19	135 672 526	1.82	- 45.51	+ 3.68
5 - Development cooperation	252 797 000	4.03	419 192 000	5.20	+ 65.—	211 222 000	2.83	- 49.62	- 16.45
	5 476 960 448	87.40	7 128 035 771	88.45	+ 30.18	6 550 000 026	87.84	- 8.11	+ 19.59
C. Contingency reserve	3 000 492	0.05	5 000 000	0.06	+ 66.64	3 000 000	0.04	- 40.—	_
5 ,	1				1				
D. Refunds to the Member States	393 047 871	6.27	437 195 617	5.43	+ 11.—	427 162 652	5.73	- 2.29	+ 8.68
Commission—Total	6 164 368 691	98.38	7 930 313 234	98.41	+ 28.70	7 328 680 178	98.28	- 7.59	+ 18.89
	101 200 71	1.0	137 (71 6:7		35.53	127.002.55			
II. Other institutions	101 389 716	1.62	127 671 047	1.59	+ 25.92	127 883 684	1.72	+ 0.16	+ 26.11
Grand total	6 265 758 407	100.—	8 057 934 281	100.—	+, 28.65	7 456 563 862	100.—	- 7.47	+ 19

¹ The 1975 appropriation of 3500000 u.a. was reduced to 3000492 u.a. in the first supplementary budget (the sum of 499508 u.a. was transferred to Chapter 33).

The main areas in which expenditure exceeded forecasts are as follows:

- (1) Sugar: Up by about 190 million u.a., mainly because of expenditure incurred to cope with supply difficulties.
- (2) Beef and veal: Up by about 460 million u.a., mainly because of new premiums introduced by the Council and exceptional market conditions in this sector.
- (3) Wine: Up by about 120 million u.a., because of the wine crisis which has resulted in considerably more wine being distilled than had been expected.
- (4) Monetary compensatory amounts in respect of intra-Community trade: Up by about 230 million u.a. because of the trend in intra-Community trade and the state of the pound on foreign exchange markets.

As these increases were not fully off-set by decreases in other areas, for example milk products, oils and fats, and pigmeat, expenditure exceeds available funds by 384.5 million u.a.

The Commission has proposed to cover this difference as follows:

(in million u.a.)

	(in million u.u.)
(i) supplementary budget representing the contingency amount included in the 1975 preliminary draft budget for the purpose of price adjustments	200
(ii) transfer from Title 9 (Food Aid) to Titles 6 and 7 (Guarantee Section)	60
(iii) transfer to the Guidance Section of 50% of expenditure on calving premiums and premiums for the retention of dairy herds	62.5
(iv) in addition, the closure of the Guarantee Section accounts for 1971 and 1972 will probably leave the Commission with a balance of about	62
Total	384.5

On 22 September the Council adopted a draft supplementary and amending budget releasing additional appropriations totalling 260 million u.a. The Commission or the Council will have to take a decision on the remaining 124.5 million u.a. required.

Letter of amendment to the 1976 preliminary draft budget

2467. The Commission had delayed sending the Council its proposals for the 1976 appropriations, so that its estimates would take into account as far as possible, the most recent data concerning agricultural crops. For this reason, these appropriations were the subject this year of a letter of amendment adopted by the Commission on 10 September, after consulting the EAGGF Committee on 3 September. The total amount proposed is 5160.3 million u.a. for the Guarantee Section, an increase of about 10% over the revised estimates for 1975 (4696.5 million u.a.) used as the basis for drawing up the preliminary draft fourth supplementary and amending budget.

About 4638 million u.a. of this total are shared among the various agricultural sectors.

Table 5—Expenditure by market sector

Sector	m. u.a.	Percentage	
Milk products	1941	41.9	
Cereals	715	15.5	
Beef and veal	680	14.7	
Oils and fats	411	8.8	
Tobacco	203	4.4	
Wine	196	4.2	
Sugar	170	3.7	
Fruit and vegetables	113	2.4	
Pigmeat	69	1.5	
Other	140	2.9	

To this expenditure must be added:

- (1) The sum of 262 million u.a. for accession compensatory amounts provided for by the Act of Accession. They mainly concern UK imports from the other Member States.
- (2) The sum of 260 million u.a. for monetary compensatory amounts in respect of trade within the Community and non-member countries. This type of expenditure results from the arrangements set up by the Council Regulation of 12 May 1971.

It is based on the difference between the rates used for the purpose of applying the agricultural policy—i.e., the representative rates—and the rates for converting national currencies into units of account based on their real value on foreign exchange markets.

It should be noted that the monetary factors account for Guarantee Section expenditure amounting to 527 million u.a. This total includes the monetary compensatory amounts as well as the additional expenditure intended to cover the difference resulting from the conversion into budgetary units of account, in accordance with IMF parities, of expenditure incurred in the Member States in national currency on the basis of the representative rates used for agricultural transactions, the latter being included in the appropriations for the various sectors. These monetary factors were insignificant until 1974, had a considerable impact in 1975 and will represent about 10% in 1976.

Meeting between Parliament and Council

2468. On 22 September the Council and a delegation from the European Parliament met to discuss the preliminary draft budget. At this stage in the proceedings the main question was to determine by what proportion the European Parliament could increase the discretionary ('non-compulsory') expenditure.²

An agreement was reached guaranteeing the European Parliament, in any event, a margin of increase in discretionary expenditure equivalent to about half the maximum rate established by the Commission which is 15.3% for the 1976 financial year. Delicate matters such as the classification of expenditure were not settled, but—in the words of the Council press release—'All who took part in the meeting were unanimous that the climate in which it had taken place augured well for the subsequent development of talks between the Council and the European Parliament on budget matters.'

Multinannual forecasts

2469. The triennial forecasts provided for by the Council Decision of 21 April 1970 were presented as an Annex to the 1976 preliminary draft budget.

For the first time these forecasts were drawn up at constant (i.e., 1975) prices, as it is difficult to make plausible assumptions concerning price fluctuations. The figures already presented had to be updated considerably in September for the letter of amendment concerning agricultural expenditure in 1976.

The definitive forecasts, including those for the Guarantee Section of the EAGGF, indicate total requirements of 7930 million u.a. in 1976, 8 525 million u.a. in 1977 and 8 800 million u.a. in 1978.

The VAT rate (mathematical relationship between, on the one hand, expenditure not covered by customs duties and agricultural levies, and on the other, 1% of the VAT assessment basis) will be about 0.60% in the three years covered by these forecasts.

¹ Bull. EC 7-1971, 2nd Part, point 39.

Article 203(8) of the EEC Treaty.

Financing Community activities

This rate presupposes that there will be a uniform basis of assessment, but this hinges on the approval and implementation of the 6th Council Directive on VAT.

The 1976-78 forecasts have been sent to the Economic Policy Committee for an opinion.

Control of own resources

2470. On 25 September the Commission approved and sent to the Council and to the European Parliament the report on the operation of the own resources inspection arrangements (establishment and payment) envisaged in Article 14(4) of Regulation 2/1971 implementing the Decision of 21 April 1970 on the replacement of financial contributions from the Member States by the Communities' own resources.¹

This report comprises:

- (1) an examination of national measures in the Member States on the subject of verification and inquiries;
- (2) an examination of the information submitted to the Commission by the Member States in the yearly reports provided for in Articles 5 and 13 of Regulation No 2/1971;
- (3) an examination of the arrangements for associating the Commission Departments with the inspections carried out by the Member States;
- (4) a general assessment of cooperation between the Member States and the Commission concerning inspection arrangements.

Institutional questions—European policy

Political cooperation

Ministerial meeting

2501. The 20th meeting of the Ministers for Foreign Affairs, under political cooperation, took place in Venice on 11 and 12 September, chaired by Mr Rumor, Italy's Foreign Minister. The Commission was represented by President Ortoli and Vice-President, Sir Christopher Soames. The officiating Chairman made the following comments on the proceedings:

Middle East: 'The Middle East situation was the subject of discussions prompted by the lively interest of the Nine in this area, which is of the utmost importance to Europe and to the whole world. The Nine welcome as an encouraging result the conclusion of a second interim agreement between Egypt and Israel. The Ministers look upon the agreement as an important contribution to détente and towards the eventual negotiation of a peaceful, just and lasting settlement. The efforts of Egypt, Israel and the United States in that direction were warmly appreciated by the nine Ministers. They welcomed the suggestion that efforts may shortly be made to achieve progress between Israel and Syria. The Nine reiterate their conviction that the negotiations should be kept going, in order that substantial new progress may be made towards a peaceful general solution, in the context of the Geneva conference'.

Portugal: 'The Ministers discussed the most recent developments of the political situation in Portugal. They are heartened by the efforts made by the forces of democracy in that country to put into action the will of the vast majority of the people as expressed in free elections. The Ministers hope that further developments will make it possible to give effect to the Council's decisions on the European Community's contribution towards improving Portugal's economic position'.

OJ L3 of 5.1.1971.

Cyprus: 'The Foreign Ministers of the Nine expressed their keen regret that for want of practical proposals, the inter-Community discussions initially scheduled for 8 and 9 September in New York have been deferred.

They hoped that these inter-Community talks sponsored by the United Nations' Secretary-General would be resumed as early as possible, and on this point, once again expressed the hope that the parties concerned would be able to get down to a constructive and practical appraisal of the basic problems in the Cyprus question, and that they would advance towards a solution through mutual and balanced concessions.

With this goal in mind, the Nine intend to follow up their friendly approach to the parties concerned, on the basis of the links which, *inter alia*, underly the relations of association between Cyprus, Greece and Turkey on one side and the European Community on the other.

The Ministers reiterated their hopes that no unilateral move would compromise the relaxed atmosphere needed for negotiations to keep moving forward'.

Euro-Arab dialogue: 'As regards the Euro-Arab dialogue, the Foreign Ministers of the Nine took note of the Chairman's report on the second meeting between European and Arab experts in Rome on 22 to 24 July. They were pleased to find that progress was made at the meeting towards broad and lasting cooperation between European and Arab countries.

They reaffirmed the value they set on this dialogue, the political importance they attach to it and their determination to develop and intensify it'.

Financial aid to Egypt: 'The Nine are aware of the urgent need to facilitate economic recovery in the Middle East and will go on playing their part in the efforts to this end, in particular towards the reconstruction and development of Egypt'.

Other matters on the agenda of the Ministers' meeting were the results of the CSCE, action to

be taken following the Conference and the Community's presence the at Nations. As regards the UN, the Ministers congratulated Mr Thorn, President of the Luxembourg Government and the Grand Duchy's Foreign Minister, who will shortly assume the Presidency of the General Assembly, for its thirtieth session, and expressed the Community's resolve to attend the United Nations as a political unit. Besides showing consistency in matters of specific competence, the Community must present its own attitude to political questions of a general nature. It was agreed that Mr Rumor, the Chairman-in-Office, would make a statement on behalf of the Community before the General Assembly.

Statement by Mr Rumor at the United Nations

2502. On 23 September, on behalf of the Community, Mr Rumor, Italy's Minister for Foreign Affairs and President-in-Office of the Council of the Communities and of Political Cooperation, addressed the 30th session of the General Assembly of the United Nations in the following terms:

'Mr President, it is to you first of all that I speak, to offer you my respectful congratulations on your election as President of the United Nations General Assembly.

The civic tradition and long experience of democracy of the country you represent, and your merits as an eminent statesman, assure us that in you, the Assembly will find a reliable and enlightened guide.

As President-in-Office of the Council of the European Economic Community, let me also say how glad I am to see the representative of a Community country called to preside over the proceedings of the United Nations General Assembly on its thirtieth anniversary. Before you, Mr President, I am renewing the commit-

ment of the nine countries of the Community to strive to develop and intensify together their relations with the United Nations.

I would also say to the Secretary-General, Mr Kurt Waldheim, how much we value the unremitting and tireless efforts he is making to secure victory for the ideals of the United Nations. As he very rightly said himself when presenting his report to our Assembly: "It is generally acknowledged that in the world today no other rational solution can, in international relations, replace the principles and the procedures of the United Nations".

I am happy to take the floor at this regular session, as I already had the opportunity of doing at the Seventh Special Session, to begin with, on behalf of the nine Foreign Ministers of the Community.

On 17 July, at the end of a meeting of the European Council, the Heads of Government of the nine Community countries made a statement on the United Nations, which was then presented to the Secretary-General and distributed to the member countries of the United Nations.

The statement expresses the common view of the Nine on the role which the United Nations are called upon to play, and their own common approach to the problems which the United Nations must help to solve.

Regarding the role of the United Nations, the Community countries expressed their conviction that while sensitive to the tensions which still divide the world, the United Nations remains the vital instrument of contact, negotiation and cooperation, since the growing interdependence of countries and peoples is multiplying the problems requiring solutions at world level. Consequently, the Community countries intend to take an active and constructive part in the efforts to strengthen the role and effectiveness of the United Nations, in which the Nine reaffirm their confidence.

I believe it will be generally acknowledged that, during the Seventh Special Session of the General Assembly which has just closed, the countries of the European Community have proved their resolve to make together a positive contribution towards establishing a fairer and more balanced international economic order. We are happy with the satisfactory results of the Seventh Special Session and hope, as a Community, to share in the action to follow.

Within the United Nations, the Nine intend to work for conciliation and dialogue, whose prerequisites are the principle of universality, application of the provisions of the Charter and respect for the rights and responsibilities of Member States.

Then with regard to the problems faced by the United Nations, the Nine are working, primarily, to preserve peace and for the peaceful settlement of disputes and conflict.

As an example, I would mention the active support which the Nine, drawing upon the special ties of association between the Community and the three countries concerned, is now throwing behind the unceasing and dogged efforts of the United Nations Secretary-General to solve the Cyprus crisis, in accordance with his mandate from Resolution 3212 (XXIX) of the 29th General Assembly and from Resolution 367 (1975) of the Security Council, for whose adoption the Nine have actively worked.

Similarly, as regards the Middle East, the Nine reaffirm their keen and constant interest in intensifying the efforts to secure an overall peaceful, equitable and lasting settlement, in accordance with Resolutions 242 (1967) and 338 (1973) of the Security Council, and the principles of their Declaration of 6 November 1973.

It is the concept of justice and the resolve to champion the basic freedoms and human rights, as the Nine expressed them in their Declaration,

Bull. EC 9-1975

which inspires the commitment whereby the Community Governments will help to terminate, wherever they may arise, the practices of apartheid and all forms of racial, political and religious discrimination.

The principles of independence and equality for all peoples underly the action of the Nine to make a solid contribution to the permanent solution of the problem of decolonization; this contribution has not failed the new members of the United Nations, the Republic of Cape Verde, the Democratic Republic of Sao Tomé et Príncipe and the People's Republic of Mozambique, whom we welcome amongst us today, in their accession to independence, and we are constantly renewing that contribution in affirming the rights of the peoples of Namibia and Rhodesia.

The Nine, who during the Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe, have acted in close liaison with the other Western countries, in particular the United States and Canada, are happy that the Conference succeeded in defining principles of conduct to strengthen security and develop cooperation, trade and contacts between all the peoples of Europe. They are convinced that the results of the Conference make an ample contribution to the process of détente, beyond Europe, in the whole world.

In their statement on the United Nations, the Nine wished to see firm progress made towards a fairer and more balanced structure of international economic relations.

Lastly, in the spirit of interregional collaboration desired by the United Nations, the Euro-Arab dialogue is unfolding, which would restructure, in a broader and more comprehensive setting, the links between mankind, and the ties of cooperation between the Community and the Arab League countries. The dialogue has started out successfully with the meetings between two delegations of experts which took place in Cairo and Rome a short time ago.

The Nine wish to maintain a constructive dialogue and develop as many contacts as possible with the other members of the United Nations, in a spirit of mutual understanding, to align and, if possible, harmonize their respective positions."

Provisional translation.

3_{RD} PART DOCUMENTATION

Action programme for taxation

Action programme for taxation

Commission Communication to the Council, transmitted on 30 July 1975

1. Despite the disappointments of the first stage, achievement of economic and monetary union remains the priority objective in the work of building the new Europe.

The union cannot be attained without a number of measures with regard to taxation. The importance of these measures has been stressed on many occasions by the Community institutions: in its Resolution of 22 March 1971, which established the bases of the union, the Council gave a prominent place to fiscal harmonization, and it reaffirmed the importance of the measures to be adopted in this field in its Resolution of 21 March 1972.²

- 2. However, none of the important proposals which the Commission submitted under these Resolutions has been adopted by the Council, although the latter, in its Resolution of 21 March 1972, agreed to give these proposals priority treatment on its agenda and to reach decisions on them within six months from the date of their entry on the agenda. The Commission much regrets the lack of political will among the Member States, which has prevented all progress in this field, and feels that it is now time to reconsider the matter: its scale and importance are such that it must be tackled resolutely, and without further delay.
- 3. The Commission is well aware that tax harmonization is subject to limits set by a large number of constraints. The fiscal system of any given country depends closely on its economic and social structures. Taxation is, also, for the Governments, an important instrument for achieving economic and social objectives, whether they affect structures or current economic

trends. Until these objectives can be defined and achieved at Community level, the authorities will have to ensure that harmonization in no way hampers the use of taxation as an instrument of national policy. Tax harmonization must support work on the convergence of economic policies, without imposing restrictions of the Member States earlier than is necessary, especially as regards the rates of the main taxes and charges.

- 4. Accordingly, the Commission feels that, for the near future, it would be better to concentrate on essentials and to restrict Community measures to those which are absolutely indispensable. However, it must stress that in the longer term other measures will be necessary if integration is to be taken further.
- 5. The programme proposed thus has two main parts:
- (i) in the first place, the aim is to complete work on establishing tax conditions which would enable the highest possible degree of liberalization in the movement of persons, goods, services and capital and of interpenetration of economies. This context includes in particular measures for harmonization of the structures and implementing procedures relating to various categories of taxes and charges;
- (ii) secondly, preparations must be made, with a view to further European integration, to bring closer together the respective burdens of those taxes and charges having any substantial impact in this context. A point which is relevant here is the use of taxation as an instrument of common policies.
- 6. The Commission has consulted the employers' federations, the unions, and the

OJ C28 of 27.3.1971.

OJ C38 of 18.4.1972.

revenue departments of the member countries. The suggestions and proposals which it is making take fully into account the view expressed in these consultations and reflect the desiderata of managements and unions. Responsibility for prompt action with regard to the Commission's proposals now lies with the Council.

7. The Council's attitude in this connection will show its desire to make progress towards economic and monetary union. Failure over a long period to establish the tax arrangements necessary to economic and monetary union could only be interpreted by public opinion, despite all the declarations of intention, as a decision to abandon the idea of establishing the union.

I. Measures designed to meet the taxation requirements for economic and monetary union

Value added tax

8. In the field of turnover taxes, the action of Community institutions aims to preserve neutrality of competition (internal and external) from the dangers constantly posed in the past by the existence of 'cascade' taxes in most countries and by the operation of flat-rate set-offs at frontiers, and to pave the way for the utmost economic interpenetration so as to form a large economic area with the features of a domestic market.

Some progress was made towards attainment of these objectives when the Council adopted, in 1967, two initial directives which led to the introduction of VAT in all the Member States.¹ The next step now due is the adoption of the proposal for a sixth Directive on the establishment of a uniform basis of assessment for VAT,² submitted by the Commission in June 1973.

The Commission feels that the Council should act rapidly on this proposal, for until it is

adopted, the 'own resources' scheme set up by the Council's Decision of 21 April 1970 cannot be properly implemented on 1 January 1978.³

- 9. If the 'own resources' mechanism—involving the transfer of not more than 1% of VAT assessed on a uniform basis—is to function correctly, uniform measures for the collection of the resources must be adopted. Once the Council has taken a decision as to the proposed sixth Directive, the Commission will accordingly draw up proposals to supplement and, where necessary, adapt to the specific characteristics of this category of own resources the rules and procedures already in force under Council Regulation No 2/71 of 2 January 1971.
- 10. The procedures used and the formalities required in connection with VAT at intra-Community frontiers are complicated, cumbersome and costly. This bears heavily on firms, particularly the smaller ones, so much so that they are frequently deterred from engaging in international trade. In addition, therefore, to the programme which it has put before the Council for simplifying customs procedures and formalities' the Commission intends to draw up proposals for similarly simplifying VAT arrangements as quickly as possible.
- 11. The Commission has ascertained that certain problems peculiar to importation could not be solved in the proposed directive on the uniform basis of assessment. To overcome these problems, it intends to take action in the following fields:
- temporary admission: without prejudice to the application of the provisions of the Treaty

¹ EEC Directives 67/227 and 67/228 — OJ 72 of 14.4.1967.

² OJ C80 of 5.10.1973; OJ C121 of 11.10.1974.

³ OJ L94 of 28.4.1970.

OJ L3 of 5.1.1971.
 Bull. EC 2-1975, point 2101.

relating to the supply of services the aim is to harmonize certain laws, regulations and administrative provisions, one of the key objectives being to make it easier for undertakings in one Member State to tender for public procurement work in other Member States. Participation in such tenders, which is a matter the Commission attaches the highest importance to, is at present hampered by a very large number of obstacles, including taxation ones which simply must be removed:

- repairs carried out for non-taxable persons in another Member State—steps must be taken to avoid the double taxation which occurs at present;
- mail-order sales: the cross-frontier development of this type of sale to non-taxable persons, which has the undeniable advantage of widening the choice available to consumers and consequently helping to keep down prices, encounters serious tax and other obstacles. A system thus needs to be introduced which is administratively simple and at the same time ensures that the States concerned each receive the right share of tax receipts.

Excise duties and other indirect taxes

- 12. In the field of excise duties, three problems first had to be solved: which excise duties to retain, the harmonization of their structures and how to prevent Member States from introducing new excise duties entailing set-off or checking at frontiers. Appropriate proposals were made by the Commission in 1972 and 1973 (outline directive and directives on beer, wine, spirits and minerals oils).¹
- 13. A first directive concerning excise duties on manufactured tobacco was also adopted by the Council on 19 December 1972.² The two years specified in this Directive for implementing provisions on the structure of the excise duty on

cigarettes were, however, extended for a year by Council Directive No 74/318 of 25 June 1974.³ The Commission has now proposed a further one-year extension. This extension is needed to work out an acceptable solution to a problem which was difficult enough with just the Six and became more complicated with the enlargement of the Community.

On the basis of the original text, the Commission has also laid before the Council a proposal for defining and classifying manufactured tobacco in various groups.⁴ It intends to move on to the next stage of harmonization by submitting further proposals in the near future.

14. In view of the economic importance of the sectors in which these excise duties apply, all further progress in gradually establishing a single market depends on the adoption of the above proposals. Once adopted, they would also enable distortions stemming from the differences in the tax structures to be eliminated. There is no reason why such distortions should survive in such a major field of consumtion several years after those caused by turnover taxes were eliminated with the introduction of VAT.

Aware of the importance of this problem, the Council undertook, in its Resolution of 22 March 1971,5 to take decisions with regard to these texts by 1 January 1974. The Commission therefore urges prompt action in this field.

15. Intra-Community trade in products subject to excise duty involves procedures and formalities that cost money. Such procedures and formalities also exist within the Member States,

OJ C43 of 29.4.1972; OJ C92 of 31.10.1973.

Directive 72/464 — OJ L 303 of 31.12.1972.

³ OJ L 180 of 3.7.1974.

⁴ OJ C72 of 27.6.1974.

⁵ OJ C28 of 27.3.1971.

although in a simpler form, and are largely the result of the generally high level of excise duty. However, steps could usefully be taken to simplify trade between Member States. The Commission will accordingly seek to devise solutions which enable formalities and controls to be relaxed without detracting from the proper collection of excise duties.

16. On other indirect taxes, the Council has already adopted three directives on the harmonization of provisions concerning capital duty (indirect taxes on the raising of capital).

The Commission plans to lay before the Council before the end of 1975 a proposal for a directive on the harmonization of indirect taxes on transactions in securities. The aim of this proposal is to eliminate tax obstacles to the free movement of capital between Member States, and it is therefore part of the work to establish a European capital market. The Commission's long-term objective is in fact the abolition of this tax, which has no place in a modern tax system.

17. A proposal is being drawn up for a directive designed to facilitate the effective exercise of the freedom to supply services in connection with indemnity insurance. The disparities in the tax systems in this field could impair competition. Without ruling out fuller harmonization later on, the proposal will therefore contain a clause aimed at avoiding cases of double taxation or of non-taxation.

Direct taxes

18. The complexity of the problems to be solved—stemming from historical grounds, technical factors and the use of these taxes as a major instrument of economic and social policy—together with the enlargement of the Community have caused considerable delay in the process of harmonizing direct taxes. It would

be dangerous to allow this situation to last, for the difficulties caused by disparities in this field are aggravated by the lack of set-off arrangements at frontiers to neutralize their effects. The work which has been going on for several years with a view to eliminating tax obstacles to the cross-frontier merger of firms and to the free movement of capital should now be stepped up and other measures taken at the same time.

19. The Commission recalls in this connection that as requested by the Council it put forward in January 1969 two proposals for directives² concerning the common tax arrangements applying to mergers, divisions and contributions of assets between companies in different Member States and the common tax arrangements applying to parent companies and subsidiaries in different Member States. It deeply regrets that despite the undertakings entered into in several resolutions on industrial policy and the concern shown on this matter at the highest political level at the Paris Summit Conference in 1972, the Council has still not acted on these proposals, which are also indispensable if the new 'European' companies are to operate properly. The Commission stresses the need for an early decision.

20. The Commission will also transmit to the Council in the very near future a proposal for a directive harmonizing the systems of company taxation and of withholding taxes on dividends. As it pointed out to the Council in a letter dated 7 December 1973, harmonization will be based on a common imputation system partially relieving the double economic taxation of dividends and will involve some narrowing of

Directive 69/335 — OJ L249 of 3.10.1969; Directive 73/80 — OJ L103 of 18.4.1973; Directive 73/79 — OJ L103 of 18.4.1973.

² OJ C39 of 22.3.1969.

differences both in the rates of taxes on profits and in those of tax credit. This is one of the steps towards the establishment of a European capital market and paves the way for a further narrowing of differences between taxes on firms' profits.

The Commission will also put forward solutions to the technical problems raised by dividends when they are paid through companies investing in securities or through unit trusts.

- 21. As regards bond interest, in 1973 the Commission came out in favour of the principle of a substantial withholding tax, something like 25%, reflecting the need to ensure fair taxation and the concern for social implications shown by the Heads of Government. The Commission maintains this position, but, as it has already stated, will make a proposal along these lines only when the Community has a system for controlling external capital movements.
- 22. The Commission also intends to pursue its work relating to the basis of assessment of taxes on the profits of firms. This is a very wide field covering a whole range of provisions such as depreciation, capital gains, valuation of stocks, carry-forward of losses, treatment of tax-free reserves, etc.

While harmonization of the particularly large number of incentives in this field must be ruled out for the time being—such measures come under the economic policy of each Member State—a definition of a 'normal' basis of assessment must be worked out if distortions of competition are to be eliminated, taxes made transparent and rates subsequently brought closer together.

23. In the field of personal income tax, a number of particular problems are being examined: in particular there are the increasingly common cases of tax-payers who, on moving

from one Member State to another, are penalized because they are unable for instance to deduct certain expenses from their taxable incomes.

International tax evasion and avoidance

24. International tax evasion and avoidance lead to losses of revenue and breaches of the principle of tax fairness; it can also cause distortions in capital movements and the conditions of competition. Accordingly, on 10 February 1975, the Council adopted a resolution proposed by the Commission laying down the principles of the measures to be taken by the Community to ensure that taxes on incomes and profits are correctly determined.

To implement this resolution, the Commission will shortly put forward proposals on:

- the mutual exchange of information between Member States;
- enquiries to be carried out in one Member State at the request of another;
- constant collaboration by the Member States and the Commission so as to keep under review the operation of machinery for mutual assistance and to improve it.

In its work on implementing this resolution, the Commission will also look into the possibility of making it easier for officials of one State to be associated with work carried out in another State and of harmonizing the legal and administrative instruments of the revenue departments for collecting information and exercising their right of control.

25. Following up its Communication to the Council of November 1973 on multinational

OJ C35 of 14.2.1975.

undertakings, the Commission will continue its work with a view to presenting proposals on:

- the elimination of double taxation which can result from adjustments made to profits by a Member State;
- the fixing of common rules for avoiding artificial transfers of profits between undertakings in the same group by means of transfer pricing.

It further calls attention to the suggestions which it made in the report on the tax arrangements applying to holding companies2 drawn up in June 1973 at the request of the Council, and in particular those concerning the shifting of the burden of proof where there is a presumption of tax avoidance and the charging of a withholding tax on interest and royalties paid to companies bearing little or no tax on such income.

- 26. In the matter of indirect taxes, the Commission will shortly transmit to the Council a proposal on mutual assistance between Member States to enforce collection of amounts due in connection with VAT, excise duty and other indirect taxes on consumption along the same lines as proposals already put forward concerning agricultural levies and customs duties. The adoption of this proposal would enable Member States to recover amounts owed by a person liable to VAT or other indirect tax, even if this person resided or had his only seiseable property in a Member State other than that in which the tax debt arose.
- 27. As in the field of direct taxes, the Commission intends to promote mutual assistance between tax authorities in connection with indirect taxes in order to prevent fraud at international level. It will, in addition, study ways and means of quantifying the thoroughness of controls in each State and also seek to discover the most widespread methods of fraud with a view to proposing measures for preventing infringe-

ments of national laws and prosecuting offenders.

Tax exemption for individuals

- 28. As regards goods imported by travellers, a first directive was adopted by the Council in 1969.3 The exemptions were increased in 1972.4 The Commission intends to pursue this policy of extending the exemptions and will submit a proposal early in 1976. It is also planning to propose adjustments at regular intervals to these exemption amounts whose real value already falls well below what it was originally because of the steady rise in prices.
- 29. As regards consignments of goods by individuals, the Council has already introduced exemption for small consignments of a non-commercial character within the EEC's but still has to act on a Commission proposal for introducing similar facilities for consignments from nonmember countries.6
- 30. Supplementing the arrangements exemptions for individuals, the Commission will submit, before the end of the year, two new proposals for directives concerning:
- the permanent importation of certain personal effects, especially on the occasion of removal, inheritance, marriage, etc.,
- the temporary importation of certain goods (private cars, caravans, etc.).

Bull. EC 11-1973, points 1201 to 1204.

Bull. EC 6-1973, point 2119.

Directive 69/169 — OJ L 133 of 4.6.1969. Directive 72/230 — OJ L 139 of 17.6.1972. Directive 74/651 — OJ L 354 of 30.12.1974.

OJ C18 of 25.1.1975.

31. The Commission takes the view that all these measures dealing with exemptions, though not indispensable to the establishment of economic and monetary union, are of great importance, since they are concerned with satisfying the interests and the needs of individuals and constitute tangible and meaningful evidence for the public at large of the Community's existence.

Prior examination and consultation procedure

32. The success of the sort of programme advocated in this communication, graduated and spread over a period of time, implies a consensus, if no more than tacit, between the Member States as to the objectives to be attained and their willingness to refrain from unilateral measures which compromise the requisite and eventual convergence of their tax systems.

This is a fundamental condition, but if it is to be fulfilled, the Community institutions and the Member States must have at their disposal all the relevant information on the main provisions which the national authorities plan to adopt in the fields covered by the tax harmonization process, and it would perhaps be appropriate to give the Commission the opportunity of making known its views on these plans and in particular on the effects that their adoption might have on this process. Accordingly the Commission will as early as the beginning of 1976 propose to the Council that a procedure for prior examination and consultation be instituted, the rules of which would be modelled on those operating in the transport field pursuant to the Council's decision of 21 March 1962.1

Timetable

33. The timetable planned by the Commission for the submission of the proposals mentioned in this part is attached.

II. Long-term measures with a view to fuller integration

34. The measures set forth in the previous paragraphs are not sufficient if the aim is to achieve a genuine single market, entailing, inter alia, the abolition of tax frontiers. Taxes, which account for a substantial proportion of the gross national product of the Member States, are one of the key forces in their economic and social life, they strongly influence many factors, including the structure of consumption, and consequently, that of production, the profitability of firms, the location of investments, and the conditions of competition in general.

In a community of States closely integrated not only in the economic field but also, to a certain extent, in the political field, these various factors should not be artificially influenced by differences in fiscal burdens. Some alignment of these burdens will therefore eventually be necessary.

This alignment is also necessary in view of the role of taxation as an instrument of economic and social policy, if we are to achieve an ever closer coordination of national policies and to develop genuine common policies in the key areas of economic and social life.

Value added tax

35. Bringing VAT rates closely into line is an obvious requirement for a common market having the features of a domestic market. This objective has therefore never really been challenged, but the course to be taken and above all the pace at which progress is to be made have given rise to concern. Aware of the difficulties of attaining such an objective, the Commission feels that this should be a longer term and gradual process.

¹ OJ 23 of 3.4.1962.

- 36. Harmonizing rates will be possible only if certain conditions, which are far from being fulfilled at present, are met in advance. Differences exist between national systems not only as regards the level of rates but also as regards the number of these rates and their scope. The introduction of a uniform basis of assessment would not alter this situation. Accordingly, agreement must first be sought on the number of rates and, if a solution other than that of a single rate were selected, on a list of goods and services subject to the various rates and the relationships between these rates.
- Other benefits would accrue from such measures:
- neutrality in competition on the internal market seen from the outset as the fundamental objective of VAT would be created for substitutable products;
- larger exemptions would be possible, as a major source of variation in the tax burden from one country to the next would be removed;
- it would be easier to simplify certain procedures and formalities in intra-Community trade.

Excise duties

37. In the field of excise duties, the harmonization of rates is as essential as for VAT. The problems to be solved are largely the same or similar and will therefore be tackled from the same angle. However, for these duties, a further factor must be taken into account: certain excise duties are key components of sectoral policies (e.g. energy policy, transport policy, environment policy and agricultural policy) at both national and Community level. The fixing of harmonized rates will therefore depend on the objectives set for these common policies.

The Commission recalls in this connection that it has already laid before the Council proposals,

for example under the common transport policy, having a substantial impact on tax harmonization. These include the proposal for a first Council Directive on the adjustment of national taxation systems for commercial road vehicles and the proposed Council decision on the introduction of a common system of charging for the use of transport infrastructures.²

Direct taxes

- 38. Disparities in the area of direct taxes will become more and more noticeable as economic integration advances and as differences in the other factors influencing economic life are gradually narrowed. These disparities will therefore need to be eliminated.
- 39. In this context, attention will have to be directed to the incentive measures which Member States resort to in so far as they affect the basis of assessment of these taxes.

These measures are, whether permanent or temporary, designed to encourage investment in general or selectively; thus the authorities can influence the general business climate, grant actual aids to certain industries, or encourage the development of certain regions. Depending on the case, such measures, whose exact scope is often difficult to assess, consist in fact either in depreciating at a greater rate than can be justified by actual technical or economic depreciation, or in total or partial exemption of profits, generally on condition that they are reinvested, or even in tax rebates. Their impact, whether on the economy in general or on the specific competitive situation of the industries favoured and of the assisted regions, is not inconsiderable.

OJ C95 of 21.9.1968.

² OJ C62 of 22.6.1971.

If economic and monetary union is to be fully achieved, it is unthinkable that such measures should be adopted by the Member States without being properly related to an overall policy, even where, as aids, they do not actually conflict with the Treaty: as concerted economic policies are gradually worked out and implemented, it will prove increasingly necessary to coordinate the use of the tax system as an instrument of intervention.

- 40. In the field of company taxation, the process of bringing rates closer into line, beginning with the introduction of a common system of tax credits will have to be continued. How far this process should go will be determined by reference to the requirements of competition.
- 41. Another problem is whether, and if so to what extent, action will be required in other fields of direct taxation such as wealth taxes, taxes on specific occupations, etc., in order to attain Community objectives.

Conclusions

42. This Communication does not purport to produce a final and exhaustive list of the measures which should be undertaken by the Community, in future years, in the fiscal area. The programme should be reviewed periodically in the light of progress made in defining and establishing the union.

In any case, it is impossible to plan in advance for all cases where taxation could prove a useful instrument for attaining specific economic and social objectives. The Commission is well aware of this and will include the necessary measures in the proposals which it will be making in these fields.

43. In addition taxation problems arise in the field of external relations. These problems are

connected in particular with investments and with the taxation of capital and of the income derived from it. In the future these problems may be more sharply marked. An increase in direct and indirect investment in the Community by third countries, and vice versa, is indeed already taking place. Moreover, the Community has undertaken a process of industrial cooperation with the developing countries, especially under the Lomé Convention. This cooperation has taxation aspects, which hitherto have primarily been dealt with through bilateral agreements. The Commission intends to examine the possibility of enabling Member States to tackle these problems better on a Community basis and so to make it easier to carry out a policy of industrial cooperation with the developing countries.

Annex timetable

Timetable of measures set forth in part I

1975

- Harmonization of systems of company taxation and of withholding taxes on dividends;
- Harmonization of indirect taxes on transactions in securities;
- Mutual assistance between the Member States with a view to enforcing recovery of taxes due in respect of VAT and excise duties.

1976

- Uniform collection of own resources deriving from VAT (this proposal assumes that the Council has already taken action with regard to the 'uniform basis of assessment');
- Solution of VAT problems connected with 'repairs carried out abroad, mail-order sales and temporary admission of certain goods;
- Extension of exemptions for individuals;

Action programme for taxation

- Measures to establish effective cooperation between revenue departments to combat tax avoidance in the field of direct taxes;
- Elimination of double taxation likely to arise from profit adjustments made by a Member State;
- Prior examination and consultation procedure:
- Simplification of VAT formalities at intra-Community frontiers.

From 1977 onwards

- Measures enabling excise duties to be properly collected and formalities and checks to be streamlined;
- Fixing of common rules to prevent artificial transfers of profits between firms of the same corporate group though transfer pricing;
- Narrowing of divergences in the bases of assessment of taxes on the profits of enterprises.

Bull. EC 9-1975

		٠	
			ı
			4
			4
			•

De europæiske Fællesskabers publikationer Veröffentlichungen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften Publications of the European Communities Publications des Communautés européennes Pubblicazioni delle Comunità europee Publikaties van de Europese Gemeenschappen

Fortegnelse · Liste · Liste · Elenco · Lijst 9-1975

HENVISNING · HINWEIS · NOTE · AVERTISSEMENT · AVVERTENZA · VOORBERICHT

Denne oversigt omfatter såvel officielle som ikkeofficielle publikationer (monografier, serier, tidsskrifter, oplysningspjecer), der er udkommet i den
omhandlede periode og offentliggjort af EuropaParlamentet, Rådet, Kommissionen, Domstolen, Det
økonomiske og sociale Udvalg og Den europæiske
Investeringsbank. Disse publikationer kan fås ved
henvendelse til de nedenfor nævnte adresser. Anmodningerne skal indeholde nøjagtig angivelse af
referencenumre forud for titlerne.

Dieses Verzeichnis enthält die im Berichtszeitraum erschienenen amtlichen und nichtamtlichen Veröffentlichungen (Monographien, Reihen, Zeitschriften und Informationsdienste) des Europäischen Parlaments, des Rates, der Kommission, des Gerichtshofes, des Wirtschafts- und Sozialausschusses und der Europäischen Investitionsbank. Diese Veröffentlichungen sind bei den nachstehend aufgeführten Stellen erhältlich. Bei Anfragen sind die den Titeln vorangestellten Referenzen vollständig anzugeben.

This list includes both official and unofficial publications (such as monographs, series, periodicals, newsletters) which were published in the given period, by the European Parliament, the Council, the Commission, the Court of Justice, the Economic and Social Committee and the European Investment Bank. These publications can be obtained from the addresses mentioned hereafter. It is imperative that orders give the complete reference which precedes each title.

Cette liste comprend les publications, officielles ou non (monographies, séries, périodiques, notes d'information), parues durant la période de référence et publiées par le Parlement européen, le Conseil, la Commission, la Cour de justice, le Comité économique et social et la Banque européenne d'investissement. Ces publications peuvent être obtenues aux adresses énumérées cidessous. Les demandes doivent mentionner de façon complète les références précédant les titres.

Il presente elenco comprende le pubblicazioni, ufficiali o meno (monografie, serie, periodici, note d'informazione), edite nel periodo di riferimento dal Parlamento europeo, il Consiglio, la Commissione, la Corte di giustizia, il Comitato economico e sociale e la Banca europea per gli investimenti. Tali pubblicazioni possono essere ottenute presso gli indirizzi qui di seguito elencati. Le richieste dovranno comportare i riferimenti completi che precedono i titoli.

Deze lijst omvat de al dan niet officiële publikaties (monografieën, series, tijdschriften, nieuwsmededelingen) welke in de loop van het vermelde tijdvak verschenen zijn en door het Europese Parlement, de Raad, de Commissie, het Hof van Justitie, het Economisch en Sociaal Comité en de Europese Investeringsbank werden uitgegeven. Deze publikaties zijn bij de hierna vermelde adressen verkrijgbaar. De aan de titels voorafgaande gegevens dienen bij aanvraag volledig te worden opgegeven.

i

Publikationer til salg · Zum Verkauf bestimmte Veröffentlichungen · Publications for sale · Publications en vente · Pubblicazioni in vendita · Tegen betaling verkrijgbare publikaties

Publikationer, der sælges, kan fås ved henvendelse til salgskontorerne, som angivet pa tredje omslagsside i denne bulletin · Veröffentlichungen mit Preisangabe sind bei den auf der dritten Umschlagseite des Bulletins aufgeführten Vertriebsbüros erhältlich Publications with mention of price are obtainable from the Sales offices listed on the inside back cover of the Bulletin · Les publications comportant un prix de vente peuvent être obtenues auprès des bureaux de vente figurant à la page 3 de couverture du Bulletin · Le pubblicazioni messe in commercio si possono acquistare presso oli uffici di vendita indicati alla 3ª pagina di copertina del Bollettino · Publikaties met priisvermelding zijn verkrijgbaar bij de Verkoopkantoren, vermeld op blz. 3 van het omslag van het Bulletin.

Gratis publikationer · Kostenlose Veröffentlichungen · Publications free of charge · Publications gratuites · Pubblicazioni gratuite · Gratis verkrijgbare publikaties

Publikationer uden salgspris kan fås ved henvendelse til de udgivende institutioner · Veröffentlichungen ohne Preisangabe können bei den Herausgebern angefordert werden · For publications with no sales price requests should be addressed to the institutions that published them · Pour les publications qui ne comportent pas de prix de vente, il y a lieu de s'adresser aux institutions qui les éditent · Le pubblicazioni non disponibili in commercio possono essere richieste alle istituzioni che le pubblicano · Voor publikaties zonder prijsaanduiding zich wenden tot de instellingen waardoor ze uitgegeven worden:

EUROPA-PARLAMENTET · EUROPÄISCHES PARLAMENT · EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT · PARLEMENT EUROPEEN · PARLAMENTO EUROPEO · EUROPEES PARLEMENT

Secrétariat général du Parlement européen Direction générale du greffe et des services généraux Boîte postale 94, Luxembourg

Tél.: 477 11

RÅDET FOR DE EUROPAEISKE FAELLESSKABER · RAT DER EUROPÄISCHEN GEMEINSCHAFTEN · COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES · CONSEIL DES COMMUNAUTÉS EUROPÉENNES · CONSIGLIO DELLE COMUNITÀ EUROPEE · RAAD VAN DE EUROPESE GEMEENSCHAPPEN

Secrétariat général du Conseil Direction « Information et Documentation » Rue de la Loi 170, 1048 Bruxelles

Tél.: 736 79 00

KOMMISSIONEN FOR DE EUROPAEISKE FAELLESSKABER . KOMMISSION DER EUROPÄISCHEN GEMEINSCHAFTEN . COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES · COMMIS-SION DES COMMUNAUTÉS EUROPÉENNES · COMMISSIONE DELLE COMUNITÀ EUROPEE · COMMISSIE VAN DE EUROPESE **GEMEENSCHAPPEN**

Division IX-D-1 Rue de la Loi 200, 1049 Bruxelles

Tél.: 735 00 40 735 80 40 735 80 30

DOMSTOLEN FOR DE EUROPAEISKE FAELLESSKABER . GERICHTSHOF DER EUROPÄISCHEN GEMEINSCHAFTEN ., COURT OF JUSTICE OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES . COUR DE JUSTICE DES COMMUNAUTÉS EUROPÉENNES : CORTE DI GIUSTIZIA DELLE COMUNITÀ EUROPEE · HOF VAN JUSTITIE VAN DE EUROPESE GEMEENSCHAPPEN

Service intérieur Plateau du Kirchberg Boîte postale 1406, Luxembourg Tél.: 476 21

DET ØKONOMISKE OG SOCIALE UDVALG · WIRTSCHAFTS-UND SOZIALAUSSCHUSS · ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COM-MITTEE · COMITÉ ÉCONOMIQUE ET SOCIAL · COMITATO ECONOMICO E SOCIALE · ECONOMISCH EN SOCIAAL COMITÉ

Division « Presse et Information » Rue Ravenstein 2, 1000 Bruxelles

Tél.: 512 39 20

DEN EUROPAEISKE INVESTERINGSBANK · EUROPÄISCHE INVESTITIONSBANK · EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK · BANQUE EUROPÉENNE D'INVESTISSEMENT · BANCA EUROPEA PER GLI INVESTIMENTI · EUROPESE INVESTE-RINGSBANK

Direction de l'Administration générale Service de l'Information 2, place de Metz, Luxembourg Tél.: 435011

Publikationer udgivet af Kommissionens presse- og informationskontorer kan fås ved henvendelse til de pägældende kontorer, hvis adresser gengives nedenfor ·Veröffentlichungen der Presse- und Informationsbüros der Kommission sind bei den jeweiligen Büros erhältlich, deren Anschriften im folgenden aufgeführt sind · For publications issued by the Information Offices of the Commission, requests can be made to the competent offices listed hereafter · Pour les publications des bureaux de presse et d'information de la Commission, il convient de s'adresser aux bureaux compétents dont la liste est reprise ci-après · Per le pubblicazioni degli uffici stampa e informazione della Commissione è necessario rivolgersi agli uffici competenti, il cui elenco figura qui di seguito · Voor de publikaties van de voorlichtingsbureaus van de Commissie, wende men zich tot de bureaus waarvan de adressen hierna vermeld zijn:

BELGIQUE – BELGIË	ITALIA	United States
Rue de la Loi 200 - Wetstraat 200	Via Poli, 29	Washington
1049 Bruxelles - 1049 Brussel	00187 Roma	2100 M Street, NW
Tél.: 7350040	Tel. 689722	Suite 707
		Washington, DC 20037
		Tel. 872-8350
	GRAND-DUCHÉ DE LUXEMBOURG	14
DANMARK		New York
	Centre européen	277 Park Avenue
Gammel Torv 4	Luxembourg – Kirchberg	New York, NY 10017
Postboks 144	Tél. 47941	Tel. 371-3804
1004 København K	161, 47741	101.371-3004
Tel. 144140		
	NEDERLAND	AMERICA LATINA
	Lange Voorhout 29	Santiago de Chile
DEUTSCHLAND	Den Haag	Avda Ricardo Lyon 1177
	Tel. 469326	Santiago 9
53 Bonn	241. 103520	Adresse postale : Casilla 10093
Zitelmannstraße 22		Tel. 250555
Tel. 238041	United Kingdom	Tel. 25 05 55
k.	Office Minesom	Montevideo, Uruguay
1 Berlin 31	20 Kensington Palace Gardens	Calle Bartolome Mitré 1337
Kurfürstendamm 102	London W8 400	Montevideo
Tel. 8864028	Tel. 727 8090	Adresse postale: Casilla 641
	101.7270070	Tel. 984242
		1 61. 964242
EDANOF	TÜRKIYE	
FRANCE		NIPPON
61, rue des Belles-Feuilles	13, Bogaz Sokak	
75782 Paris Cedex 16	Kavaklidere	Kowa 25 Building
' Tél. 553 53 26	Ankara	8-7 Sanbancho
161. 333 33 20	Tel. 276145	Chiyoda-Ku
		Tokyo 102
		Tel. 2390441
IRELAND	SCHWEIZ - SUISSE - SVIZZERA	
29, Merrion Square	37-39, rue de Vermont	
Dublin 2	1202 Genève	
m 1 m/ (nee	T/1 - 100 - 0	

Tél. 349750

Tel. 766223

Indhold · Inhalt · Contents · Sommaire · Sommario · Inhold

Almindelig · Allgemeines · General · Généra tés · Generalità · Algemeen		Energi · Energie · Energy · Énergie · Energia · Energie · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	xii
Politiske og institutionelle aspekter · Politisc und institutionelle Aspekte · Political a Institutional Aspects · Aspects politiques institutionnels · Aspetti politici e istituziona	ind et	Landsbrugspolitik · Landwirtschaft · Agriculture · Politique agricole · Agricoltura · Landbouw	xiii
Politieke en institutionele aspecten	Vii	Regionalpolitik · Regionalpolitik · Regional Policy · Politique régionale · Politica regionale	
Fællesskabsret · Gemeinschaftsrecht · Comunity Law · Droit communautaire · Diri		· Regionale politiek	xiii
comunitario · Communautair recht		Udvikling og samarbejde · Entwicklung und Zusammenarbeit · Development and Coopera-	
Ydre forbindelser · Udenrigshandel · Auwärtige Beziehungen · Außenhandel · Extern Relations · Foreign Trade · Relations ext	nal	tion · Développement et coopération · Sviluppo e cooperazione · Ontwikkeling en samen- werking	xiv ຸ
rieures · Commerce extérieur · Relazio esterne · Commercio estéro · Buitenland betrekkingen · Buitenlandse handel	lse	Videnskab og teknologi · Wissenschaft und Technologie · Science and Technology ·	
Konkurrence og interne marked · Wettbewe und Binnenmarkt · Competition and Intern		Science et technologie · Scienza e tecnologia · Wetenschap en technologie	xvi
Market · Concurrence et marché intérieu Concorrenza e mercato interno · Concurren	tie	Miljø og livskvalitet · Umwelt und Lebens- qualität · Environment and Quality of Life ·	
en binnenlandse markt	×	Environnement et qualité de la vie · Ambiente e qualità della vita · Milieu en kwaliteit van het	
Økonomi, valuta og finanser · Wirtscha Währung und Finanzen · Economic, Moneta	•	leven	xvii '
and Financial Affairs Économie, monnaie finances Economia, moneta e finanze	et ·	Undervisning · Bildungswesen · Education · Éducation · Educazione · Opvoeding	xvii
Econ3mie, geldwezen en financiën		Statistik · Statistiken · Statistics · Statistiques ·	!!
Sociale spørgsmål · Soziale Angelegenheite Social Affairs · Affaires sociales · Affari socia	ıli•	Statistiche · Statistieken	xvii
Sociale zaken	xi	Diverse · Verschiedenes · Miscellaneous · Divers · Vari · Diversen	xviii
Industri · Industrie · Industry · Industrie	• ·		

xii

Anvendte forkortelser se fortegnelse 6-1975 Abkürzungen siehe Liste 6-1975 Conventional symbols see list 6-1975 Signes conventionnels voir liste 6-1975 Segni convenzionali vede elenco 6-1975 Gebruikte afkortingen zie lijst 6-1975

Generelt Ailgemeines General Généralités Generalità

JO/spec./2(1)

Algemeen

Den europæiske Udviklings- og Garantifond for Landbruget.

Tidende. Specialudgave. Anden serie. III. Juli 1975.

1975. 132 s. (DK.E)

FB 100,-

JO/spec./2(1)

Euratom.

Tidende. Specialudgave. Anden serie. V. Juli 1975. 1975. 16 s. (DK.E) FB 25.-

JO/spec./2(1)

Konkurrence (a) og (b).

Tidende. Specialudgave. Anden serie. VI. Juli 1975.

1975. 75 s. (DK.E) FB 50.-

* De Europæiske Fællesskabers Tidende

Serie L - Retsforskrifter

Serie C - Meddelelser og oplysninger (daglig)

* Amtsblatt der Europäischen Gemeinschaften

Reihe L - Rechtsvorschriften

Reihe C - Mitteilungen und Bekanntmachungen (täglich)

* Official Journal of the European Communities

L Series - Legislation

C Series - Information and Notices

(daily)

* Journal officiel des Communautés européennes

Série L - Législation

Série C - Communications et informations

(quotidien)

* Gazzetta ufficiale delle Comunità europee

Serie L - Legislazione Serie C - Comunicazioni ed informazioni

(quotidiano)

* Publikatieblad van de Europese Gemeenschappen

Serie L - Wetgeving

Serie C - Mededelingen en bekendmakingen

(dagelijks)

(DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Arsabonnement · Jahresabonnement · Annual subscription · Abonnement annuel · Abbonamento annuale · Jaarabonnement: FB 2500,- Flux 2500,- Dkr 395,- DM 183,-£21,- FF 278,- Lit 31250,- FI 181,-.

EUROPA-PARLAMENTET · EUROPÄISCHES PARLAMENT · EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT · PARLEMENT EUROPÉEN · PARLAMENTO EUROPEO · EUROPEES PARLEMENT

* 6891(1)

Forhandlinger i Europa-Parlamentet. Sessionen 1975-1976. Fuldstændigt referat af møderne fra den 7. til den 11. juli 1975. Tidende. Bilag nr. 193. Juli 1975.

1975. 292 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 250,-

* 6891 (2)

Verhandlungen des Europäischen Parlaments. Sitzungsperiode 1975-1976. Ausführliche Sitzungsberichte vom 7. bis 11. Juli 1975.

Amtsblatt. Anhang Nr. 193. Juli 1975.

1975. 303 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 250,-

* 6891 (3)

Debates of the European Parliament. 1975-1976 Session.

Report of Proceedings from 7 to 11 July 1975.

Official Journal. Annex No. 193, July 1975.

1975. 286 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 250.-

* 6891 (4)

Débats du Parlement européen. Session 1975-1976. Compte rendu in extenso des séances du 7 au 11 juillet 1975.

Journal officiel. Annexe n° 193. Juillet 1975.

1975. 291 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 250,-

* 6891 (5)

Discussioni del Parlamento europeo. Sessione 1975-1976.

Resoconto integrale delle sedute dal 7 al 11 luglio 1975.

Gazzetta ufficiale. Allegato n. 193. Luglio 1975.

1975. 293 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 250,-

* 6891 (6)

Handelingen van het Europese Parlement. Zitting 1975-1976. Volledig verslag van de Vergaderingen van 7 tot en met 11 juli 1975.

Publikatieblad. Bijlage nr. 193. Juli 1975.

1975. 295 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 250,-

* Information (uregelmæssig)

Gratis Gratis

* Informationen (unregelmäßig) * Information (irregular)

Gratis

* Informations (irrégulier)

Gratuit

* Informazioni (irregolare)

Gratuito Gratis

* Informatiebulletin (onregelmatig) (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

6683 (2)

Statistische Grundzahlen der Gemeinschaft. Vergleich mit verschiedenen Europäischen Ländern, Kanada, den Vereinigten Staaten von Amerika, Japan und der Union der Sozialistischen Sowjetrepubliken. 1973-1974. Dreizehnte

(1975). 224 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 100,-

6683 (5)

Statistiche generali della Comunità. Confronto con alcuni paesi europei, il Canadà, gli Stati Uniti d'America, il Giappone e l'Unione delle Repubbliche Socialiste Sovietiche. 1973-1974. Tredicesima edizione.

(1975). 224 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 100,-

* Bulletin for De europæiske Fællesskaber

* Bulletin der Europäischen Gemeinschaften	(monatlich)
* Bulletin of the European Communities	(monthly)
* Bulletin des Communautés européennes	(mensuel)
* Bollettino delle Comunità európee	(mensile)
* Bulletin van de Europese Gemeenschappen	(maandelijks)
* Boletin de las Comunidades europeas	(mensual)
Abonnement annuel	FB 400,-
(DK.D.E.F.I.NL.S)	•

*	Information (uregelmæssig)	Gratis
*	Information (unregelmäßig)	Gratis
*	Information (irregular)	Gratis
*	Information (irrégulier)	Gratuit
*	Informazione (irregolare)	Gratuito
*	Ter informatie (onregelmatig)	Gratis
*	Δελτίον πληροφοριών (περιοδική εκδοσις)	Gratis
	OK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec)	
*	ef-information.	
	△ København (to gange om måneden)(DK)	Gratis
*	ef-synspunkt.	
	△ København (uregelmæssig)(DK)	Gratis
*	Europa.	
	△ København (månedlig)(DK)	3,- Kr.
*	Europäische Gemeinschaft.	

△ Bonn (monatlich) (D) Jahresabonnement: 9,- DM

Berichte und Informationen.

Gratis

△ Bonn (wöchentlich) (D)

* Die Europäischen Regionen.

 \triangle Bonn (monatlich) (D)

* European Community.

 \triangle London (monthly) (E)

* Background Note.

△ London (irregular) (E)

Gratis

* Community Report.

△ Dublin (monthly) (E) **Gratis**

* 30 jours d'Europe.

△ Paris (mensuel) (F) Abonnement annuel: 25,- FF

△ Paris (mensuel) (F) Abonnement annuel: 70,- FF * Comunità europee. △ Roma (mensile) (I) Gratuito * Europese Gemeenschap. △ Den Haag - Brussel (maandelijks) Gratis * Europa van morgen. △ Den Haag (wekelijks) (NL) **Gratis** * European Community. △ Washington (monthly) Gratis Background Information.

* Communauté européenne. Informations.

△ Washington (irregular) (E) Gratis * Comunidad europea (mensuel) (S) Gratuit * Documentos de la Comunidad europea Gratuit

(irrégulier) (S)

(månedlig)

Gratis

Gratis

* Εύρωπαϊκή Κοινότης (μηνιαία ἕκδοσις) (grec) Gratis

* Avrupa Topulugu (bimestriel) (turc) Gratuit

DET ØKONOMISKE OG SOCIALE UDVALG · WIRTSCHAFTS-UND SOZIALAUSSCHUSS · ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COM-MITTEE · COMITÉ ÉCONOMIQUE ET SOCIAL · COMITATO ECONOMICO E SOCIALE · ECONOMISCH EN SOCIAAL COMITÉ

CES/196/75 (1)

Udtalelser fra Det økonomiske og sociale Udvalg, Det europæiske økonomiske Fællesskab og Det europæiske Atomenergifællesskab. (januar - februar - april 1975). August 1975.

1975. 28 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

CES/196/75 (2)

Stellungnahmen des Wirtschafts- und Sozialausschusses der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft und der Europäischen Atomgemeinschaft. (Januar - Februar - April 1975). August 1975.

1975. 28 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

CES/196/75 (3)

Opinions delivered by the Economic and Social Committee of the European Economic Community and the European Atomic Energy Community. (January - February - April 1975). August 1975.

1975. 28 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

CES/196/75 (4)

Avis rendus par le Comité économique et social de la Communauté économique européenne et de la Communauté européenne de l'énergie atomique. (janvier - février - avril 1975). Août 1975.

1975. 28 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuit ,

CES/196/75 (5)

Pareri elaborati dal Comitato economico e sociale della Comunità economica europea e della Comunità europea dell'energia atomica. (gennaio - febbraio - aprile 1975). Agosto 1975.

1975. 28 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuito

CES/196/75 (6)

Door het Economisch en Sociaal Comité van de Europese Economische Gemeenschappen en van de Europese Gemeenschap voor Atoomenergie uitgebrachte adviezen. (januari februari - april 1975). Augustus 1975.

1975, 28 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

* Bulletin (månedlig) Gratis * Bulletin (monatlich) Gratis

* Bulletin (monthly) Gratis

* Bulletin (mensuel) Gratuit

* Bollettino (mensile) Gratuito

* Bulletin (maandelijks) Gratis

(DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

* Informationsnote (månedlig) Gratis

* Informationsvermerk (monatlich) Gratis * Information Memorandum (monthly) Gratis

* Note d'information (mensuel) Gratuit

* Nota informativa (mensile) Gratuito

* Informatieve nota (maandelijks) Gratis

(DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Politiske og institutionelle aspekter Politische und institutionelle Aspekte **Political and Institutional Aspects**

Aspects politiques et institutionnels

Aspetti politici e Istituzionali

Politieke en institutionele aspecten

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

4001/S/75/7(1)

Mod borgernes Europa. Pasunion. Indrømmelse af særlige rettigheder.

EF-Bull., Supplement 7/75. 1975. 33 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

4001/S/75/7 (2)

Europa für die Bürger. Paßunion. Zuerkennung besonderer Rechte.

Bull. EG, Beilage 7/75.

, 1975. 33 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 50,-

FB 50,-

4001/S/75/7 (3)

Towards European citizenship. A Passport Union. The granting of special rights.

Bull. EC, Supplement 7/75.

1975. 32 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 50.-

4001/S/75/7 (4)

Vers l'Europe des citoyens. Union des passeports. Attribution de droits spéciaux.

Bull. CE, Supplément 7/75.

1975. 33 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 50,-

4001/S/75/7 (5)

Verso l'Europa dei cittadini. Unioni dei passaporti. Attribuzione di diritti speciali.

Boll. CE, Supplemento 7/75.

1975. 33 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 50,-

4001/S/75/7 (6)

Naar een Europees burgerschap. Paspoortunie. Toekenning van speciale rechten.

Bull. EG, Supplement 7/75.

1975. 33 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 50,-

6853

Juristische Veröffentlichungen über die europäische Integration. Nachtragslieferung

Publications juridiques concernant l'intégration européenne. Supplément

Opere e scritti giuridici sull'integrazione europea. Supplemento

Juridische publikaties betreffende de Europese integratie. Supplement.

N° 5. Décembre 1974.

(1975). 503 p. (D/F/I/NL)

Gratuit

U/75/22 (3)

The Development of Summit Meetings.

European Studies: Teachers' Series. No 75/22.

1975. 3 p. (E)

DET ØKONOMISKE OG SOCIALE UDVALG · WIRTSCHAFTS-UND SOZIALAUSSCHUSS · ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COM-MITTEE · COMITÉ ÉCONOMIQUE ET SOCIAL · COMITATO ECONOMICO E SOCIALE · ECONOMISCH EN SOCIAAL COMITE

Den europæiske Union. Udtalelse. Juli 1975.

1975. 33 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Gratis

6937 (2)

Europäische Union. Stellungnahme. Juli 1975.

1975. 38 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

6937 (3)

European Union. Opinion. July 1975.

1975. 33 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

6937 (4)

Union européenne. Avis. Juillet 1975. 1975. 33 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuit

6937 (5)

Unione europea. Parere. Luglio 1975.

1975. 33 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuito

6937 (6)

Europese Unie. Advies. Juli 1975.

1975. 35 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

Fællesskabsret Gemeinschaftsrecht **Community Law Droit communautaire** Diritto comunitario Communautair recht

RÅDET · RAT · COUNCIL · CONSEIL · CONSIGLIO · RAAD

* Fortegnelse over de bestemmelser, der fastsættes administrativt eller ved lov i Fællesskabernes medlemsstater til gennemførelse af Fællesskabernes retsakter

Verzeichnis der in den Mitgliedstaaten der Gemeinschaften

in Durchführung der Rechtsakte der Gemeinschaften erlassenen Rechtsvorschriften

List of Laws and Regulations Adopted in the Member States of the Communities in Application of Acts Adopted by the Communities

Répertoire des dispositions législatives et réglementaires arrêtées dans les États membres des Communautés en application des actes arrêtés par les Communautés

Repertorio delle disposizioni legislative e regolamentari adottate negli Stati membri delle Comunità europee in applicazione degli atti adottati dalle Comunità

Overzicht van de in de Lid-Staten der Europese Gemeenschappen, in uitvoering van de besluiten der Gemeenschappen, vastgestelde wettelijke en bestuursrechtelijke

(bimensuel) (Mult.)

bepalingen.

Diffusion restreinte

* Répertoire de dispositions adoptées par le gouvernement hellénique (trimestriel) (F) Diffusion restreinte

* Répertoire de dispositions adoptées par le gouvernement Diffusion restreinte (trimestriel) (F) * Répertoire de dispositions adoptées par le gouvernement du royaume du Maroc Diffusion restreinte (trimestriel) (F) * Répertoire de dispositions adoptées par le gouvernement

de la République tunisienne

(trimestriel) (F) Diffusion restreinte

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

* Nationale afgørelser vedrørende fællesskabsretten. Ufuldstændig fortegnelse over offentliggjorte afgørelser Einzelstaatliche Entscheidungen über Gemeinschaftsrecht. Unvollständiges Fundstellenverzeichnis veröffentlichter Entscheidungen National Decisions concerning Community Law. Selective List of References to published Cases Décisions nationales relatives au droit communautaire. Liste sélective de références aux décisions publiées Decisioni nazionali riguardanti il diritto comunitario. Elenco indicativo di riferimenti alle decisioni pubblicate Nationale beslissingen ten aanzien van Gemeenschapsrecht. Niet volledige lijst van referenties betreffende gepubliceerde beslissingen. (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Gratuit

* Information om De europæiske Fællesskabers Domstol (uregelmæssig)

* Mitteilungen über den Gerichtshof der Europäischen Gemeinschaften

(unregelmäßig) Gratis * Information on the Court of Justice of the European Communities

(irregular) * Informations sur la Cour de justice des Communautés européennes

(irrégulier) Gratuit * Informazioni sulla Corte di giustizia delle Comunità europee

(irregolare) Gratuito 1 Informatie betreffende het Hof van Justitie van de

Europese Gemeenschappen (onregelmatig)

(DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

DOMSTOLEN · GERICHTSHOF · COURT OF JUSTICE · COUR DE JUSTICE · CORTE DI GIUSTIZIA · HOF VAN JUSTITIE

6430 (3)

Reports of Cases before the Court. 1967. (1975). 482 p, (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 1350.- ,

			speciale	
	6783/2 (1)		Buitenlandse handel. Maandstatistiek. 1958-1974.	Speciaal
	Samling af Domstolens Afgørelser. 1975-2.		nummer.	
ļ	1975. s. 117-317 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)	Vol. 1975	(1975). 49 p. (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)	FB 150,-
1	Årsabonnement	FB 1350	(15,10), 15 Et (= 11 = 12 12 12 12 12 12 12	,
ĺ			6832	
١	6783/2 (2)		ACP: Yearbook of Foreign Trade Statistics	
	Sammlung der Rechtsprechung des Gerichtshoj		- Statistical Abstract: 1968-1973. Text and Tab	les Com-
	1975. S. 117-317 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)	Vol. 1975	pleted in March 1975	ACS COM
	Jahresabonnement	FB 1350,-	ACP: Annuaire des statistiques du commerce extéri	iour
	6793 (2 / 2)		- Synthèse: 1968-1973. Manuscrit terminé en mai	
	6783/2 (3)		1975. 95 p. (E/F)	FB 200
	Reports of Cases before the Court. 1975-2.	Vol. 1975	17/3.73 p. (L/1)	1 D 200,
	1975. p. 117-317 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)		* INF/91/75(2)	
	Annual Subscription	FB 1350,-	Die Europäische Gemeinschaft und die osteure	onäischan
	6783/2 (4)		Länder.	риыспеп
	Recueil de la Jurisprudence de la Cour. 1975-2.		Information. 1975. Nr. 91. Auswärtige Beziehunge	·n
	1975. p. 117-318 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)	Vol. 1975	1975. 14 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratis
	Abonnement annuel	FB 1350,-	1773. 14 0. (D.L.1 .1.14L)	Gians
	t	•	* INF/91/75 (3)	
ļ	6783/2 (5)	_	The European Community and East European (Countries.
	Raccolta della Giurisprudenza della Corte. 1975-2		Information. 1975. No 91. External relations.	JOHN TEST
	1975. p. 117-316 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)	Vol. 1975	1975. 13 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratis
	Abbonnamento annuale	FB 1350,-	17751 15 pt (23211 111112)	Orano
	6783/2 (6)		* INF/91/75 (5)	
	Jurisprudentie van het Hof van Justitie. 1975-2.		La Comunità europea e i paesi dell' Est.	
	1975. blz. 117-317 (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)	Vol. 1975	Informazioni. 1975. N. 91. Relazioni esterne.	
	Jaarabonnement	FB 1350,-	1975. 13 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratuito
			• •	
			* INF/91/75 (6)	
ı			De Europese Gemeenschap en de landen van Oos	t-Europa.
			Ter informatie. 1975. Nr. 91. Buitenlandse betrekk	ingen.
	Forbindelser med tredjelande -	Uden-	1975. 13 blz. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratis
	rigshandel			
	•		* INF/105/75 (3)	
	Auswärtige Beziehungen – Außenh	andei	Greece and the European Community.	
	External Relations — Foreign Trade		Information. 1975. No 105. External relations.	
	Relations extérieures — Commerce		1975. 8 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratis
	extérieur		+ T2773405185 (A)	
			* INF/105/75 (4)	
	Relazioni esterne — Commercio est	ero	La Grèce et la Communauté européenne.	
	Buitenlandse betrekkingen - Buiter	nlandse	Information. 1975. N° 105. Relations extérieures.	
			1975. 8 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)	Gratuit

FB 1350,-

6431(3)

handel

, 6757/S

, number

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION - COMMISSIONE - COMMISSIE

Udenrigshandel. Månedsstatistik. 1958-1974. Specialhæfte Außenhandel. Monatsstatistik. 1958-1974. Sonderheft

Foreign Trade. Monthly statistics. 1958-1974. Special

Reports of Cases before the Court. 1968.

(1975). 502 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

* Udenrigshandel. Månedsstatistik Auβenhandel. Monatsstatistik Foreign Trade. Monthly Statistics

The People's Republic of China and the European Com-

Information. 1975. No 106. External Relations.

1975. 11 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

INF/106/75 (3)

Commerce extérieur. Statistique mensuelle. 1958-1974.

Commercio estero. Statistica mensile. 1958-1974. Numero

Numéro spécial

Commerce extérieur. Statistique mensuelle
Commercio estero. Statistica mensile
Buitenlandse handel. Maandstatistiek.
(månedlig / monatlich / monthly / mensuel / mensile / maandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)
Abonnement annuel
FB 1350,-

* Ostblock/Bloc oriental.

(6 hæfter pr. år/6 Hefte jährlich/6 Issues Yearly/6 numéros par an/6 fascicoli all'anno/6 nummers per jaar)

(DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

Gratuit

Konkurrence og det interne marked Wettbewerb und Binnenmarkt Competition and Internal Market Concurrence et marché intérieur Concorrenza e mercato interno Concurrentie en binnenlandse markt

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

4001/S/75/4 (2)

Statut für Europäische Aktiengesellschaften. Geänderter Verordnungsvorschlag. (Vorschlag einer Verordnung des Rates über das Statut für Europäische Aktiengesellschaften. Von der Kommission gemäß Artikel 149 Absatz 2 des EWG-Vertrags dem Rat vorgelegter geänderter Vorschlag). Bull. EG, Beilage 4/75.

1975. 200 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 225,-

4001/S/75/4 (6)

Statuut voor Europese naamloze vennootschappen. Gewijzigd voorstel voor een verordening. (Voorstel voor een verordening van de Raad betreffende het Statuut voor Europese naamloze vennootschappen. Gewijzigd voorstel door de Commissie bij de Raad ingediend op 13 mei 1975 krachtens artikel 149, alinea 2, van het EEG-Verdrag).

Bull. EG, Supplement 4/75.

1975. 206 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 225,-

6912 (4)

Étude sur l'évolution de la concentration dans l'industrie alimentaire en France. Mars 1975.

1975. 238 p. (F)

FB 225,-

9 INF/104/75 (5)

La politica di concorrenza nella Comunità. Informazioni. 1975. N. 104. Concorrenza. 1975. 13 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuito

Økonomiske, monetære og finansielle spørgsmål

Wirtschaft, Währung und Finanzen Economic, Monetary and Financial Affairs Économie, monnaie et finances Economia, moneta e finanze Economie, geldwezen en financiën

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

8453 (3)

Inventory of taxes levied by the State and the local authorities (Länder, départements, régions, districts, provinces, communes) in the Member States of the European Communities.

Edition 1974 (Situation 1.4.1974). (1975). 679 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 1000.-

- * Den økonomiske situation i Fællesskabet (kvartalsvis)
- * Die Wirtschaftslage der Gemeinschaft (vierteljährlich)
- * The Economic Situation in the Community (quarterly)
- * La situation économique de la Communauté (trimestriel)
- * La situazione economica della Comunità (trimestrale)
- * De economische toestand van de Gemeenschap (driemaandelijks) (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 250,-
- * Schaubilder und Kurzkommentare zur Konjunktur in der Gemeinschaft| Grafieken met aantekeningen over de conjunctuur in de Gemeenschap.

(D/NL) (monatlich/maandelijks)

* Diagrammer og kommentarer til den økonomiske situation i Fællesskabet Graphs and Notes on the Economic Situation in the

Community/
(DK/E) (månedlig/monthly)

* Graphiques et notes rapides sur la conjoncture dans la Communauté

Grafici e note rapide sulla congiuntura nella Comunità. (F/I) (mensuel/mensile) FB 60,-

- * Beretning om resultaterne af konjunkturundersøgelsen hos virksomhedsledere i Fællesskabet (tre gange årligt)
- * Bericht über die Ergebnisse der Konjunkturbefragung bei den Unternehmen in der Gemeinschaft (3 Heste jährlich)
- * Report of the Results of the Business Surveys carried out among Heads of Enterprises in the Community (3 issues a year)

- * Rapport sur les résultats des enquêtes de conjoncture auprès des chefs d'entreprise de la Communauté (3 numéros par an)
- * Rapporto sui risultati delle inchieste congiunturali effettuate presso gli imprenditori della Comunità (tre numeri all'anno)
- * Verslag over de resultaten van de conjunctuurenauêtes bij het bedrijfsleven in de Gemeenschap (driemaal per jaar) (D.E.F.I.NL) FB 100.-

DEN EUROPAEISKE INVESTERINGSBANK · EUROPÄISCHE INVESTITIONSBANK · EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK · BANQUE EUROPÉENNE D'INVESTISSEMENT BANCA EUROPEA PER GLI INVESTIMENTI · EUROPESE INVESTE-**RINGSBANK**

- * Information
- * Informationen
- * Information
- * Informations
- * Informazioni
- * Mededelingen

Sociale spørgsmål Soziale Angelegenheiten **Social Affairs** Affaires sociales Affari sociali Sociale zaken

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

6817

- Lønstruktur i industrien. 1972. Metodik og definitioner. Sociale statistikker. Specialserie Gehalts- und Lohnstruktur in der Industrie. 1972. Methodik und Definitionen. Sozialstatistik. Sonderreihe Structure of earnings in industry. 1972. Methods and definitions. Social statistics. Special series Structure des salaires dans l'industrie. 1972. Méthodes et définitions. Statistiques sociales. Série spéciale
- Struttura delle retribuzioni nell'industria. 1972. Metodi e definizioni. Statistiche sociali. Serie speciale Loonstructuur in de industrie. 1972. Methoden en definities.
- Sociale statistiek. Speciale serie. N° 1. (1975), 308 p. (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

FB 500,-

8466 (6)

Vergelijkende tabellen van de stelsels van sociale zekerheid van toepassing in de Lid-Staten van de Europese Gemeenschappen (1 juli 1974). Algemeen stelsel. 8e uitgave.

(1975). 123 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 165.-

* INF/98/75 (4)

Politique sociale européenne: Problèmes et perspectives. Information. 1975. Nº 98. Politique sociale. 1975. 11 p. (D.E.F.I.NL) Gratuit

* INF/98/75 (5)

Politica sociale europea: Problemi e prospettive. Informazioni. 1975. N. 98. Politica sociale.

1975. 11 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuito

* INF/98/75 (6)

Europese sociale politiek: Vraagstukken en vooruitzichten. Ter informatie. 1975. Nr. 98. Sociaal beleid. 1975. 12 blz. (D.E.F.I.NL) Gratis

* Erhvervsuddannelse - Informationsbulletin Berufsbildung - Informationsbulletin Vocational Training - Information Bulletin Formation professionnelle - Bulletin d'information Formazione professionale - Bollettino d'informazione Beroepsopleiding - Informatiebulletin (kvartalsvis · vierteljährlich · quarterly · trimestriel · trimestrale · driemaandelijks) (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 60,-

* Sociale statistikker Sozialstatistik Social Statistics Statistiques sociales Statistiche sociali

Sociale statistiek (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

Abonnement annuel FB 1500,-

* Fagforeningsinformation (to gange om måneden)

Gratis

* Gewerkschaftsinformationen (Zweimal im Monat)

* Trade Union Information

(Fortnightly)

Gratis

Gratis

* Informations syndicales (bimensuel)

Gratuit

* Vakbondsvoorlichting (halfmaandelijks)

(DK.D.E.F.NL)

Industri Industrie Industry Industrie Industria Industrie

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

6728/7

Råjern og stål. Basispriser og jern- og stålproducenter Roheisen und Stahlerzeugnisse. Grundpreise und Stahlunternehmen

Pig iron and steel. Basis prices and iron and steel undertakings

Fontes et aciers. Prix de base et entreprises sidérurgiques Ghise ed acciai. Prezzi base e imprese siderurgiche Ruwijzer en staalprodukten. Basisprijzen en ijzer- en staalondernemingen.

18e Année. N° 7 (Additif n° 6). 21.8.1975. 1975. pag. diff. (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

Abonnement annuel FB 1600.-

6912 (4)

Étude sur l'évolution de la concentration dans l'industrie alimentaire en France. Mars 1975. 1975. 238 p. (F) FB 225,-

* Jern og stål. To-månedlig statistik Eisen und Stahl. Zweimonatliche Veröffentlichung Iron and Steel. Bimonthly Sidérurgie. Publication bimestrielle Siderurgia. Pubblicazione bimestrale IJzer en staal. Tweemaandelijkse uitgave (to-månedlig · zweimonatlich · bimonthly · bimestriel · bimestrale · tweemaandelijks) (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Abonnement annuel FB 1000,-

* Industristatistik. Kvartalsudgave Industriestatistik. Vierteljährliche Ausgabe Industrial Statistics. Quarterly Statistiques industrielles. Publication trimestrielle Statistiche dell'industria. Pubblicazione trimestrale Industriestatistiek. Driemaandelijkse uitgave (kvartalsvis · vierteljährlich · quarterly · trimestriel · trimestrale · driemaandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Abonnement annuel FB 600,- Energi Energie **Energy** Énergie Energia **Energie**

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

DOC.EUR/75/2 (2)

Die Europäische Gemeinschaft und die Energiefrage. Europäische Dokumentation. Nr. 75/2.

1975. 23 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/2 (3)

The European Community and the energy problem. European Documentation. No 75/2.

1975. 22 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/2 (4)

La Communauté européenne et le problème de l'énergie. Documentation européenne. N° 75/2. 1975. 23 p. (D.E.F.I.NL) FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/2 (5)

La Comunità europea e il problema dell'energia. Documentazione europea. N. 75/2. 1975. 23 p. (D.E.F.I.NL) FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/2 (6)

De Europese Gemeenschap en het energievraagstuk. Europese documentatie. Nr. 75/2. 1975. 23 blz. (D.E.F.I.NL) FB 20,-

* Energistatistik. Kvartalsbulletin Energiestatistik. Vierteljährliches Bulletin Energy Statistics. Quarterly Bulletin Statistiques de l'énergie. Bulletin trimestriel Statistiche dell'energia. Bollettino trimestrale Energiestatistiek. Driemaandelijks bulletin (kvartalsvis · vierteljährlich · quarterly · trimestriel · trimestrale · driemaandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Abonnement annuel FB 1400,-

Landbrugspolitik Landwirtschaft **Aariculture** Politique agricole **Agricoltura** Landbouw

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

X/231/75(2)

Die gemeinsame Agrarpolitik im Dienst von Verbraucher und Erzeuger in einer Zeit wirtschaftlichen Umbruchs. Mitteilungen zur gemeinsamen Agrarpolitik. Nr. 5. Juni 1975.

1975. 26 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)

X/438/75 (2)

Aktualisierung der kurz- und mittelkurzfristigen Vorausschätzungen für die Agrarmärkte. Anlage zum "Bericht 1974 über die Lage der Landwirtschaft in der Gemeinschaft". Mitteilungen zur gemeinsamen Agrarpolitik. Nr. 6. Juli 1975. 1975. 23 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)

X/438/75 (3)

Short and medium term outlook in the main agricultural markets. Updating of the "1974 Report on the state of agriculture in the European Community".

Newsletter on the Common Agricultural Policy. No 6. July 1975.

1975. 21 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

X/438/75 (4)

Actualisation des perspectives à court et à moyen-court terme des marchés agricoles. Supplément au « Rapport 1974 sur la » situation de l'Agriculture dans la Communauté européenne ». N° 6. Juillet 1975.

1975. 23 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuit

X/438/75 (5)

Attualizzazione delle previsioni a breve a medio termine concernenti i mercati agricoli. Supplemento alla «Relazione 1974 sulla situazione dell'Agricoltura nella Comunità europea».

Notizie sulla politica agricola comune. N. 6. Luglio 1975.

1975. 24 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

X/438/75 (6)

- Bijwerking van de vooruitzichten op korte en middelkorte termijn voor de landbouwmarkten. Supplement op het "Verslag over de Landbouw in de Gemeenschap 1974". Landbouwbulletin. Nr. 6. Juli 1975.
- 1975. 23 blz. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

- * Landbrugsmarkeder. Serie Priser: Vegetabilske produkter Agrarmärkte. Serie Preise: Pflanzliche Produkte Agricultural Markets. Series Prices: Vegetable Products Marchés agricoles. Série Prix: Produits végétaux Mercati agricoli. Serie Prezzi: Prodotti vegetali Landbouwmarkten. Serie Prijzen: Plantaardige produkten (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)
- * Landbrugsmarkeder. Serie Priser: Animalske produkter Agrarmärkte. Serie Preise: Tierische Produkte Agricultural Markets. Series Prices: Livestock Products Marchés agricoles. Série Prix: Produits animaux Mercati agricoli, Serie Prezzi: Prodotti animali Landbouwmarkten. Serie Prijzen: Dierlijke produkten (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)
- * Landbrugsstatistik Agrarstatistik **Agricultural Statistics** Statistique agricole Statistica agraria Landbouwstatistiek (6-8 hæfter pr. år · 6-8 Hefte jährlich · 6-8 Issues Yearly · 6-8

numéros par an · 6-8 fascicoli all'anno · 6-8 nummers per jaar) (D/F)

Abonnement annuel

FB 1500,-

Regionalpolitik Regionalpolitik Regional Policy Politique régionale Politica regionale Regionale politiek

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

* INF/101/75 (4)

Le Fonds européen de développement régional. Information. 1975. N° 101. Politique régionale. 1975. 4 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratuit

Udvikling og samarbejde Entwicklung und Zusammenarbeit Development and Cooperation Développement et coopération Sviluppo e cooperazione Ontwikkeling en samenwerking

RÅDET · RAT · COUNCIL · CONSEIL · CONSIGLIO · RAAD

CEE/GR/INT(1)

Interimsaftale mellem Det europæiske økonomiske Fællesskab og Grækenland som følge af nye medlemsstaters tiltrædelse af Fællesskabet. Tillægsprotokol til aftalen om en associering mellem Det europæisk økonomiske Fællesskab og Grækenland. Undertegnet i Bruxelles, den 28. april 1975. 1975. pag. diff. (Mult. DK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec)

Begrænset oplag

CEE/GR/INT (4)

Accord intérimaire entre la Communauté économique européenne et la Grèce en raison de l'adhésion de nouveaux États membres à la Communauté. Protocole additionnel à l'accord créant une association entre la Communauté économique européenne et la Grèce. Signés à Bruxelles le 28 avril 1975.

1975, pag. diff. (Mult. DK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec)

Diffusion restreinte

CEE/GR/INT (5)

Accordo interinale tra la Comunità economica europea e la Grecia a seguito dell'adesione di nuovi Stati membri alla Comunità. Protocollo addizionale all'accordo che crea un'associazione tra la Comunità economica europea e la Grecia. Firmati a Bruxelles il 28 aprile 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (Mult. DK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec)

Distribuzione limitata

CEE/GR/INT (6)

Interimovereenkomst tussen de Europese Economische Gemeenschap en Griekenland in verband met de toetreding van nieuwe Lid-Staten tot de Gemeenschap. Aanvullend protocol bij de overeenkomst waarbij een associatie tot stand wordt gebracht tussen de Europese Economische Gemeenschap en Griekenland. Ondertekend te Brussel op 28 april 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (Mult. DK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec)

Beperkte verspreiding

CEE/GR/INT (grec)

Προσωρινή Συμφωνία μεταξύ τῆσ Έλλάδος καί τῆς Έυρωπαϊκῆς Οίκονομικῆς Κοινότητος συνεπεία τῆς προσχωρῆσεωσ νέων Κρατῶν Μελῶν εἰς τήν Κοινότηρα. Πρόσθετον πρωτόκολλον εἰς τῆν συμφῶνιαν τήν

συνιστῶσαν συνδεσιν μεταξύ τῆς Ἐλλάδος καί τῆς Εύρωπαϊκῆς Οίκονομικῆς Κοινότητος συνεπεία τῆς προσχωρήσεως νέων Κρατῶν Μελῶν είς τήν Κοινότητα. Ύπογραέν ἐν Βρυξέλλαις τῆ 28η ᾿Απριλίου 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (Mult. DK.D.E.F.I.NL.grec).

Diffusion restreinte

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (1)

Associering mellem Det europæiske økonomiske Fællesskab og Den forenede republik Tanzania, republikken Uganda og republikken Kenya.

Tekstsamlinger. III. 1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Begrænset oplag

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (2)

Assoziation zwischen der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft und der Vereinigten Republik Tansania, der Republik Uganda und der Republik Kenia.

Textsammlungen. III -1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Beschränkt verfügbar

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (3)

Association between the European Economic Community and the United Republic of Tanzania, the Republic of Uganda and the Republic of Kenya.

Compilations of Texts. III -1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Restricted distribution

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (4)

Association entre la Communauté économique européenne et la république unie de Tanzanie, la république de l'Ouganda et la république du Kenya.

Recueils de textes. III - 1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Diffusion restreinte

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (5)

Associazione tra la Comunità economica europea e la Repubblica Unita di Tanzania, la Repubblica dell'Uganda e la Repubblica del Kenya.

Raccolte di testi. III - 1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Distribuzione limitata

ASS/CEE-TANZ-OUG-KEN (6)

Associatie tussen de Europese Economische Gemeenschap en de Verenigde Republiek Tanzania, de Republiek Oeganda en de Republiek Kenya.

Verzamelingen van teksten. III -1.7.1972-31.7.1975.

1975. 16 biz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Beperkte verspreiding

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD(1)

Associering mellem Det europæiske økonomiske Fællesskab og de med dette Fællesskab associerede afrikanske Stater og Madagaskar (Konvention af 1969).

Tekstsamlinger. IV - 1.1.1973-31.7.1975.

1975. 37 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Begrænset oplag

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD (2)

Assoziation zwischen der Europäischen Wirtschaftsgemeinschaft und den mit dieser Gemeinschaft assozilerten Afrikanischen Staaten und Madagaskar (Abkommen von 1969). Textsammlungen. IV = 1.1.1973-31.7.1975.

1975. 37 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Beschränkt verfügbar

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD (3)

Association between the European Economic Community and the African and Malagasy States Associated with that Community (1969 Convention).

Compilations of Texts. IV = 1.1.1973-31.7.1975.

1975. 37 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Restricted distribution

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD (4)

Association entre la Communauté économique européenne et les États africains et malgache associés à cette Communauté (Convention 1969).

Recueils de textes. IV - 1.1.1973-31.7.1975.

1975. 37 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Diffusion restreinte

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD (5)

Associazione tra la Comunità economica europea e gli Stati Africani e Malgascio associati a tale Comunità (Convenzione del 1969).

Raccolte di testi. IV - 1.1.1973-31.7.1975.

1975. 37 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Distribuzione limitata

ASS/CEE-AFR.MAD (6)

Associatie tussen de Europese Economische Gemeenschap en de met deze Gemeenschap geassocieerde Afrikaanse Staten en Madagaskar (Overeenkomst van 1969).

Verzamelingen van teksten. IV -1.1,1973-31,7.1975.

1975. 37 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Beperkte verspreiding

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

4001/S/75/6(1)

Udvikling og råstoffer - Aktuelle problemer.

EF-Bull., Supplement 6/75.

1975. 56 s. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75.-

4001/S/75/6(2)

Entwicklung und Rohstoffe - Aktuelle Probleme.

Bull. EG, Beilage 6/75.

1975. 59 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75,-

4001/S/75/6 (3)

Development and raw materials - Problems of the moment. Bull. EC, Supplement 6/75.

1975. 56 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75.-

4001/S/75/6 (4)

Développement et matières premières - Problèmes actuels. Bull. CE, Supplément 6/75.

⁴ 1975. 58 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75,-

4001/S/75/6 (5)

Sviluppo e materie prime - Problemi attuali.

Boll. CE, Supplemento 6/75.

1975. 57 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75,-

4001/S/75/6 (6)

Öntwikkeling en grondstoffen – Actuele vraagstukken.

Bull. EG, Supplement 6/75.

1975, 59 blz. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 75,-

DOC.EUR/75/1 (2)

Die Europäische Gemeinschaft und die Entwicklungsländer. Europäische Dokumentation. Nr. 75/1.

1975. 18 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20,-

DOC.EUR/75/1 (3)

The European Community and the Developing Countries. European Documentation. No 75/1.

1975. 18 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/1 (4)

La Communauté européenne et les pays en voie de dévelop-

Documentation européenne. N° 75/1.

1975. 18 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/1 (5)

La Comunità europea e i paesi in via di sviluppo.

Documentazione europea. N. 75/1.

1975. 18 p. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20.-

DOC.EUR/75/1 (6)

De Europese Gemeenschap en de ontwikkelingslanden.

Europese documentatie. Nr. 75/1.

1975. 18 blz. (D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 20,-

* Situation semestrielle des projets du 2e FED (Fonds européen de développement) en exécution (semestriel) (F)

Gratuit

* Situation semestrielle des projets du 3e FED (Fonds européen de développement) en exécution (semestriel) (F) Gratuit

* The Courier. European Community - Africa-Caribbean-**Pacific**

(bi-monthly) (E.F)

Gratis

* Le Courrier. Communauté européenne - Afrique-Caraïbes-Pacifique Gratuit

(bimestriel) (E.F)

Videnskab og teknologi Wissenschaft und Technologie Science and Technology Science et technologie Scienza e tecnologia Wetenschap en technologie

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

* INF/102/75 (2)

Europa + 30.

Information. 1975. Nr. 102. Forschung. 1975. 3 S. (D.E.F.I.NL)

Gratis

EUR 4832 (4)

La formation postgraduée des scientifiques dans la Communauté européenne. Par N. Rouche avec la collaboration de E. Goethals. 1972.

(1975). 172 p. (F)

FB 225,-

1671/74 (3)

Ergonomics in Personnel Planning. (Reference Period: 2.11.1971-31.3.1974).

Technical report No 17. Community ergonomic reserach. (1975). pag. diff. (E)

Gratis

6866 (2)

Walzwerke. Automatisierung von Warmwalz-Umkehrstraßen. Teil A: der Walzprozeß an Universal-Brammenstraßen. Abschlußbericht.

Forschungshefte "Stahl". EUR 5193 (1. Teil).

1975. 251 S. (D.F)

FB 700,-

6866 (4)

Laminoirs. Automatisation des laminoirs réversibles à chaud. Partie A: processus de laminage sur slabbings universels. Rapport final.

Recherche technique « Acier ». EUR 5193 (1er vol.).

1975. 287 p. (D.F)

FB 650,-

6866 (2)

Walzwerke. Automatisierung von Warmwalz-Umkehrstraßen. Teil B: Prozeßrechnereinsatz an einer Universal-Brammenstraße. Abschlußbericht.

Forschungshefte "Stahl". EUR 5193 (2. Teil).

1975. 234 S. (D.F)

FB 580,-

6866 (4)

Laminoirs. Automatisation des laminoirs réversibles à chaud. Partie B: emploi d'un calculateur de processing sur slabbing universel. Rapport final.

Recherche technique « Acier ». EUR 5193 (2e vol.).

1975. 259 p. (D.F)

FB 650,-

6866 (2)

Walzwerke. Automatisierung von Warmwalz-Umkehrstraßen. Teil C: Realisierung des Verlustoptimalen Walzens. Abschlußbericht.

Forschungshefte "Stahl". EUR 5193 (3. Teil).

1975. 97 S. (D.F)

FB 260,-

6866 (4)

Laminoirs. Automatisation des laminoirs réversibles à chaud. Partie C: laminage avec optimisation des pertes. Rapport final.

Recherche technique « Acier ». EUR 5193 (3e vol.).

1975. 97 p. (D.F)

FB 260,-

6896 (4

Propriétés d'emplois des aciers. Étude par la mécanique de la rupture de la ténacité d'aciers fournis en forte épaisseur. Rapport final.

Recueil de recherches « Acier ». EUR 5311.

1975. 73 p. (F)

FB 200,-

6903 (3)

Used properties of steel. The toughness of mild steel as influenced by cold forming, welding or welding followed by corrosion fatigue. Final Report.

Steel research reports. EUR 5325.

1975. 61 p. (E)

FB 130.-

6905 (4)

Propriétés d'emploi des aciers. Mesures du COD dans les assemblages soudés. Rapport final.

Recueil de recherches « Acier ». EUR 5327.

1975.54 p. (F)

FB 120,-

6925 (3)

Used properties of steel. Fatigue investigation of higher strength structural steels in notched and in welded condition. Final Report.

Steel research reports. EUR 5357.

1975. 194 p. (E)

FB 370.-

6956 (4)

Préparation d'américium métallique de grande pureté et détermination de la chaleur de formation de l'ion trivalent hydraté d'américium. Par J.C. Spirlet.

Sciences et technologie nucléaires. EUR 5412.

1975. 127 p. (F)

FB 250,-

* Transatom Bulletin

(monatlich · monthly · mensuel · mensile · maandelijks) — Mult.

Abonnement annuel

FF 150,- ,

* Strahlenschutz-Referateblatt

Descriptive Bulletin on Radiological Protection Bulletin signalétique en radioprotection Bollettino segnaletico radio-protezione Beschriivend Bulletin radioactiviteitsbescherming (monatlich · monthly · mensuel · mensile · maandelijks) (Mult.) Gratuit

* Euro-abstracts - Section I. Euratom and EEC Research (mensuel) (Mult.)

Abonnement annuel

FB 1025.-

* Euro-abstracts - Section II. Coal and Steel (mensuel) (D/E/F)

Abonnement annuel

Gratuit

Miljø og livskvalitet Umwelt und Lebensqualität **Environment and Quality of Life** Environnement et qualité de la vie Ambiente e qualità della vita Milieu en kwaliteit van het leven

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

U/75/22 (3)

Consumers in the Common Market. European Studies: Teachers' Series. No 75/22. 1975.4 p. (E)

Gratis

Gratis

- Industri og samfund (ugentlig)
- * Industrie und Gesellschaft (wöchentlich) Gratis Gratis
- * Industry and Society (weekly)
- Industrie et société (hebdomadaire) Gratuit
- * Industria e società (settimanale)
- Gratuito
- * Industrie en samenleving (wekelijks)

Gratis

(DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Undervisning Bildungswesen **Education** Éducation **Educazione** Opvoeding

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

· U/75/22 (3)

Education of migrant workers' children in the European Community.

European Studies: Teachers' Series. No 75/22.

(1975. 4 p. (E)

Gratis

Statistik Statistiken **Statistics Statistiques** Statistiche Statistieken

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

6683 (2)

Statistische Grundzahlen der Gemeinschaft. Vergleich mit verschiedenen Europäischen Ländern, Kanada, den Vereinigten Staaten von Amerika, Japan und der Union der Sozialistischen Sowjetrepubliken. 1973-1974. Dreizehnte Auflage. (1975), 224 S. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) FB 100,-

6683 (5)

Statistiche generali della Comunità. Confronto con alcuni paesi europei, il Canadà, gli Stati Uniti d'America, il Giappone e l'Unione delle Repubbliche Socialiste Sovietiche. 1973-1974. Tredicesima edizione.

(1975). 224 p. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

FB 100,-

Lønstruktur i industrien. 1972. Metodik og definitioner. Sociale statistikker. Specialserie

Gehalts- und Lohnstruktur in der Industrie. 1972. Methodik und Definitionen. Sozialstatistik. Sonderreihe

Structure of earnings in industry, 1972. Methods and definitions. Social statistics. Special series

Structure des salaires dans l'industrie, 1972, Méthodes et définitions. Statistiques sociales. Série spéciale

Struttura delle retribuzioni nell'industria. 1972. Metodi e definizioni. Statistiche sociali. Serie speciale

Loonstructuur in de industrie. 1972. Methoden en definities. Sociale statistiek. Speciale serie.

(1975). 308 p. (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

FB 500,-

* Almen statistik. Månedsbulletin Allgemeine Statistik. Monatsbulletin General Statistics. Monthly Bulletin Statistiques générales. Bulletin mensuel Statistiche generali. Bollettino mensile Algemene statistiek, Maandbulletin (månedlig · monatlich · monthly · mensuel · mensile ·

maandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

Abonnement annuel

FB 1250,-

* Udenrigshandel. Månedsstatistik Außenhandel. Monatsstatistik Foreign Trade. Monthly Statistics

Commerce extérieur. Statistique mensuelle
Commercio estero. Statistica mensile
Buitenlandse handel. Maandstatistiek
(månedlig · monatlich · monthly · mensuel · mensile · maandelijks) (D/F)
Abonnement annuel
FB 1350.-

- * Sociale statistikker

 Sozial statistik

 Social Statistics

 Statistiques sociales

 Statistiche sociali

 Sociale statistiek
 (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)

 Abonnement annuel

 FB 1500,-
- * Jern og stål. To-månedlig statistik
 Eisen und Stahl. Zweimonatliche Veröffentlichung
 Iron and Steel. Bimonthly
 Sidérurgie. Publication bimestrielle
 Siderurgia. Pubblicazione bimestrale
 IJzer en staal. Tweemaandelijkse uitgave
 (to-månedlig · zweimonatlich · bimonthly · bimestriel · bimestrale · tweemaandelijks) (D/F/I/NL)
 Abonnement annuel
 FB 1000.-
- * Industristatistik. Kvartalsudgave
 Industriestatistik. Vierteljährliche Ausgabe
 Industrial Statistics. Quarterly
 Statistiques industrielles. Publication trimestrielle
 Statistiche dell'industria. Pubblicazione trimestrale
 Industriestatistiek. Driemaandelijkse uitgave
 (kvartalsvis · vierteljährlich · quarterly · trimestriel · trimestrale · driemaandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)
 Abonnement annuel
 FB 600.-
- * Energistatistik. Kvartalsbulletin
 Energiestatistik. Vierteljährliches Bulletin
 Energy Statistics. Quarterly Bulletin
 Statistiques de l'énergie. Bulletin trimestriel
 Statistiche dell'energia. Bollettino trimestrale
 Energiestatistiek. Driemaandelijks bulletin
 (kvartalsvis · vierteljährlich · quarterly · trimestriel · trimestrale · driemaandelijks) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL)
 Abonnement annuel
 FB 1400,-
- * Landbrugsmarkeder. Seriepriser: Vegetabilske produkter Agrarmärkte. Serie Preise: Pflanzliche Produkte Agricultural Markets. Series Prices: Vegetable Products Marchés agricoles. Série Prix: Produits végétaux Mercati agricoli. Serie Prezzi: Prodotti vegetali Landbouwmarkten. Serie Prijzen: Plantaardige produkten (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Gratuit

- * Landbrugsmarkeder. Seriepriser: Animalske produkter Agrarmärkte. Serie Preise: Tierische Produkte Agricultural Markets. Series Prices: Livestock Products Marchés agricoles. Série Prix: Produits animaux Mercati agricoli. Serie Prezzi: Prodotti animali Landbouwmarkten. Serie Prijzen: Dierlijke produkten (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig) (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Gratuit
- * Landbrugsstatistik
 Agrarstatistik
 Agricultural Statistics
 Statistique agricole
 Statistica agraria
 Landbouwstatistiek
 (6-8 hæfter pr. år · 6-8 Hefte jährlich · 6-8 Issues Yearly · 6-8 numéros par an · 6-8 fascicoli all'anno · 6-8 nummers per jaar) (D/F)
 Abonnement annuel
 FB 1500,-
- * Ostblock/Bloc oriental. (6 hæfter pr. år/6 Hefte jährlich/6 Issues Yearly/6 numéros par an/6 fascicoli all'anno/6 nummers per jaar). (DK/D/E/F/I/NL) Gratuit

Diverse Verschiedenes Miscellaneous Divers Vari Diversen

RADET · RAT · COUNCIL · CONSEIL · CONSIGLIO · RAAD

7134(1)

Orientering om Rådet for De europæiske Fællesskaber. Anden og tredje ajourføring: november 1974 og juni 1975. 1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL)

Begrænset oplag

7134(2)

Leitfaden des Rates der Europäischen Gemeinschaften.
3. Aktualisierung: Juni 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Beschränkt verfügbar

7134(3)

Guide to the Council of the European Communities. 3rd Revision: June 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Restricted distribution

7134 (4)

Guide du Conseil des Communautés européennes. 3° mise à jour : juin 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Diffusion restreinte

7134 (5)

Guida del Consiglio delle Comunità europee. 3° aggiornamento: guigno 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Distribuzione limitata

7134 (6)

Gids van de Raad der Europese Gemeenschappen. 3° bijwerking: juni 1975.

1975. pag. diff. (DK.D.E.F.I.NL) Beperkte verspreiding

KOMMISSIONEN · KOMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSION · COMMISSIONE · COMMISSIE

U/75/22 (3)

A study guide to British books on the Common Market. European Studies: Teachers' Series. No 75/22. 1975. 4 p. (E) Gratis

Dokumentationsbulletin
Bulletin on Documentation
Bulletin de renseignement documentaire
Bollettino di informazione documentaria
Documentatiebulletin
(ugentlig · wöchentlich · weekly · hebdomadaire · settimanale · wekelijks) (Mult.)
Gratuit

* Oplysningsblad om dokumentation

- * Tillæg · Sonderbeilage · Supplement · Supplément · Supplement · Supplement · A: Publications et articles sélectionnés
 (to gange om måneden · zweimal im Monat · fortnightly · bi-
- (to gange om måneden \cdot zweimal im Monat \cdot fortnightly \cdot bimensuel \cdot bimensile \cdot halfmaandelijks) Gratuit
- * Tillæg · Sonderbeilage · Supplement · Supplément · Supplement · Supplement · B: Bibliographies (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig)

 Gratuit
- * Tillæg · Sonderbeilage · Supplement · Supplément · Supplement · C: Cumulatif par matières (uregelmæssig · unregelmäßig · irregular · irrégulier · irregolare · onregelmatig)

 Gratuit
- * Fortegnelse over nyerhvervelser. Bibliotek

 Verzeichnis der Neuerwerbungen. Bibliothek

 List of Additions. Library

 Bulletin des acquisitions. Bibliothèque

 Bollettino delle acquisizioni. Biblioteca

 Lijst van aanwinsten. Bibliotheek

 (månedlig · monatlich · monthly · mensuel · mensile · maandelijks) (Mult.)

 Gratuit
- * Dokumente und Publikationen.

Europäische Gemeinschaften.

 \triangle Bonn (zweimal im Monat) (D) Gratis

* ef-dokumentation.

△ København (to gange om måneden) (DK) Gratis

* ef-kalender.

△ København (ugentlig) (DK) Gratis

* ef-guide.

△ København (uregelmæssig) (DK) Gratis

Salgs- og abonnementskontorer · Vertriebsbüros · Sales Offices Bureaux de vente · Uffici di vendita · Verkoopkantoren

Belgique - België	Ireland	United Kingdom
Moniteur beige — Beigisch Staatsblad	Stationery office	H.M. Stationery Office
Rue de Louvain 40-42 — Leuvenseweg 40-42 1000 Bruxelles — 1000 Brussel Tél. 512 00 26 CCP 000-2005502-27	Beggar's Bush Dublin 4 Tel. 688433	P.O. Box 569 London SE1 9NH Tel. (01) 928 6977, ext. 365
Postrekening 000-2005502-27	Italia	
Sous-dépôt — Agentschap :		United States of America
Librairie européenne — Europese Boekhandei	Libreria dello Stato	European Community Information
Rue de la Loi 244 — Wetstraat 244 1040 Bruxelles — 1040 Brussel	Piazza: G. Verdi 10 00198 Roma — Tel. (6) 8508 Telex 62008 CCP 1/2840	2100 M Street, N.W. Suite 707 Washington, D.C. 20037
Danmark	Agenzie:	Tel. 2965131
J. H. Schultz — Boghandel Møntergade 19	00187 Roma — Via XX Settembre (Palazzo Ministero del tesoro) 20121 Milano — Galleria	Schweiz - Suisse - Svizzera
1116 København K Tel. 141195	Vittorio Emanuele III Tel. 806406	Librairie Payot
Girokonto 1195		6, rue Grenus
		1211 Genève

Deutschland (BR)

Verlag Bundesanzeiger

5 Köln 1 - Breite Straße - Postfach

108006

Tel. (0221) 21 03 48 (Fernschreiber: Anzeiger Bonn

08882595)

Postscheckkonto 83400 Köln

France

Service de vente en France des publications des Communautés européennes

Journal officiel

26, rue Desaix 75732 Paris-Cedex 15

Tél. (1) 5786139 - CCP Paris 23-96

Nederland

Grand-Duché

de Luxembourg

5. rue du Commerce

BIL 8-109/6003/300

Staatsdrukkerij- en uitgeverijbedrijf

Office des publications officielles

des Communautés européennes

Boîte postale 1003 - Luxembourg

Tél. 490081 - CCP 191-90

Compte courant bancaire:

Christoffel Plantijnstraat, 's-Gravenhage Tel. (070) 81 45 11

Postgiro 425300

Tél. 318950 CCP 12-236 Genève

Sverige

Librairie C.E. Fritze

2, Fredsgaten Stockholm 16

Post Giro 193, Bank Giro 73/4015

España

Libreria Mundi-Prensa

Castelló 37 Madrid 1 Tel. 2754655

Andre lande · Andere Länder · Other countries · Autres pays · Aitri paesi · Andere landen

Kontoret for De europæiske Fællesskabers officielle Publikationer · Amt für amtliche Veröffentlichungen der Europäischen Gemeinschaften · Office for Official Publications of the European Communities - Office des publications officielles des Communautés européennes - Ufficio delle pubblicazioni ufficiali delle Comunità europee · Bureau voor officiële publikaties der Europese Gemeenschappen

Luxembourg

5, rue du Commerce

Boîte postále 1003

Tèl. 490081

CCP 191-90

Compte courant bancaire BIL 8-109/6003/300 +